JULY - SEPTEMBER 1968

tenth Year

european documentation

a survey

EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT

General directorate of parliamentary documentation and information

In addition to the official acts published in the Official Gazette of the European Communities, the activities of the European Communities are reported on in publications appearing at regular intervals.

Thus, the Commission of the European Communities publishes a Monthly Bulletin on the activities of the Communities while the European Parliament issues a periodical Information Bulletin on its own activities.

The Council of Ministers issues a press release after all its sessions. Its activities are also reported on in a special section of the Bulletin of the European Communities.

The Survey of European Documentation is intended to serve as a supplement to the above publications. It deals with salient features of the process of European integration taking place outside Community bodies.

CONTENTS

Part I

DEVELOPMENT OF EUROPEAN INTEGRATION

At the National Level

I.

		Page
GOVI	ERNMENTS AND PARLIAMENTS	1
Gern	any	1
1,	Statement by Chancellor Kiesinger on European policy: the completion of the European customs union and a European summit conference (1 July)	1
2.	Mr. Schiller, German Minister for Economic Affairs, puts the case for the economic union (1 July)	4
3.	Bonn visit of Mr. Medici, Italian Foreign Minister (1 August)	6
4.	European talks between German and Dutch ministers (18 September)	8
5.	Visit of the Luxembourg Foreign Minister (24 September)	9
6.	Foreign policy debate in the Bundestag (25 September)	10
7.	Government criticism of the financing system of the Community farming policy (20 September)	15
8.	General de Gaulle's political talks in Bonn (27-28 September)	17

		Page
Austr	<u>ria</u>	21
1.	Statement by Mr. Mitterer, Austrian Minister for Trade, on the problem of Austria's relations with the Community (10 July)) 21
2.	Vienna's official approach to the EEC States and to the Community bodies in connexion with the EEC-Austria negotiations (11 July)	22
Belgi	<u>um</u>	23
1.	Parliament debates European policy (4, 9 and 11 July)	23
2.	Signing of the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (20 $\mbox{August})$.	37
3.	Mr. Harmel, Belgian Foreign Minister, tours the WEU capitals (6 August - 18 September)	38
4.	Statement by Mr. Lefèvre on European technological prob- lems (July-September)	39
Franc	<u>ce</u>	42
1.	European problems are discussed during the debates on the Government's policy statement made by Mr. Couve de Murville (17-18 July)	e 42
2.	Mr. Debré's talks with Mr. Brandt (9 September)	45
3.	Speech by Mr. Michel Debré, French Foreign Minister, to the Diplomatic Press Association (17 September)	46
Unite	d Kingdom	48
1.	The German Minister for Economic Affairs visits London (28 August)	48
2.	Anglo-Dutch talks in London (30 August)	49

		Page
<u>Italy</u>		50
1.	The Italian Parliament's debate on European policy (July)	50
2.	Statement in the Senate by Mr. Sedati, Minister for Agriculture, on the common agricultural policy (25 July)	53
Luxe	mbourg	55
The T	Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (14 August)	55
Nethe	erlands	56
1.	Discussions held by parliamentary committees on the Community policy for dairy produce, beef and veal (11 June)	56
2.	The Standing Committee for Trade Policy makes a statement concerning Britain's accession to the EEC and East-West relations (22 August)	58
3.	Parliamentary questions (July)	60
	- Margarine levy and the strengthening of the budgetary powers of the European Parliament	60
	- Enlargement of the Community	61
	- Procurement of uranium	61
4.	The implementation of Community regulations	62
5.	Visit of the Turkish Foreign Minister (19-21 July)	63
PAR	TIES AND PROMINENT POLITICIANS	65
1.	Mr. Von Wrangel, the Christian Democrat MP, puts forward	65

			Page
	2.	The FDP (Free Democratic Party) Group of the Bundestag puts forward its own proposals on agricultural policy (25 July)	65
	3.	A proposal by Mr. Dichgans, the Christian Democrat MP: the Eurofranc should take the place of the Eurodollar as the seventh currency of the EEC States (July)	66
	4.	SPD Bundestag representative proposes the setting up of a WEU Technological Committee (September)	69
	5.	Statement by Mr. George Brown, deputy leader of the Labour Party, on Britain's rôle in Europe (September)	69
	6.	Address by Prince Bernhard of the Netherlands on European co-operation in aviation and space travel (18 September)	70
	7.	The CSU Land Group discusses European defence policy (20 September)	71
	8:	Professor Hallstein, former President of the EEC Commission, calls for the reorganization of European defence policy (22 September)	72
	9.	Conference by Mr. Toncic-Sorinj, former Austrian foreign minister on "The European Community seen from the outside" (23 September)	73
III.	ORGA	NIZATIONS AND GROUPINGS	77
	1.	The French crisis as seen in German economic spheres (June-July)	77
	2.	Hamburg and the Common Market as seen by Senator H. Kern (1 July)	78
	3.	The German CEPES Group and European integration (15 July)	80
	4.	Statement by the German-Swiss Chamber of Commerce on European policy (19 August)	81
	5.	The Belgian dairy market and the Community's policy (August)	82

		Page			
6.	The attitude of German industry to the association of African States (26 August)	83			
7.	Netherlands Federation of Iron and Steel Unions and European integration (30 August)	84			
8.	A majority of Germany's European Union is in favour of a more active integration policy (5 September)	85			
9.	Mr. Münchmeyer, Chairman of the Federal Association of Private Banks, calls for a European monetary union (13 September)	86			
10.	The Secretary-General of 'Force Ouvrière': Access by the CGT to European institutions should be barred (16 September)	87			
11.	For the Secretary-General of the French Farmers' Unions the new French agricultural policy can only assume a European form (23-24 September)	n 88			
12.	2. Mr. Berg, Chairman of the Federal Association of German Industry (BDI), on European development (27 September)				
	* *				
At the Community and International Level					
COMMUNITY'S EXECUTIVE					
1.	Speech by Mr. Jean Rey, President of the Commission of the European Communities, in the Hamburg Overseas club (13 July)	91			
2.	The German members of the EEC Commission criticise the French measures for dealing with the economic crisis (2 July)	91			
3.	Mr. Victor Bodson, a member of the Commission, looks into the social policy of the Community on 1 July 1968 and the rôle of the younger generation (2 July)	92			

I.

			Page
	4.	Mr. Mansholt discusses the responsibility of the United States and Europe for expanding trade with the Third World (15 July)	94
	5.	Professor Levi Sandri's views on the Franco-German meeting held in Bonn on 27 and 28 September 1968	96
II.	MOV	EMENTS, ORGANIZATIONS AND PROMINENT FIGURES	99
	1.	The Executive Committee of the Free Unions of the Six in favour of reviving the Community by consolidating its democratic structure (10-11 July)	99
	2.	COPA discusses European milk problems (12 September)	100
	3.	Problems of European agricultural policy discussed at the International Grain Conference in Hamburg (19 September)	101
	4.	The 18th Congress of the European Christian Democrat Union (ECDU) stresses the Christian Democrat support of a united Europe (12-15 September)	102
	5.	The political congress of the European Movement in the Netherlands (21-23 September)	106
	6.	The 21st Congress of the Liberal International launches an appeal in favour of a united Europe (20-24 September)	108

PART II

METHODICAL BIBLIOGRAPHY

		Page
1.	General matters	1/B
2.	Institutional matters	5/B
3.	Economic matters	7/B
4.	Financial and monetary matters	14/B
5.	Competition	18/B
6.	Social matters	21/B
7.	Agriculture	26/B
8.	Transport	30/B
9.	Energy	34/E
10.	Research and cultural matters	37/E
l1 .	Associated countries and territories	39/E
12.	External relations	41/E
13.	Defence	47/E
14	Lorel matters	49/E

PE-i-724

Part I

PROBLEMS OF EUROPEAN INTEGRATION

at the National Level

I. GOVERNMENTS AND PARLIAMENTS

Germany

1. Statement by Chancellor Kiesinger on European policy: the completion of the European customs union and a European summit conference

At a reception in Bad Godesberg, held to mark the completion of the European customs union on 1 July 1968, Chancellor Kiesinger made a speech in which he had this to say about European policy. 'July the first 1968 brings in the completion of the European customs union; this is a very important milestone in the history of European unification... it is a day when we may feel pleased and satisfied but it is also a time for reminding ourselves of our concerns. The efforts to achieve European unity are liable, because of a series of circumstances to come to a dead end. Unfortunately the members of the European Community are no longer all in agreement on the aims and methods to be applied in enlarging the Community beyond its present membership. Added to this – particularly in the last year – a number of member States have experienced domestic difficulties which may perhaps have helped somewhat to diminish the vigour that is needed for this great work of unification.

Yet such domestic difficulties must be overcome if we are to achieve European unification - for a union of weak members cannot bring a sound entity into being; it is equally true that such domestic difficulties could be dealt with more easily if we were to take positive steps towards European unification and if we could make this progress clearly visible to our peoples.

It is therefore high time we got over this stagnation and, particularly for us not to allow discussions about enlarging our membership to hamper internal construction of the Communities. This means that we must impart them with a strong, new impetus and that we must fill out the framework of the Treaty of Rome, acting with energy and speed; indeed we must consider extending the scope of our work beyond the existing framework. It also means that despite all the difficulties involved, we must, vigorously. realistically and pragmatically help those countries which also wish to become members in their progress towards the Community; lastly, it means that we must notlose sight of the great, ultimate goal of our efforts, the political unification of Europe.

Every thinking European knows that if we fail to come to a common approach on world policy as soon as possible we shall, to an increasing extent, continue to be left out in shaping the future of our world; for we are bound one day to reach the point where others will decide on our fate, on the fate of the scattered resources and States of Europe. This must not be allowed to happen. We must therefore find a new impulse, a new resolve and a new realism!

Addressing the home and foreign press in Bonn on 5 July 1968, Chancellor Kiesinger reviewed the internal and external situation of the Federal Republic. In reply to a journalist who asked him how he saw the future of European policy (to which he had referred in his speech on the completion of the customs union) and what was his attitude in connexion with the measures of solidarity of the Five concerning France, he replied: 'The EEC partners must think on a large scale in the context of these support measures. In saying this, however, I simply mean that we have gradually reached an untenable position. A major political issue, perhaps the greatest for the future of Europe, has gradually become completely obliterated from the minds of the general public in Europe. Instead of a major impetus, we have had a state of affairs which only a small number of experts can appreciate and which has long since been beyond the range of the general public. It would be worthwhile making it clear what has been achieved. It would be very fine if, on 1 July when the customs union was completed, the turnstiles had been removed and if the customs officials had been disbanded. The normal traveller, however, finds the situation unchanged and asks where is the customs union? It is very difficult to explain to him that there remain a substantial number of fiscal approximation measures to be taken pending which these turnstiles must remain. If, however they were removed, this would be regarded as a sign of Europe's progress. I simply mean that we should take seriously this dispute over the accession of Britain and other applicant States. We should take France's attitude seriously

and try patiently to find a solution. Yet where we really must be in agreement - and this includes France, which also wants the Community and not a free trade area - is on vigorously pursuing the further development of the European Communities, and not only in the technical idiom of the experts. The Governments must, perhaps through a European summit conference - I am still asking for the European summit conference that was decided on in Rome - take up these great issues once again.

In this somewhat uneasy mood now prevailing in Europe and in the world, in which perhaps many young people have the feeling that political circles are no longer able to carry through anything on a large scale, this would be a sign of hope for them. For its part, the Federal Government will try to impart this impetus.'

On 7 July in a TV interview, Chancellor Kiesinger again asked for steps to be taken to further the construction of the Community; he again called for a summit conference of heads of Government of the Six. Of course agreement had first to be reached on the subjects concerning which all the Six would really be prepared to talk.

The Chancellor emphasized the need for a political community. The Europeans had to arrive at a common attitude on international policy. 'They must in order to act together be able to exercise an influence in the world.'

On 12 and 13 July, the CDU held its annual general meeting in Munich under the chairmanship of Mr. Franz Josef Strauss, its 'Land' Chairman. In accordance with tradition, Chancellor Kiesinger, as the most prominent member of the CDU, made a short visit to the meeting.

In his speech Chancellor Kiesinger dealt with electoral law and European policy. The unification of Europe – a subject which was discussed only very incidentally in comparison with the meetings in previous years – was described by the Chancellor as 'the challenge facing this generation of Europeans'. But the whole thing 'has somehow slipped out of our hands. The great European drive we once had has ebbed away'. He quoted as an example the fact that there were now only a few experts on European problems who understood anything. It was no longer possible to get an overall view of the European task, including what had been done so far – such as the recently completed customs union. The Chancellor said that tangible evidence must be

forthcoming and he returned to his plea that, at long last, there should be a summit conference of the heads of Government of the Six.

(Bulletin of the Press and Information Service of the German Government, No. 83 of 2 July 1968 and No. 86 of 9 July 1968; Die Welt, 6 July 1968; Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 9 and 16 July 1968)

2. Mr. Schiller, German Minister for Economic Affairs, puts the case for the economic union

On the completion of the European customs union, on 1 July 1968, the Federal Minister for Economic Affairs wrote an article on the future aims of European integration.

In detail what he said was as follows:

On 1 July 1968 - eighteen months before the end of the transition period - the customs union was completed. Simultaneously the first of the customs duty reductions agreed on at the Kennedy Round came into effect; similarly market regulations for most of the agricultural products had by then been established. A major aim had been achieved; this can also be regarded as satisfactory against the background of the events in France and the difficulties with the milk market regulations. Yet still not enough has been done. With the completion of this stage, the even greater and more difficult tasks that have to be tackled, stand out in greater relief. This success cannot blind us to the growing feeling that Community policy is stagnating; although this is, to a large extent, due to the disagreement over new memberships, its real causes are much more general and diverse. The major tasks confronting us and the present state of a European policy call for a thorough review of the means and ends of this policy and a new awareness among the member States of the common European interest.

The customs union was an important goal. It is, however, only a step towards implementing a common market and no more than a starting point for building a genuine economic union.

Still no real internal market

To build up internal market relations in the Community there are still a great many restrictions, on the freedom of movement of goods, the freedom of establishment and to supply services and the freedom of movement of persons and capital, which have to be removed. The disappearance of the internal customs duties and quantitative restrictions make it even more urgent to remove the remaining obstacles to trade and to go further in approximating competitive conditions. The general programme submitted by the Commission for removing technical restrictions to trade and the long-haul efforts to approximate national legal and administrative provisions, (particularly in the fields of foodstuffs, the law on pharmaceutical products and veterinary practice) show, because of the number of obstacles involved, how much still remains to be done. As long as differences in the burdens borne through taxes. company law and transport and energy costs subsist, there will still be differences in competitive conditions in the economic area coming into being. The question arises whether a greater effort should not be made to draw up a list of priorities. Just as the detail work of integration is so necessary, so it appears urgent at the present stage of the Common Market to clear away the main obstacles as a matter of priority.

The progressive implementation of the internal market creates the conditions for an integration of the economies through the enterprises themselves. The main ultimate objective of the economic union will, in fact, only be achieved when Community bodies, member States and enterprises work together and stimulate each other to this end. There will be no economic union through the agency of laws and regulations. In the European context, too, concerted action is necessary.

In view of the increasing interpenetration of the economies of the member States and because of the increased tempo of structural changes resulting from the creation of a large economic area, developments towards an economic union call increasingly for a harmonization of the economic policies of the member States and a common Community line. It is here that the political will of the member States to achieve economic integration will be tested.

The cyclical policy recommendations of the Council, the programmes for the medium-term economic policy, the agreed approach on international monetary questions represent a beginning. It cannot be denied however that the member States still continue in many cases to cling to a rather defensive 'nation-State' attitude; this may even have become more pronounced. Yet all those responsible should realize that unless there is a new awareness of the common interest and unless there is a greater drive towards solidarity, European integration will only progress with difficulty.

Accent on the industrial policy

In important sectors, such as energy, research and technology, common measures are necessary. Although in recent years the development of the agricultural market has been given some priority, we must now introduce a deliberate and rational policy for industry. Ways must be found of establishing a common capital market and competition policy must be adjusted to what has been achieved and to what we are striving for in integration. It would be easier to carry through these tasks if there were a merger of the three treaties. On the other hand progress towards a merger of the treaties will only be possible through agreement on specific common policies.

The customs union was indeed a definite objective and was achieved as planned. The completion of the internal market, and above all the construction of the economic union will be more difficult because the forms and ways of integration have first to be approximated more closely here. This is, moreover, one of the underlying causes for the present stagnation.

Greater solidarity

As well as the Community bodies and particularly the Commission, the member States have a decisive part to play in solving the problems of the future. The more integration progresses, the more the nucleus of nationally orientated policies will be affected. Hence there must be a greater feeling of solidarity between the member States and a political will to pursue the integration process. Recent developments in France have made it clear to the member States how much they depend on each other. We may hope that out of this situation there may come a new chance to consolidate and expand the Community.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 1 July 1968, Industriekurier, Special Edition 27 June 1968)

3. Bonn visit of Mr. Medici, Italian Foreign Minister

The Italian and German Foreign Ministers met in Bonn on 1 August 1968 for political talks.

Mr. Brandt and Mr. Medici agreed, in the course of lengthy discussions, to make an 'earnest new attempt', after the summer, to secure the enlargement of the European Community. They agreed that the question of the entry of the United Kingdom and the other applicant States - Denmark, Norway and Ireland - ought not be put on ice. So long as this was the case, further internal development in the Community would be impeded.

Mr. Brandt assured his Italian colleague that the Bonn proposals for an 'arrangement' with applicant States did not mean that the Federal Government would not be prepared to consider other proposals if these were practical. As regards a trading arrangement, Mr. Medici said that in the Italian view this would have to be clearly linked with some machinery for entry. The Federal Government had always stated that it always viewed such trade agreements in the light of eventual British entry and never as a substitute for it. So far only the French had insisted that such an arrangement ought in no way to prejudice the question of entry.

In this respect Italian and French attitudes clashed just as sharply as over whether the EEC States and non-member States could consult each other on matters falling outside the province of the Community. Italy desired such consultation, and a motion to the same effect had been announced in the Bundestag.

During the talks the way in which the proviso clause agreed upon by the European Council of Ministers ought to be handled when signing the non-proliferation treaty was discussed in detail. The members of Euratom – with the exception of France which was not acceding to the Treaty – wanted to make it clear through a proviso that their parliaments would not ratify the treaty until a satisfactory agreement had been reached between Euratom and the International Atomic Energy Authority (IAEA) in Vienna. This proviso, which would be deposed either orally or in writing at the time the treaty was signed, would also take account of the objections of the German Atomforum to twin supervision by IAEA and Euratom as well as its demand that supervision by Brussels should be maintained. This clause naturally did not prevent the parliaments of Euratom member States from entering into consultation on the treaty before agreement on supervisory powers had been reached.

In the talks between Mr. Brandt and Mr. Medici the possibility that no agreement would be reached between Brussels and Vienna was not touched upon. Both Ministers took it for granted that a solution acceptable to Euratom could be found - within the period stipulated in the treaty - in the course of the negotiations, which would have to be opened six months after the general

entry into force of the Treaty and completed after a further eighteen months. Bonn welcomed the opportunity offered by this interval to clear up the remaining questions in dispute.

Mr. Brandt and Mr. Medici shared the view that Bonn and Rome should jointly try to counteract any tendency for the non-proliferation treaty to endanger Europe's economic development.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 2 and 3 August 1968; Die Welt, 2 August 1968; Industriekurier, 3 August 1968)

4. European talks between German and Dutch ministers

Mr. de Jong, Prime Minister, and Dr. Luns, Foreign Minister, arrived in Bonn on 18 September 1968 for talks with the Federal Government. The talks were part of a series of discussions which had already been held by the Federal Government with its Italian and Belgian partners and came to a close with the visit of Mr. Grégoire, the Luxembourg Foreign Minister.

The talks, which were conducted by Federal Chancellor Kiesinger and Foreign Minister Brandt on the one side and Mr. de Jong and Dr. Luns on the other, evidently narrowed the differences as to the best method of enlarging and building up the European Economic Community. The Dutch delegation left with the impression that the German proposals in the memorandum of 9 March for the EEC Council of Ministers had in the meantime been formulated more satisfactorily than had been expected.

Dr. Luns made it clear that the Dutch Government saw only two ways in which progress could be made in Europe: (i) political integration among the six EEC member States, and (ii) enlargement of the Communities at the earliest possible date.

The joint communiqué speaks of measures to step up co-operation with applicant States in the political, economic and technological fields so as to prepare for and facilitate their eventual accession. It was the aim of both Governments to 'enlarge, build up and merge the European Communities'.

At a press conference, Mr. de Jong said that the 'Europe of the nation-States' was too weak to make its voice heard in the world. Europe had to integrate but - as the French attitude to events in Czechoslovakia had shown - there was no sign of a change in mood in Paris.

Although the German attitude towards the question of entry also remained unchanged, the German-Dutch talks had clearly helped to dispel Dutch doubts about German motives. As one of the participants put it, they had been able to convince themselves that Bonn's policy was not simply jogging along in the wake of French diplomacy.

The communiqué deals in greater detail with the talks on questions of European security. The NATO alliance is regarded – following the occupation of Czechoslovakia – as absolutely essential. It ought to be not only maintained but even strengthened, at all events politically and, if the need arose, also militarily. The phrase 'if necessary' had been inserted – explained Mr. de Jong – because NATO would have to decide to strengthen military forces if the heightened threat arising from the presence of Soviet troops in Czechoslovakia was to become permanent. The communiqué called for the withdrawal of the occupying troops, adding that the occupation should be condemned as a violation of human rights and of the UN Charter. The Soviet Union's attempts to cast suspicion on the Federal Government's policy in this matter ought to be censured.

Both governments announced in the communiqué their intention to continue a policy aimed at easing tensions and preserving peace. This also included a lasting and just settlement of the issues that had led to the division of Europe, of the world and of Germany.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 19 and 20 September 1968; Die Welt, 20 September 1968; Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 21 September 1968)

5. Visit of the Luxembourg Foreign Minister

A few days prior to the Franco-German consultations, Mr. Brandt, Foreign Minister, concluded his series of bilateral talks to sound opinions on enlarging and developing the European Communities, when he saw Mr. Grégoire, the Luxembourg Foreign Minister, in Bonn on 24 September 1968.

In Bonn the hope was expressed that Luxembourg would, at the next meeting of the EEC Council on 27 September, assume a role midway between the concern of the Dutch to press onward and the tendency of the French to hold back.

The hope that a decision may be reached on opening negotiations with the British about accession had now been abandoned by Bonn in view of the unchanged French attitude. Mr. Brandt would concentrate every effort in trying to ensure that the question of accession was not 'buried' at the Council meeting.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 25 September 1968; Die Welt. 25 September 1968)

6. Foreign policy debate in the Bundestag

On 25 September 1968 the Bundestag resumed after its summer recess, opening with a government statement by Federal Chancellor Kiesinger.

The Federal Chancellor stated in the Bundestag that in view of the continued stationing of Soviet troops in Czechoslovakia NATO had to review the strength of its forces in Europe; the Federal Government and Parliament would see to it that the German army was given the necessary manpower and material equipment. He stressed that the policy of peace would be pursued: 'We are going neither to give up nor to bow to the demands of the Soviet Union. Europe needs a legitimate order of peace'.

He called upon the peoples of Western Europe to increase their efforts towards European integration. 'It seems to me that the time has come to try, with a new drive by the peoples of Europe acting together, to get over this dangerous stagnation which has for some time been paralyzing the work of European unification.' Long before the events in Czechoslovakia, the Federal Government had been thinking what could be done. Essentially there were three main problems:

- Merging the three European Communities and intensifying their work until the economic union was completed;
- 2. Enlarging the circle of members of the Community; and

3. Developing a common political will for a joint approach in external affairs as a first step towards political union.

Important steps in this direction could be to achieve a co-ordination of the monetary, economic and cyclical policies, to devise a new European policy for energy and policies of European science and technology. A start had been made in European technological co-operation on 31 October; since then, however, little had happened, although the Federal Government had made proposals.

The other main problem was the enlargement of the European Communities. The accession of the United Kingdom and the three other States was still an important political objective for the Federal Government. At present, negotiations could not be opened for obvious reasons. 'But this does not relieve us of the duty of trying to find interim solutions that could facilitate accession.'

The Chancellor hoped that progress would be made at the meeting of the Foreign Ministers in Brussels on 27 September and that the way might thereby be opened with the United Kingdom and the three other States. 'We stand by our proposal for a trade policy arrangement. Here in Bonn we shall, in a few days time, have an opportunity of discussing this matter with our French partners. We shall go on from the Franco-German statement of 16 February.'

In recent years Europe had seen far-reaching political changes almost, as it were, in front of its doors without being able to exert the least influence over them. It was disturbing to see how manifest Europe's political weakness was in the face of such events, for Europe was, apart from this, enjoying an unprecedented economic expansion. 'Our main responsibility is not only to secure freedom and peace for Western Europe but also to build a road to a lasting peace for the whole of Europe which will lead to a fair solution of the German question. We can only achieve this with united forces and a common resolve. If we do, this Europe will develop into a great power for establishing and securing world peace. If we fail, the decision over our future in a world that is too full of dangers will pass to others and prevent us from having any say in the future shape of our world.'

The Federal Chancellor concluded his observations on European policy by saying that the Government considered its most urgent and important task to be to do everything in its power to achieve this great objective, and to do so in the near rather than the distant future.

On 26 September, the Chancellor's foreign policy statement was debated and the spokesmen for all groups advocated continuing to pursue the policy of peace, at the same time stressing the need for a common defence policy within the western alliance.

Mr. Barzel, Chairman of the CDU/CSU Group, opened the debate by criticizing the Russian intervention in Czechoslovakia and gave an assurance that Germany's sympathy lay with the people of that country. In his view, this intervention had been part of the psychological and political war waged by Russia against the Federal Republic. 'The intention of intimidating us is unfortunately as unmistakable as the determination to defame our policy of peace by calling it political aggression.'

In the opinion of Mr. Barzel certain moves were necessary because of the Soviet intervention in Czechoslovakia:

- 1. Defence efforts: the permanent and undiminished presence of allied troups was vital. Instead of the yearly debate about the currency problem, the Federal Government should endeavour to devise some long-term compensation arrangement. Since the security of free Europe was involved, other Europeans must share the expenditure with the Federal Republic.
- 2. Political solidarity: the partners in the alliance should agree with each other on their policy and pursue the same course. The Soviet Union had to know that the alliance would react to pressure with firmness and to threats with boldness. The Soviet claims had to be countered politically and suitable security precautions had to be taken.
- 3. Europe: Germany and France should together draw the relevant conclusions. These could only be articulated as a greater European effectiveness. New fields for European co-operation which the Rome Treaty did not cover must be tackled in a European spirit. He added: 'We wish to do nothing without France.'
- 4. Policy on Eastern Europe: the peace policy must be pursued but it had to be asked whether there were any to whom it could be directed. As a monologue, it would raise problems. It had to be seen whether there was any point in trying to deal with East Berlin, the countries of Eastern and Central Europe and the Soviet Union with the same degree of concern.
- 5. Non-proliferation treaty: without a satisfactory answer to the German security problem, this treaty could not be signed.

Mr. Schmidt, Chairman of the SPD Group, endorsed the Government statement; he thought the Western Alliance as a whole had to examine the situation and draw the relevant conclusions. If the French did not wish to pursue the same course, the decisions had to be taken even without French partipation in the interest of the security of Germany and its partners in the Alliance.

Analyzing defence, Mr. Schmidt came to the conclusion that the division of forces in the two sides of Europe had changed to the disadvantage of the West; on the other hand, especially with regard to strategic nuclear weapons held by the USSR and the USA, there was a balance between the Western and Eastern defence potentials and this continued to obtain. The balance depended decisively on the reliability of the response of defence forces stationed far from Europe in coming to the joint defence of Europe. Mr. Schmidt summed up his conclusions as follows:

- 1. First the governments had to have talks and NATO had to take a decision, after which the expenditure on additional equipment could be determined. If this transpired, the Bundestag must give a corresponding agreement with respect to Germany's involvement; here Mr. Schmidt spoke expressly for the SPD Group.
- 2. The defence balance could and would be maintained.
- An order of peace in Europe could only be achieved if all were willing to contribute.
- 4. It would be 'most unreasonable' to give up the aim of normalizing a peace dispensation in Europe.
- 5. Just as, on the one hand, everything needed for the safety of the people would be done so too the proposals for a general renunciation of power and an order of peace in Europe had to be adhered to.

With reference to the non-proliferation treaty, Mr. Schmidt said: 'Where the contents are not yet clear and where there does not appear to be any resolve to respect the law, the raison d'être for an international treaty is seriously open to question.'

Mr. Walter Scheel, Chairman of the Free Democrat Opposition, concluded from the present situation that political efforts to achieve an order of peace in Europe had to take precedence over defence efforts. The spokesman for the Free Democrats made the following points:

- There was no reason to doubt the loyalty to the Alliance of those involved. As long as the NATO Alliance existed, any military intervention in the Federal Republic would mean war.
- 2. The military capability of the Warsaw Pact countries had not been strengthened but rather weakened by recent events; the troops of Czechoslovakia and to some extent those of Rumania had dropped out and there were signs of demoralization among the Soviets.
- 3. There appeared little chance of a further strengthening of NATO. The Free Democrats recognized the Alliance but it was not out of question that France, for example, might become even more entrenched in its present stand; similarly the USA was faced with other problems; thus the limits of any defence efforts were clear.

Richard Stücklen, Chairman of the CSU Land Party in the Bundestag, addressed an appeal to France in which he said: 'We must, at long last, begin with a policy, jointly defined, co-ordinated and implemented for defence and foreign affairs'. On the eve of President de Gaulle's visit to Bonn, Mr. Stücklen called for a standing Franco-German governmental committee to be set up, to be responsible for co-ordinating the defence, foreign and finance policies of the two countries.

In the resolution passed by the CDU/CSU Coalition Group and the SPD, it was stated, inter alia:

'The Bundestag has always supported the government's endeavours to pursue a reasonable and effective policy for peace with all countries. This policy is designed to bring about an order of peace in Europe. It will be pursued, in spite of the serious setback it suffered when the Soviets marched into Czechoslovakia.

The freedom and security of the Federal Republic of Germany depend on the Atlantic Alliance. The Bundestag will therefore support the government in all necessary endeavours to consolidate and strengthen the Atlantic Alliance. It does not expect that there will be any unilateral reduction in the defence capability of the Alliance in Europe.

The Bundestag is in favour of international agreements on reciprocal measures for armaments control and limitation and for disarmament. The Federal Government has given an undertaking to its partners in the Alliance that it will prohibit the manufacture of nuclear, biological and chemical armaments and agreed to submit to appropriate international controls. It seeks no national supply authority for nuclear weapons and no national ownership of such weapons.

The existing European Communities must be developed internally, merged and expanded.

Only if there is close co-operation between all the peoples of Europe will it be possible to create an order of peace in Europe and to increase its political, economic, scientific and cultural influence in the world; only then will Europe be able to contribute towards solving the major problems of the world in a way that is expected of our continent.

(Die Welt, 26 and 27 July 1968; Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 26 and 27 September 1968)

7. Government criticism of the financing system of the Community farming policy

In the Federal Government's Bulletin of 20 September 1968 Secretary of State Grund of the Federal Finance Ministry launched a sharp attack from Government circles on agricultural financing in Brussels. He pointed out that during the year 1969/70 more than DM 12,000 million would have to be spent on the European Agricultural Guidance and Guarantee Fund (EAGGF). The question that arose was whether the EEC would be able to go on accepting ever-mounting farm production and the difficulties it created.

Mr. Grund said that the burden of Brussels' agricultural policy fell particularly heavily on the Federal Republic. This was obliged to raise DM 1,650 million of the DM 5,300 million paid into the EAGGF in the year 1967/68, but was getting only DM 610 million back. Germany was therefore paying in nearly three times more than it was being refunded. France, on the other hand, received twice what it paid in. EAGGF refunds per farmer amounted for Germany to only DM 277 as compared with DM 705 for France and DM 2,333 for the Netherlands. Moreover, the new market organizations

for wine, tobacco and fishery products would reduce the German share in refunds still further. France, on the other hand, figured to an exceptional degree in all these market organizations.

Mr. Grund wondered whether the Federal Republic could go on indefinitely carrying the burden represented by the difference between a 31 per cent contribution to the Fund and a refund of only 15 to 18 per cent. In the interests of a balanced national budget, the Federal Republic was forced to seek a more even spread of expenditure among member States. EEC expenditure on agriculture had to be restricted. Mr. Grund advocated staggered scales of contribution within the Fund and urged the Commission to display clear-cut responsibility in the matter of finance policy.

Speaking at the annual meeting of the Association of German Toy Manufacturers in Garmisch-Partenkirchen on 22 September, Mr. Leicht, Parliamentary Secretary of State in the Federal Finance Ministry, said that new arrangements would have to be devised for financing in the EEC.

He felt that that what was required was some kind of European Finance Minister. It would in the long run be wholly unreasonable to expect the Federal Republic to contribute 31 per cent to common agricultural financing, which would total DM 7, 200 million in 1967/68 and rise to DM 11, 100 million in the following year, while the most it could hope to get back - under the most favourable conditions - would be only 18 per cent.

In this connexion Mr. Leicht criticized the Community's attempts to secure EEC customs duties as a source of revenue for its own exclusive use. This could only be done at the expense of the major importing countries and, therefore, of the Federal Republic. The resulting additional burden on the Federal budget would be quite unacceptable. Financial planning in the Community extending over several years would have to be insisted upon. The EEC Commission ought to be obliged to embody its proposals in the various sectors in an overall financial programme. Individual general directorates should no longer deal independently with their own budgets, nor should the existing form of hand-to-mouth system of financing be maintained.

(Bulletin der Bundesregierung, 20 September 1968; Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 21 and 23 September 1968; Industriekurier, 21 September 1968; Die Welt, 21 September 1968)

8. General de Gaulle's political talks in Bonn

On 27 and 28 September 1968 President de Gaulle held political talks in Bonn.

In an initial conversation with the French President, Federal Chancellor Dr. Kiesinger made it clear that he gave preference to a joint European policy towards Eastern Europe. He was convinced that since 1965 the Soviet Union had been passing through a re-stabilization phase and that, contrary to General de Gaulle's expectations, it would therefore shut itself off more and more. The danger that the men in the Kremlin would seek flight in adventure ought to be taken in earnest. Precisely for that reason the Soviet Union ought to be treated with extreme caution by Western Europe.

General de Gaulle outlined his views on European policy. The two partners should step up and broaden the scope of bilateral co-operation ('coopération préférentielle'). Speaking at a dinner, Dr. Kiesinger quoted Victor Hugo in support of his plea for an enlarged European Community: 'The day will come when you, France, you, Russia, you, Italy, you, Germany, all you nations of the continent will merge into a higher unity and form a European brotherhood...' General de Gaulle retorted that a Europe that wanted to be European must look at and into itself and make a start with those who wanted such a Europe, that is, with the most reasonable - say, with Germany and France and perhaps with a few others. Once again, as on the signing of the treaty of friendship in January 1963, General de Gaulle made an offer to start with the Franco-German nucleus for Europe.

He spoke even more bluntly in the closing talks in the presence of both delegations, after Dr. Kiesinger had assured him that he regarded the idea of carrying on with integrating Europe, if need be, without France, as destructive for European policy. General de Gaulle insisted that there could be no Community without France. If it were built with States other than the Six, disintegration would follow. France had long lived without the Common Market; it could also continue to exist without the Common Market, though it would regret this.

On General de Gaulle's 'coopération préférentielle', which was intended to step up collaboration between the two States, an assurance had already been given that there was no question of introducing an independent policy. This increased collaboration would have a stimulating effect both inside and outside the Community. Mr. Brandt and Mr. Debré would soon be meeting to get the new phase of intensified co-operation under way. Its field of application would extend beyond matters covered by the Treaty. Energy

policy, space travel and armaments were mentioned. As is generally known, prior to the summit meeting the CSU had called above all for co-operation in the fields of strategy and armaments.

General de Gaulle assured the Federal Chancellor that France would stand by the Federal Republic if the Czechoslovakian crisis developed into an international disaster. Between such a tragic possibility and the condemnation of aggression – and both statesmen insisted that the occupying troops be withdrawn – there lay a wide field of diplomatic action for a policy of détente. They agreed that the peace policy towards the East ought to be continued – according to General de Gaulle the only way of solving the German question. General de Gaulle stated that France did not recognize the Soviet Union's right to intervene in the Federal Republic's affairs.

Differences on security policy were also discussed. For the Federal Republic, which was immediately adjacent to the Eastern bloc, the military changes were of great importance. Nevertheless - said Dr. Kiesinger - the situation had not been dramatized in any way, as borne out by the mediumterm financial programme in which defence expenditure had not been raised. Dr. Kiesinger bluntly stated that the security of the Federal Republic hinged on the presence of American troops. While showing understanding for this different assessment of the situation, General de Gaulle emphasized that France had no cause to alter its policy in any way whatever; on the contrary, it had more reason than ever to practise it and to make it known.

It was agreed between Mr. Strauss and Mr. Ortoli that a joint committee should look into tax problems. The subjects discussed would cover the conclusion of a revised double-taxation agreement by the end of the year; a regulation on the taxation of dividends; working out joint proposals for facilitating mergers, and harmonization of economic and fiscal measures for the alcohol and tobacco-processing industry in the EEC.

In a conversation with Mr. Ortoli, Dr. Schiller, Federal Economics Minister, welcomed the fact that the French Government, in tackling its economic difficulties, had not resorted to major restrictions but aimed at controlled expansion. Both Ministers thought that the economic prospects in their countries were fairly promising. They also agreed that trade relations between the European Communities and the European States not forming part of an economic bloc ought to be stepped up. This implies above all the conclusion of a trade agreement between the EEC and Yugoslavia.

In a report on his talks with General de Gaulle, Dr. Kiesinger told members of the CDU/CSU Group that it was not true that he had said that not a step could be taken in European development without France. Dr. Barzel, chairman of the Group, told journalists that the Chancellor and the Group agreed that Europe could not be built without France and that England belonged to Europe. There were - he said - new spheres not contemplated in the EEC Treaties open to European co-operation, especially technological co-operation with non-EEC countries.

The CDU/CSU Group also wanted Franco-German co-operation to be bilateral where possible, and called for at least a gradual rapprochement between the Community and countries that had applied for entry.

In contrast to Dr. Kiesinger, Mr. Majonica wrote in a CDU publication: 'In fields not governed by the existing European treaties, the Federal Republic must seek closer co-operation with all European States that are willing to take part in it. Only thus can Europe's influence make itself more strongly felt in the Atlantic Alliance.'

Mr. Fritz-Rudolf Schultz, FDP Bundestag representative, said that the view of the Parliamentary Secretary of State in the Federal Chancellery, Baron von und zu Guttenberg, that France had the right to say no to Britain's entry into the EEC was both uninformed and an unnecessary gift to de Gaulle. Mr. Schultz pointed out that the preamble to the EEC Treaty itself expressly called upon the other peoples of Europe to join in the efforts of the parties to the Treaty. They therefore had a right to enter the EEC and no EEC member had the right to thwart their aspirations on the flimsiest of grounds.

Mr. Schultz was afraid that through its attitude to the European question the Federal Government would finish up by pleasing nobody. In Brussels it was feared that a group would be formed within the EEC. The other member States - the Benelux countries and Italy - were already consulting each other with a view to offsetting the influence of France and the Federal Republic. There was a real danger that the Federal Government would fail not only to impress General de Gaulle but also to convince the other European States that it was in earnest about enlarging the European Community.

After the Federal Chancellor had assured the CDU/CSU Group that he had never said that no progress could be made in the European Community without France, all the Bundestag groups will discuss what steps can be taken to bring the European Community and the applicant States closer together so long as the French veto blocks their entry.

It is felt, however, that the formula devised by Mr. Barzel for his Group: 'Europe cannot be built without France and England belongs to Europe' gives no indication of how Europe is to be built if France will not let England enter. Mr. Helmut Schmidt, Chairman of the SPD Group, said that something would have to be done without France if France went on saying no to everything. The coalition groups were thus largely in agreement on this point.

A week before General de Gaulle's visit to Bonn on 20 September 1968, the Federal Foreign Ministry submitted to the EEC member States a memorandum on the activation of EEC policy and on the question of British entry. This was discussed at the Conference of EEC Foreign Ministers in Brussels on 27 September. The essential part of the Bonn proposals is the original plan progressively to cut customs duties between the EEC and EFTA up to 1972 so as to facilitate entry by Britain, Denmark, Norway and Ireland.

The deputy Government Spokesman, Mr. Ahlers, confirmed to the press that the Federal Government had taken a new initiative for enlarging the European Communities. This was reflected more especially in the proposals which the Federal Government had sent to the other EEC member States in memorandum form. Mr. Ahlers merely said that the proposals related to the Community's enlargement and internal development and to the merger of the Treaties. Interim Bonn proposals related to closer trade and technological co-operation and to general contacts. A further initiative, which Federal Chancellor Kiesinger only announced for the period following President de Gaulle's visit, related to the internal development of the Communities.

(Die Welt, 21, 25, 28 and 30 September 1968, 1 and 2 October 1968; Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 21 and 26 September 1968, 1 and 2 October 1968;

Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 30 September 1968, 2 October 1968)

Austria

1. Statement by Mr. Mitterer, Austrian Minister for Trade, on the problem of Austria's relations with the Community

At the meeting held by the EFTA Council in Geneva on 10 July, Mr. Otto Mitterer, Austrian Minister for Commerce and Industry, told the press that the Austrian negotiations in Brussels had gone well up till the time when they were suspended. They were, however, still held up by the Italian veto and no one knew how long this would last. As a result of the French veto on Britain's accession into the EEC, the question of the Community's enlargement had simply been shelved. Austria was, none the less, determined to come to some special kind of arrangement with the EEC so as to obtain free access to the Community markets without discrimination and yet without becoming a full member of the EEC.

He stressed that a rapprochement between Austria and the EEC was of great importance to his country's economy although in recent years many new industries had geared their activity to the EFTA markets. Austrian exports, in contrast to those of Switzerland, were engaged in a very much tougher struggle against international competition. He referred to the unfavourable effect of the EEC customs and quotas discrimination against Austria; this mainly related to the German market. He stressed the soundness of the dynamism inherent in the EEC.

Turning to the development of EFTA, Mr. Mitterer said that non-tariff obstacles to trade needed to be further reduced. EFTA trade had to be expanded but nothing should be done which might prejudice relations with the EEC. The point made by the late Federal Chancellor Raab that one should not constantly twist the tail of a lion if one sat in the same cage was still valid. Austria was keeping in close touch with the European Commission and the Governments of member States and it was still trying to find a loop-hole which it might wriggle through in Brussels. It would welcome any trade policy measures or arrangements in so far as they did not threaten its rapprochement with the EEC.

(Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 12 July 1968)

2. Vienna's official approach to the EEC States and to the Community bodies in connexion with the EEC-Austria negotiations

On 11 July Mr. Schober, Austrian Ambassador to Brussels, informed the European Commission (as did other Austrian Ambassadors in EEC capitals) that Austria wished to take part, from the beginning, in any negotiations on trade policy arrangements with States that had applied for membership. This approach did not, of course, mean that Austria had given up its objective of achieving a special arrangement with the EEC which took into account Austria's special situation and economic needs. These negotiations were suspended several months ago. The fact that Italy had no government with a clear majority in Parliament had dampened Austria's hopes of undoing the knot which had been tied fast by the Italian veto and French misgivings by the autumn. Austria had therefore now drawn attention to the fact that it would like to take part, in any circumstances, in any negotiations with the other EFTA States that may be started in the autumn.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 12 July 1968; Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 13 July 1968)

Belgium

1. Parliament debates European policy

A general election was held on 31 May 1968 and a Social Christian-Socialist government was formed under the leadership of Mr. G. Eyskens. Parliament then heard and approved the Government's statement and immediately began its study of the budgets for the current financial year.

The governmental agreement

The text of the agreement between the Social Christian Party and the Socialist Party was appended to the report of the Parliament's debate.

With reference to foreign policy, the agreement stated that the Government will give priority to three objectives, the main one being accelerating European unification, viz:

- (a) carrying out the Benelux Economic treaty;
- (b) achieving the economic union planned in the Treaty of Rome: common trade, monetary and financial policies;
- (c) extending Community co-operation to the fields of advanced technology;
- (d) finding ways of promoting the creation of a European political structure.

The Government was convinced that if all the free and democratic peoples of Europe, who shared this desire, were to support this joint endeavour, this would help creating a united Europe.

The two other aims were consolidating peace in the world and cooperating on development.

The budget for foreign affairs

In the Chamber of Representatives, the foreign affairs budget was debated at the 4 July session. Mr. Radoux (Socialist) listed the major issues that the European Community still had to tackle. He added: 'With a view to merging the Communities, the charter for European action must be reframed and the basis laid for the future economic union. The new pact must be situated between the future, federal pact and the existing provisions.

Since 1965 we have been living not in the era of the Treaties of Rome but in that of the Luxembourg agreements, i.e. that of "an agreement on disagreements". To get Europe moving again, we shall have to find a way of dealing with the Community machinery which is not being operated. In November 1967, the veto system was applied to the enlargement of the Community. It is true that observations could be made to Britain regarding its attitude but I believe that the problems would be easier to solve with rather than without the United Kingdom. I do not think that in the coming period we shall be able to do what we have not done in the past when, for such a long time, we have been just plodding on.

I do not think it possible for countries like Germany to continue to make sacrifices in the agricultural context if we do not succeed, if not in uniting, at least in harmonizing our foreign policies. Is it of such great interest for a European country to pursue an independent policy if it counts for nothing in the course of negotiations and when these are about to be concluded? Europe was absent in 1945 at the time when the peace proposals were formulated; it is absent from the negotiations on nuclear disarmament and non-proliferation. Is it possible, Sir, that any change may be made in this situation in the weeks and months ahead? How can a relationship of equality with the United States be achieved if we, ourselves, do not succeed in forming an entity?

When it expressed satisfaction at the success of the Kennedy Round, the European Assembly said it would like negotiations to be held on the setting up of a joint USA-EEC "committee on understanding". I believe that this policy is a good one.

Secondly the Assembly asked that the USSR be approached with a view to increasing economic and cultural exchanges of common interest. One first result would be to increase the scale of trade which should facilitate a growing measure of co-operation between East and West in other fields.

If Europe, including the United Kingdom, became an economic union, it could take world problems a stage nearer to peace by negotiating on an equal footing with the United States and the USSR. The months ahead will show if we are able together to progress and to achieve something.'

Speaking for the Communist Group, Mr. Moulin had certain criticisms to make concerning the Common Market: 'We celebrated the 1st July 1968 without enthusiasm. The record is, moreover, a disappointing one. There was, for example, the unrest among farmers whose enterprises are no longer profitable. There has been a flight from the farms. Industrial firms have closed down. Unemployment is rampant and Article 119, which provides for equal pay for men and women, is not being complied with. There has also been an invasion by the bureaucrats. There are no less than 14,000 officials in Brussels. This is the reign of technocracy. The fact was acknowledged by Mr. Jean Rey when he spoke of the lack of democracy in the operation of all these bodies. We are strongly opposed to the policy of the present Common Market but we are in favour of a European policy in the service of the worker, a progressive Europe which will put paid to the account of the giant capitalist trusts which are doing very nicely.'

Speaking in the Senate on 11 July, Mr. Leemans (Christian Democrat) said that he could not be as patient as the Minister with regard to certain European problems:

'I am sorry that the EEC Commission has not yet organized its administration and that it has made no effort to adjust its internal organization. While we go on talking about management and technology, the EEC Commission is lagging behind and falling short in a disturbing way.

We find that the merger of administrative divisions is dealt with by the principal private secretaries rather than by the members of the Commission. The latter is inclined to avoid difficult problems and to entrust them to officials who have, no doubt, great political ability but appear to be unsuitable for managing the European Community on new lines.

It is with some enthusiasm or, at any rate, with some satisfaction that one notes that the emergency measures proposed by France will go through the European Economic Commission before being submitted to the Council of Ministers. Was not the Commission empowered to find a solution to these very difficult problems because the Council of Ministers could not solve them? To me it seems curious that, with respect to the concessions to be made to France, recourse should have been had to quotas for imports of

steel and textile products. If too much emphasis is placed on the quota system, this is liable to jam the sales machinery and make normal sales impossible.

With regard to technological co-operation, everyone is putting forward general opinions and sometimes proposals are submitted. There was an Italian proposal and there were the ESRO and ELDO proposals although the latter were on another level. Yet there is still no tangible result. We have allocated vast sums of money to the space development project but this money has not served any very useful purpose.

As regards electronic equipment, we do not even have the basic tools for co-operation. There is neither a "European-type" company nor a European law on patents. In this field there have been reports and opinions but nothing practical has emerged.

With regard to Euratom, the countries of Europe tend - when it suits them - to be as nationalistic as General de Gaulle even though some assert that he is the last nationalist in Europe.

All these facts deserve greater attention. We should find a policy line and, with regard to our country, we should get the chance to make a more important contribution.'

Mr. Ballet (Volksunie) felt it would serve no purpose to recall the trials recently experienced by the Common Market, particularly because of France's attitude: 'It is an irony of fate that France has had to be helped by the countries on which it thought to inflict financial damage by attacking the dollar and the pound. It is gratifying to note that these countries have defended the French franc and it is to be hoped that this gesture will give pause to the man who was, not long since, taking an inflexible and unreasonable attitude; this could lead to an integration going beyond the customs union of the 1st of July. Yet we are still a long way from a real economic union which, according to Chancellor Kiesinger, pre-supposes greater political unity. I hope that the Minister will pursue his plan for integration flexibly and diplomatically but at the same time with firmness.'

Speaking for the 'French-speaking and Walloon Party', Mr. Thiry felt that the Benelux union becomes a danger when it strays from the right path into the cultural, military, legal and political fields: 'The political aspect of the Benelux entity is seriously disturbing the Walloons and the people of Brussels. Indeed, what is involved is not a treaty between three parties of equal strength. There are 4 or 5 million French-speaking Belgians faced



with 15 million of their fellow-countrymen who speak Flemish and their Dutch neighbours who do not necessarily share their views on European policy.'

Mr. Harmel, Minister for Foreign Affairs, explained why, in recent months, he had laid stress on expanding and developing the Community: 'We were well aware that there was an obstacle that prevented the Six from opening negotiations to enlarge the Community right away; we knew that a way had to be found whereby, in spite of everything, progress could be made on the most important issues. Indeed, the development of European technology at present seems to be the most serious cause for the Community's leeway. We must go beyond the Treaty of Rome and try to revive the unification of Europe, I mean the political Europe, which was hard hit by the delays encountered in creating the economic Europe.

I have been very impressed by some texts; they amount to a charter of Belgium's commitment to solidarity with the other countries of Europe. Perhaps it is because the Treaty of Rome is the most recent of these that one often pauses at the preamble where it discusses European unification. May I remind you of the wording: "... determined to establish the foundations of an ever closer union among the European peoples; resolved by the establishment of this combination of resources to strengthen the safeguards of peace and liberty and calling upon the other peoples of Europe who share their ideal to join in their efforts ...".

Ten years earlier, in the Treaty of Brussels, which was amplified in 1954 by the Treaty of Paris and the Western European Union, we had commitments which we have not repudiated. The proof is that we met less than two days ago in Bonn in the Western European Union.

The Treaty of Brussels of 1948, amplified by the Treaty of Paris in 1954, has real substance. The 1948 agreements bound us not only with our Common Market partners but also with the United Kingdom and they were positive in character not only in their preamble but also in the very text of their articles.

The part of the preamble to this Treaty which is of interest to us reads:

"Resolved ... to promote the unity and to encourage the progressive integration of Europe ... the High Contracting Parties will so organize and co-ordinate their economic activities as to produce the best possible results, by the elimination of conflict in their economic policies, the co-ordination of

production and the development of commercial exchanges." Article 8 stipulates: "For the purposes of strengthening peace and security and of promoting unity and of encouraging the progressive integration of Europe and closer cooperation between them and with other European organizations, the High Contracting Parties to the Brussels Treaty shall create a Council to consider matters concerning the execution of this Treaty and of its Protocols and their Annexes."

I believe it is worthwhile referring to these two commitments to solidarity by saying that they should as soon as possible allow for development and extension in the two fields I referred to in the first part of my speech, i.e. the creation of a technological community with the other States that have applied for accession to the Treaty of Rome and progress in building a European political community. In these two ventures, namely developing technology and creating the political Europe, we believe that Europe can and must progress. We remain firmly attached to the accession procedure introduced by four States and if it depended only on ourselves, negotiations would begin at once. Yet we cannot wait until this obstacle is out of the way before trying, in spite of everything, to make headway.'

The budget for agriculture

A debate was held on this budget and questions of European policy were raised in many speeches.

Speaking in the Chamber on 9 July, Miss Devos (Christian Democrat) opened the debate by drawing attention to farm incomes: 'As far as Belgium is concerned, unit prices mean either a stabilization or a reduction and even a levelling off of farm incomes because production costs are increasing.

With particular reference to the price of milk, which is the main income of a very large number of family farms, Mr. Héger, the Minister, obtained the maximum result. It is doubtful, however, if it will be possible to maintain the present price of milk with the present intervention prices i.e. 88 francs for butter and 22 francs for skimmed milk in powder.

For every reduction of 10 centimes in the price of a litre of milk, there is a reduction in the income of farm workers of 3 francs an hour.

If the agricultural fund subsidy is abolished on 1 April 1969 for the quality milk bonus, the yield per litre of milk will fall again by between 8 and 9 centimes per litre.

We are faced with enormous agricultural surpluses and an imbalance on the world market; the expenditure of the EAGGF is liable to assume enormous proportions.

The common agricultural policy must be brought into line with the resolutions passed at the Stresa Conference in 1958; the prices and markets policy must go hand in hand with the structure policy. The former is liable to lead to the collapse of the world market. There is already a demand that the contributions to the EAGGF be radically limited yet there is no concern about the effect of this reduction on farm incomes or on Treaty of Rome commitments.

Apart from some minor achievements on structural policy, the European Commission has little to show here. Yet the modification of these structures was inevitable.

The EEC should have encouraged this modification by reference to an agreed plan, taking the market situation into account. We strongly oppose any structural modification based on price policy because this would be disadvantageous to the small enterprises which are unable to make the necessary adjustments within the prescribed period. In the case of these farms, there should be EAGGF subsidies to promote an increase in volume rather than a cessation of operations.

This fund should be earmarked for social concessions rather than for creating new production areas.

World agricultural surpluses are increasing all the time; yet so too is world hunger. The Kennedy Round gave some hope through the introduction of food aid for the developing countries.

If every country gave 1 per cent of its gross national product to help the developing countries, this would be a much greater contribution to world peace. It would, at the same time, solve a great many economic and agrarian problems. This is why I hope that international agreements will shortly be concluded on this subject.'

Like the other speakers, Mr. Danschutter (Socialist) congratulated Mr. Héger, the Minister for Agriculture, for the milk price concessions he had won on the Council of Ministers. He wanted, however, to have some explanation about the increase in expenditure that the agreement would involve. He thought that the difficulty in securing income parity for farmers stemmed from a rise in production costs and this, to a large extent, negated the productivity drive. Mr. Danschutter stressed a series of measures likely to better the position of the farmer: re-organizing distribution, making greater use of farming co-operatives, improving conditions for ceasing activity, overhauling the law on farm tenancies and discouraging speculation.

Mr. René Lefebvre (Liberal) felt the need to erase the impression that the Belgian budget for agriculture had gone up suddenly and markedly in 1968. The budget had varied little since the previous year. It did, however, include 309, 000m francs representing Belgium's contribution to the EAGGF. No doubt these amounts were not wholly profitable to Belgian agriculture. In fact the amounts paid to the EAGGF affected industry as well as agriculture for if there were no common agricultural market, there would not be a common market for industry either. Lastly, Mr. Lefebvre requested the Minister for Agriculture to give him details of the assets and liabilities involved in Belgium's participation in the EAGGF.

On 16 July 1968 the budget for agriculture was discussed by the Senate. Mr. Sledsens (Christian Democrat) said 'It is high time to stop repeating that agriculture involves too heavy a burden for the national community and that the costs involved are excessive in relation to the needs of the other branches of our economy. It is too often argued that the sums earmarked for the EAGGF and the Agricultural Fund bring no benefit to our agriculture or horticulture but only represent the political price that we must pay for participating in the economic integration of the Six. Since the Treaty of Rome came into force, we have nearly doubled our exports of farm produce. What is described as a political price is thus also profitable for Belgian agriculture. Our agriculture derives benefits from the expenditure of the Agricultural Fund. Even if there were no common agricultural policy, the expenditure would be the same if price levels and freedom to produce, which the EEC policy is aiming at, were to apply. It is true that our Community commitments make it harder to pursue a specifically national agricultural policy but one could draw the wrong conclusion.

It is, indeed, because of our commitments that we must enable our farmers and horticulturists to become more competitive in the Common Market. The next budget will have to reflect a greater concern for improving the production conditions, the basic services and farming structures.

The common policy for the fisheries was discussed by Mr. De Keyzer (Socialist): 'Draft regulations have been submitted to the Council as regards the common policies for structures and common regulations for the markets. There is no doubt that the Minister will strongly defend Belgian interests. I should like, however, to draw attention to one or two points. In the future negotiations, the concessions granted for ship conversions and for designing new types of vessels must be borne in mind.

The protectionist measures recently taken by France are a source of uncertainty and have led to major losses. We should negotiate with France preferably in the EEC framework because the Netherlands and West Germany are experiencing similar difficulties.'

Mr De Keyzer trusted that the possibilities open under the Belgian system for supporting the market would not be impaired by the future policy for the fisheries of the EEC.

Mr. Martens (Christian Democrat) discussed Belgium's participation in the EAGGF: 'The farmers have no cause for satisfaction at the results achieved because their incomes will fall or at best stay at the same level. The increase in appropriations for agriculture will not lead to any increase in farm incomes – which is a step backwards in comparison with other branches of the economy – and the net intervention of the EAGGF is the price that Belgium is paying for freeing trade in all goods within the EEC. It goes without saying that it is beneficial to agriculture but Belgium's contribution is more than proportionate to its GNP and its agricultural production.

I am not criticizing the Government for the concessions it was obliged to make. Nevertheless, it cannot describe the intervention of the EAGGF as being a gift to the Belgian farmers; nor can it argue that the increase in the EAGGF appropriation justifies any cut in the budget for agriculture. A very large proportion of this budget – approximately 4,000m francsis allocated in relation to the common policy. After deducting the expenditure of the EAGGF and the Agricultural Fund and consumption expenditure, the Minister will only have 2,000m francs left for the national agricultural policy; this is much too little.'

With regard to over-production, Mr. Martens stated: 'The EEC must learn to live with agricultural surpluses just as the US have done for 40 years. There is no doubt that the agricultural surpluses in the US have been a tremendous contribution to peace by attenuating world famine.

After the second world war the Americans achieved a considerable trade demand in Japan by applying the system of agricultural surpluses.

Have the Community authorities already envisaged similar steps? It is certainly wrong to suggest that there is no room for a welfare programme in the EEC, especially since the dairy surpluses do not amount to more than 3 or 4 per cent of production.'

Mr. Dupont (Christian Democrat), commenting on the dairy produce agreement under the common policy said: 'A press release of 28 May stated that the Community appropriation for the agricultural policy would amount to 630m u.a.

These 630m are not enough and they will not make it possible to reach the end of the year. The original estimate of 800m has already been over-shot by a long way; Mr. Mansholt is speaking in terms of 950m and perhaps of a 1,000m, i.e. 50,000m Belgian francs.

There are two alternatives: either we proceed with caution because the funds are insufficient and the price will fall below the support level or we carry on as before and think again when the funds are exhausted. I think it is the latter course which is being followed because it emerges from the press release referred to that once the 630m u.a. are exhausted, the problem will be re-examined as part of the general agricultural policy and possible measures will be considered. This in not very reassuring. I conclude from this that the price of 4.55 francs is not guaranteed for the whole year but only for the period up to the time when these 630m are exhausted. Does the Minister believe that the dairy industry will be able to pay the producer 4.55 francs if the price of butter is maintained? My answer is no. A major group of dairies has decided to reduce the price by 25 centimes. This measure could have a considerable effect.

With reference to the problem of agricultural structures, Mr.Dupont further stated that a structure policy effected through a price policy would necessarily be a bad one because it would force many farmers to give up farming.

Mr. Beauduin (Christian Democrat) said that too many people thought that Belgian agriculture was very expensive: 'Price stabilization and EAGGF interventions are beneficial to the farming and food industries as they are to all the enterprises serving agriculture. The importance of agriculture in our economy is self-evident.'

Mr. Beauduin then gave the reasons for a prefinancing of farm subsidies by the State: 'Over the last five years the Belgian allocation has amounted to 31m u.a. out of a theoretical overall total of 853m u.a. Yet the final figures for 1964/65 only show an advance of 60 per cent; the relevant figures for the subsequent year are 75 per cent and the estimated figure for 1966/67 is the same. The actual amount has, however, fallen to 22m u.a. and the real level of this is even lower because of the delay.'

Lastly the speaker looked into the question of overproduction: 'The Community dairy producers are criticized for producing surpluses amounting to 150,000 tons of butter and of emptying the EAGGF's treasury because of the export interventions. Yet the Community output of animal fats only covers 45 per cent of the total needs of the six countries. The remaining 55 per cent is covered by imports at what represent starvation prices for the producers. Economic dumping is thus being coupled with social dumping. In reality, the dairy surplus from the Community output is only a small proportion of the 45 per cent of the animal fats needs of the six countries.

The overall organization of this market remains the key to the problem and it is no longer permissible under these conditions to talk of overproduction. It is not the timid taxation measures envisaged which can be regarded as a start to solving the problem. This policy of taxation and quotas is legally based on the preferential clause which is laid down as the foundation of any common economic policy. This preference should not be regarded as applicable solely to animal fats but to the whole sector of fats including those of vegetable origin and to a degree consistent with the economic and social interests involved.

Mr. Roelants (Socialist) tackled the question of malpractice: 'A large proportion of the EAGGF resources has been wrongly used. There has been malpractice mainly in the dairy sector. Then again the "doctoring" of butter affects the level of butter stocks as it does the consumption of this product whose quality the public no longer trusts. We have, furthermore, no guarantee that butter in transit is actually exported. In January the Minister asked for an explanation about 17,000 tons of butter imported from the East European countries in 1966 and 1967 and re-exported to Italy via Switzerland after further processing in Belgium.

When asked what guarantee there was that this butter would be reexported, the Minister replied that the Community system of taxes on made-up products was so designed as to make exceptionable trade practices seem impossible. Yet it had been seen that such practices had been used to keep foreign butter in Belgium and to export other products. The Minister had also answered that legal and other difficulties needed to be overcome so that Belgian butter could be processed; these difficulties had now been dealt with. The fact remained that although the butter surpluses in the six countries had gone up from 81,900t (1962) to 152,300t, thousands of tons of butter had been imported into the EEC. Large sums of money were needed to stockpile this butter and doubts as to its quality had certainly not stimulated consumption. An internation regulation in the EEC was essential. "We have to ensure that sharp practice becomes impossible."

Mr. Stroobants (French-speaking, Walloon Group) asked that EAGGF assistance be forthcoming to modernize slaughter houses especially those where meat auctions were held. Mr. Demarneffe (Christian Democrat) endorsed this request. He was also concerned at the overproduction of fruit and vegetables: 'The amount of produce destroyed compared with total sales is negligible but the expense involved is what matters; this has partly been covered by the EAGGF. I would, none the less, point out that one should no more misuse EEC financial resources than one should misuse national financial resources.

Was there, in any case, a glut of fruit on the market? In September 1967, 1.9m kg. of apples were destroyed while 1.7m kg. were bought in France at higher prices. This proves that the situation is unsatisfactory when it comes to the way distribution and markets are organized.' Mr. Strivay (Liberal), said he could not understand the provision of a Community regulation which had induced the dairies to make a reduction of 25 centimes as from 1 August in the price paid to producers for a litre of milk.

In reply to speakers in the Chamber of representatives, Mr. Héger, Minister for Agriculture, stated that the price of BF 4.55 for milk was not a guaranteed price but a guide price: 'Until a short time ago we, in Belgium, were the only ones to obtain this price through subsidies. When there are no more subsidies we shall no longer be able to insist on the payment of the guide price but we hope that the dairies will pay producers this price and that healthy competition will prove profitable.

The payment for milk by reference to quality which we used to make became impossible after 1 April 1968 because there was no compensation. As a result of joint discussions, we obtained the right to continue these payments without compensation on condition that they were phased out to achieve a real

compensation by 1 January 1969. We hope that by that time the new milk regulation will have been issued because this will allow for payments by reference to quality.

Payment for quality is made through the Agricultural Fund. The budget will have to regularize this expenditure.'

Speaking in the Senate, the Minister was surprised and disconcerted by the announcement of a cut in the price of milk paid to producers. 'It would, however, have been easy for those concerned to tell me about this directly in one of the many meetings I held in my office with representatives of the professional farming association.

We are obviously going through a difficult period because we are changing over from one system to another. In August we shall even have a reduction in the price of butter which will be offset by an intervention at the production level. Some measures have been, moreover, taken to help those concerned to apply the Community decisions. What Mr. Strivay has told us is serious. Obviously if I were asked if all butter should be sold at an intervention price and if all skimmed milk should attract an intervention I should say "no". There are in fact examples of this kind, notably cereals. With regard to the dairies to which Mr. Strivay referred, however, what matters is whether this is a deliberate policy designed to jeopardize what we are trying to create in the Community. Perhaps, too, it is a question of a product for which there is no buyer on the national market.

I know that this is a difficult problem which calls for a period of adjustment. With regard to cheese, we had difficulties following the decisions taken by one of our neighbours. This led to less cheese being produced and more butter being made, and this called for additional interventions. If I were today to meet my colleagues in the Community, I should ask for an additional credit for the milk sector for three reasons: (a) the deterioration in market prices; (b) the increase in the production of butter at the expense of cheese and (c) an increase of nearly 2 per cent in the national production compared with the 1 per cent we estimated when we drew up our budget. At that time the butter surplus was estimated at 150,000 tons but stocks will soon reach 250,000 tons!

We must be able to rely on the goodwill of all to set the Common Market in motion. The State cannot do everything! It cannot guarantee a price but it can allow for the maximum valorization of quality products. The milk quality bonus, incidentally, which should have been abolished on 1 April 1968 will continue until 1 April 1969 provided that it is phased out.'

With reference to the problem of farm structures, Mr. Héger stated: 'Community structures have to be overhauled. I believe that the idea of a Community plan for structures is now out of date. Those who drew them up intended to increase the productivity of land whereas today we are faced with the problem of surpluses.

Our whole attention should now be devoted to relating production to markets. More quality meat, for example, and less milk needs to be produced. The principles which are valid in industry are also valid for the agricultural sector. Efforts should be concentrated on means to direct production as desired and on the regions where these means could be most satisfactorily used.

In the weeks ahead and as part of the review of the common agricultural policy which normally takes place at the end of the year, these problems will have to be viewed as a whole. This review will have to be a comprehensive one. We have always refused to follow those who wished us to pursue a policy of restrictions regarding milk production because we thought, on the contrary, that we should follow identical rules until the problems had been reviewed as a whole.'

The Minister agreed that Belgium's contribution to the EAGGF was a heavy burden: 'But it is valid for the whole of our economy. If it is not set at 8 per cent, this is because our country exports industrial products. We should not, however, make the opposite error of believing that our contribution to the EAGGF is of no interest to our farms. The truth lies halfway between. For 1966/67 the net contribution of our country to the guarantee section of the EAGGF was 584m. For 1967/68, our contribution to the total expenditure of the EAGGF will amount to 6,319m, whereas Belgium's expenditure to be reimbursed will be around 4,945m. Is it not therefore wrong to assert that our agriculture is no longer involved?

It is wrong to consider that there is necessarily a policy of return in the EAGGF. Indeed no country can get back what it pays into this fund. With regard to land improvement, some countries are better provided for than others. It is therefore reasonable that not every country receives exactly what it pays.'

(Verbatim report; 4, 9 and 11 July)

2. Signing of the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty

Following the signing by Belgium on 20 August 1968 of the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons, the Belgian Ministry for Foreign Affairs issued an official statement to the press outlining the problems raised by the provisions of the Euratom Treaty.

At European level Belgium had seen to it that the non-proliferation treaty would not hinder either what had already been achieved or future progress in the construction and unification of Europe.

The aims pursued by the non-proliferation treaty and by Euratom did not clash in any way. As to the guarantees afforded by the treaty, this merely referred to agreements to be concluded with the International Atomic Energy Agency in Vienna. To ensure that application of the non-proliferation treaty would be compatible with compliance with the provisions of the Euratom Treaty, these guarantees ought to be defined in such a way that the rights and obligations of Community member States were preserved intact, in accordance with the Opinion submitted by the Commission under Article 103 of the Euratom Treaty.

With this in view, the Commission of the European Communities ought to enter into negotiations with the International Atomic Energy Agency.

The Belgian Government did not intend to go ahead with the ratification of the non-proliferation treaty before the negotiations between the Commission and the Agency had led to an agreement.

(Le Soir, 21 August 1968)

3. Mr. Harmel, Belgian Foreign Minister, tours the WEU capitals (6 August - 18 September 1968)

Mr. Harmel, Belgian Foreign Minister, made a tour of the Western European Union capitals in his private capacity to discuss current European issues with the other foreign ministers or heads of government prior to putting forward a plan for the furtherance of European integration at the next WEU meeting.

On 6 August he was in Paris where he was entertained to lunch by Mr. Debré. Following this working luncheon, Mr. Harmel stated: 'We devoted a great deal of time to European problems and the prospects for Europe were discussed on both sides with great frankness.'

On 3 September, Mr. Harmel was received in Luxembourg by Mr. Grégoire, the Foreign Minister of the Grand-Duchy. A press release issued after the talks read: 'The policies of our two Governments are identical both as regards developing and enlarging the Communities and in respect of European problems generally.'

On 9 September, Mr. Harmel met his German opposite number, Mr. Brandt, in Bonn. 'In the course of the general discussions we considered possibilities of paving the way for an enlargement of the Community', said a spokesman for the Foreign Office at the close of the talks between the two Foreign Ministers. 'Mr. Brandt referred to the German proposals for a trade arrangement which should help facilitate Britain's later accession.Mr. Harmel, however, doubted whether France could be won over to the German proposals.'

On 12 and 13 September, Mr. Harmel was in Rome where he met Mr. Medici, Italian Foreign Minister and currently President of the EEC Council of Ministers. The communiqué released after the talks stated that: 'The two Ministers and their Ambassadors in the respective capitals and their principal officials had a detailed discussion centering on the European situation and the problems of the Common Market. They were in full agreement on the urgency of making every effort with a view to overcoming obstacles to Europe's integration and to enlarging the Community; this had been made clearer and its necessity underlined by recent events in Central Europe.'

Lastly, on 18 September Mr. Harmel arrived in London where he paid a brief personal visit to Mr. Stewart, British Foreign Secretary and Mr. Wilson, Prime Minister.

Mr. Harmel had, like Mr. Stewart, just returned from Bucharest so that the talks focused both on the problems of East-West relations and those of uniting Europe. Apart from very slight differences of approach, they thought alike in committing themselves closely and fully to NATO at the strategical level. As for Britain's accession to the Common Market, the Belgian and British attitudes had changed only in becoming more forthright, a change rendered imperative for the United Kingdom by reason of circumstances.

(Le Monde, 6 August 1968; Bulletin de documentation, Ministère d'Etat du Luxembourg, N° 8, 3 September 1968; Le Soir, 10 September 1968; Il Popolo, 14 September 1968; Le Soir, 19 September 1968; The Times, 19 September 1968)

4. Statement by Mr. Lefèvre on European technological problems

In July 1968, Mr. Théo Lefèvre, Belgian Minister for Science Policy and Planning was entrusted with a fact-finding mission to the ELDO (European Launcher Development Organization) member States. The object of the enquiry was to ascertain whether the participating countries were ready to continue with a research programme involving a reduction in the volume of work and a change in the scale of the tasks entrusted to the States concerned.

Addressing the Catholic Management Association in Antwerp on 24 September 1968, Mr. Lefèvre criticized the present approach to international co-operation on science. In essence he said that Belgium was making an annual contribution of BF 1,000m to international programmes. This was a very heavy burden and if there were no substantial benefit, it was a costly luxury which the taxpayer could do without. This concern was at present justified in this instance. The United Kingdom, which took pride in its advocacy of a wide European technological community, had not hesitated to withdraw from certain projects. It was to leave ELDO in 1972 and would not be associated with the envisaged enlargement of CERN (European Nuclear Research Centre). The European countries had got together for the purposes of scientific research but as soon as it had come to exploiting the results industrially or commercially, Belgium's major partners had opted, each on their own account and to the extent of their means, for pursuing their own national programmes. The present system led to internationalization of costs and a nationalization of profits - which were highly promising in the sectors

using advanced technology. Under these conditions, Belgium could hardly hope for more than the rôle of a sub-contractor for its larger partners.

Mr. Lefèvre then outlined his budget for 1969 with regard to the credit earmarked for the science policy. This would show an increase of approximately 15 per cent over 1968 and total BF 11, 700m. The only sector in which science would suffer a cut would be that of international co-operation, where the allocation would be below 7 per cent, as compared with 8.5 per cent in 1968.

At the end of the ELDO Ministerial meeting held in Paris on 1 October 1968, Mr. Lefèvre told the press of his impressions of the atmosphere surrounding 'Europe and space'; he said: 'The difficulties we are now experiencing in ELDO are simply a localized manifestation of a more widespread phenomenon: a calling into question of the methods, institutions and programmes for scientific and technological co-operation which we drew up together 10 years ago.

The faults in our institutions for co-operation in this context, the hazards to which they expose us and the failures to which they lead are, in fact, the consequence of the lack of liaison between research programmes and the problems of structure and market size.

It is at this level, which is very far-reaching, that the core of our difficulties is to be found and it is at this level that we must try to deal with them if there is still time

I am fully convinced that technological co-operation will not progress and expand in Europe unless we change the methods and the bodies responsible for this co-operation, so that they do effectively serve the industrial progress of this continent and unless each participating State has an assurance that it will reap some economic benefits from its contribution.

This presupposes introducing more unity into our programmes, our institutions and the research budget and it also requires that we take the principle of solidarity beyond the stage of research and development to that of production and the commercialization of results. It will therefore not be in trying to find some expedient solution in the present context - which is,

moreover, impossible at present - that we shall lastingly and without too much risk be able to satisfy the essential concerns which should be those of "Europe and space".'

(De Standaard, 25 September 1968; Le Soir, 25 September and 3 October 1968)

France

1. European problems are discussed during the debates on the Government's policy statement made by Mr. Couve de Murville (17-18 July)

At the National Assembly

When the National Assembly debated the government policy statement on 17 July (1), Mr. Michel Habib-Deloncle (Union for the Defence of the Republic) addressed the Prime Minister in these terms: 'I would congratulate you on opting, as the previous Government did, for first honouring our commitments despite the crisis; but I would beg you to go further.

Do not let Europe be stolen from you. You are accused of being less European than our partners; you are accused of being less European than some in France. Put everyone on the defensive by assuming the offensive yourself. Propose to them that we should achieve a "social Europe" not only by proceeding at once to the harmonization of taxation systems, social burdens, social security systems, the length of the working week, retirement age, family allowances and assistance to the old-aged to make these comparable throughout the Community but also and above all by making a European enterprise out of the principle of participation.

This idea is one that will meet with a greater response outside France than might at first be imagined. Several years ago Germany entered on this course for certain enterprises. Systems of participation also exist in the Netherlands. It is not a problem which concerns us alone. Did not General de Gaulle say that the great question of the century was how to find a human balance for civilization and for the modern industrial society?

How could we imagine that the "great question of the century" is limited to our own country? And who can answer this, except Europe? It is Europe which must answer the question of this century and which must, there too, find an exemplary answer and it must do so at France's initiative.

It is well known that to find an answer to this question the President of the Republic referred to three possible alternatives:

⁽¹⁾ O.G., National Assembly, Debates, 17 July 1968

- 1. the Communist answer, which is represented, above all, by the USSR;
- 2. the capitalist answer, of which we have a living model before our eyes... in the society of the United States, and
- 3. who, better than the Europeans, could form the humanist society of which we dream?

In reply to several speakers, Mr. Maurice Couve de Murville, Prime Minister, stated: 'I would refer to a last general point, that of European policy. Here I have no complexes because I have now been close to this problem for ten years and I think I have been very active and assiduous in attending to it; I believe I have done something concrete as regards the uniting of Europe.

I would add, as I have often said, that if the political Europe does not now exist - and Mr. Fabre said this could console us for the disappointments of the Common Market - it is really not the fault of France, which has frequently proposed it. I would, in passing, remind you of this. In any event, I would repeat, we intend to continue pursuing the European policy.'

On the following day, when the amended finance bill for 1968 was being discussed (1), Mr. Roland Boscary-Monsservin (Independent Republican) outlined the agricultural policy of his party in the following terms:

'It has taken us ten years to arrive at common regulations for organizing the markets and setting prices. Over the last ten years, circumstances have often been in our favour. We have often caused the French view to prevail or at least the compromises reached have to a very large extent stemmed from the views which we have put forward. The Common Market has opened up a market of 200m inhabitants for French production; it has at the same time created a particularly effective stimulus.

It is quite clear that if it were mainly ourselves who called for a revision of the common agricultural policy, as so far established, our partners would submit numerous counter-claims and I am in no way convinced that the climate would now be more favourable to us than it was before as regards reaching a successful conclusion over again.

Lastly, I think that any attempt to refashion the regulations that have already been passed would be fraught with dangers for our agriculture.

⁽¹⁾ O.G., National Assembly, Debates, 18 July 1968

Since we have stressed the connexion between implementing the common regulations and the crisis affecting some products and some regions, it is our duty to take our analysis a stage further and I, for my part, conclude that the common agricultural policy constitutes an entity of which we have unfortunately so far only completed a small fraction.

It is true that we have organized markets and set prices; but the common agricultural policy also means harmonizing structures; it also - and above all - means an intra-community policy for trade whose introduction would require wide-open frontiers and the removal of all obstacles, even those disguised as health regulations.'

'I also think one cause for the crisis is the fact that when the markets were organized at the community level and when prices were set, they had to be set off against the principle of regionalization on which both national and Community efforts were focused.

The common policy, with all it implies in terms of unity, will only be valid if it is counter-balanced, if this paradox may be permitted, by a consolidation of the principle of the region, with all that this implies.

For us Independent Republicans, therefore, our policy is very clear: whatever the present crisis, we must not go back nor must we even suggest a fresh look at measures previously taken at the European level. On the contrary, we must proceed at once to the final measures because the common policy will only be valid when it is applied in its entirety. It will, moreover, be essential to couple it with a thorough regional policy, in implementing which all those concerned should be closely associated, bearing in mind the concern to open them up, to which the Prime Minister gave expression yesterday.

In the Senate

On 17 July, during the debate in the Senate on the Government's policy statement, Mr. André Colin (Democratic Party of the Centre) said: 'No reference has been made to European solidarity, which has, however, recently been manifest in the form of help for the French economy in its recovery drive. You decided to abide by the 1 July deadline and not to oppose opening frontiers in the Common Market. You have, at the same time, unilaterally taken measures to safeguard some branches of the French economy which are under particular threat. Despite this, you have not only been received with friendship and understanding but you have above all in the immediate

past been greeted with evidence of solidarity and of the will to lend support to the common future which now unites the peoples of Europe. This solidarity goes as far as to envisage the intervention of the European Social Fund in the French Government's initiatives to attenuate what are called imbalances in the sphere of employment.

It would appear that in this way the Europe of the peoples is coming into being and making itself manifest. Are you, therefore, seizing this opportunity and using it to its best advantage, going again to take up an idea which is new and which does not age, despite your shilly-shallying and opposition, are you going again to take up the new idea of building the United States of Europe, which will give our country and our continent a chance to achieve progress and true greatness?

Through all the great changes in the offing and where the fate of man is at stake, at a time when the outlines of a new civilization are being sketched out, it is on this level that we must envisage them, at the level of an outward-looking Europe, powerful in its influence, its cohesion, its chances of progress, so that it may, in the great adventure which is before us, have every chance of success, for it is the great adventure of democratic humanism.

(Official Gazette, Senate, 18 July 1968)

2. Mr. Debré's talks with Mr. Brandt

After receiving Mr. Medici, the Italian Foreign Minister, on 29 August, Mr. Michel Debré received his German opposite number, Mr. Willy Brandt, in the Quai d'Orsay on 9 September; this visit was under the Franco-German Treaty whereby meetings of this kind are held every three months.

The Franco-German talks were referred to by Mr. Debré in an interview on French television when he stated: 'The August events, that is to say the Soviet intervention in Czechoslovakia, were bound, quite apart from their effect on the whole of Europe to change the emphasis of this meeting. It was in the nature of things that this should have been one of the main topics at our meeting.'

'Do I need to add', Mr. Debré went on, 'that the way in which the French and German Governments envisage Europe's future is governed by the concern to establish co-operation in keeping with the desire for peace of both countries. This common resolve shows that, despite certain differences in our ways of looking at immediate issues, the basis of our discussions is, quite frankly, our common desire to see to it that France and Germany broadly follow the same course from now on.'

(Le Figaro, 9 September 1968)

3. Speech by Mr. Michel Debré, French Foreign Minister to the Diplomatic Press Association

Entertained to lunch by the French Diplomatic Press Association, Mr. Michel Debré discussed the two principles underlying French democratic action since the beginning of the Fifth Republic: independence and solidarity.

'The freedom to which France reserves the right offends no one, but is very well suited to international co-operation.'

He said that although France's joining the Common Market stemmed from obvious material interests, it also derived from France's awareness of living in the age of larger groupings.

Mr. Debré stressed the need to create the conditions for European independence. As for the methods needed to achieve this aim, he laid emphasis on the rôle that fell to the States in terms of initiative and authority and he discussed the prospect of enlarging the Communities. On this point French policy had not changed. This still consisted in 'not letting go of the substance in favour of the shadow', in 'not leaping into the unknown' and in 'not calling into question what has been achieved'. In plainer language, this meant upholding the refusal to accept the British application because Britain, in the eyes of Mr. Debré, constituted a danger to European independence. This was not stated expressly but there was a strong underlying suggestion to this effect.

Going on to deal with East-West relations, Mr. Debré condemned the Soviet intervention in Czechoslovakia; he said that a deadly shadow had been cast over the détente which threatened to resuscitate the old ghosts of the cold war. It was none the less vital to take advantage of any opportunity to change relations with the USSR; France had as many reasons, if not more, than the USA for wanting to do so. The way the détente had to be achieved was through an early withdrawal of the Soviet occupation troops.

Mr. Debré touched briefly on other points of French policy: Vietnam, the Middle East, Nigeria and Quebec. With reference to the Atlantic Alliance, he said France would stand by the Atlantic Pact unless - as General de Gaulle had said in 1966 - there were any events which changed the fundamental emphasis of East-West relations. He said that the events in question were not those that had occured in Czechoslovakia.

(Le Monde, Le Figaro, 17 September 1968)

United Kingdom

1. The German Minister for Economic Affairs visits London

On 28 August 1968, Mr. Schiller, Economic Affairs Minister, went to London for political discussions.

The friendly atmosphere which surrounded the visit was generally welcomed in London as a sign of the present excellent Anglo-German cooperation. In its leader of 27 August, 'The Times' observed that the special relationship which was perhaps now being established between Mr. Jenkins and Professor Schiller could serve a similar purpose to that which had obtained between Mr. Jenkins's predecessor, Mr. Callaghan and the former American Secretary of State, Mr. Fowler.

Naturally enough, the talks focussed mainly on economic and monetary questions. There were, however, two points on the informal agenda which related directly to political problems. The two ministers discussed the present state of the Common Market and its future enlargement; at this latter discussion, Lord Chalfont, Minister of State at the Foreign Office with special responsibility for European questions, was also present.

As Professor Schiller pointed out at a press conference, the Federal Republic would, in the autumn, make a new effort to intensify and enlarge the EEC; before flying to London he had discussed this with Chancellor Kiesinger and the German Foreign Minister. He wanted above all to give a political content to the German proposal for a trade agreement between Britain and the Common Market.

The Britisch Government was no longer as hostile as previously to the German plan for a gradual rapprochement between the applicant States and the EEC. It expected, however, that such a proposal should come not from the German Government alone but from all the Six member States.

This was the impression that Mr. Schiller took away from his London talks with Lord Chalfont. So far the British Government had always stuck to the idea of full membership, rejecting any possibility of an interim solution. The corresponding implications of its present decision could, therefore, only gain in significance.

Lastly the Ministers discussed the general international situation in the light of recent events in Czechoslovakia. There was full agreement on the need to strengthen the Western Alliance although it was also felt that an attempt should be made to go further with the policy of détente. The German proposal for a meeting of the Alliance at the highest level was not discussed with Lord Chalfont, but Mr. Schiller voiced the serious concern of the German Government that the EEC and NATO should be consolidated. Recent events should lead to a revival of the European spirit.

```
(Industriekurier, 29 August 1968;
Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 29 August 1968;
The Times, 27 August 1968)
```

2. Anglo-Dutch talks in London

Dr. Joseph Luns, the Netherlands Foreign Minister, had talks in London on August 30 with Mr. Michael Stewart, the Foreign Secretary.

At a press conference Dr. Luns said that public opinion and most of the governments of the Common Market felt that events in Czechoslovakia and the changed situation in Central Europe were underlining the necessity of making progress in the process of unifying Western Europe. He had told Mr. Stewart that the Benelux plan for close and regular consultation between Britain and the Six, on a British entry into the Common Market, would be brought back into the political forefront. He noted that so far there had been no indication in Paris that the French Government had changed its position.

```
(The Times, 31 August 1968;
The Guardian, 31 August 1968)
```

Italy

1. The Italian Parliament's debate on European policy

The two houses of the Italian Parliament discussed problems relating to Europe.

Mr. Leone, President of the Council, outlining his Government's programme, stressed that although Italy was in favour of the non-proliferation treaty it considered that the treaty should not lead to any discrimination, in the field of research for peaceful purposes, between the nuclear powers and those who did not wish to assume that status.

Italy, he said, would easily have been able to become a nuclear power, but it had preferred to use the relevant resources for the purposes of peace and civilization.

Europe, he added, would not succeed in fulfilling the great hopes raised by the Treaties of Rome unless the customs union led to a true economic union; this would be possible if progress, however gradual, were made towards political union.

The Europe that Italy wanted had to be united, democratic and open to other States of Europe which accepted its principles, particularly the United Kingdom, which still appeared an integral part of the Continent. The Government was aware of the value of elections by direct universal suffrage of the representatives of the European Parliament to enhance its democratic character. In the meantime, the Government pointed out that the policy it had announced could help promote agreements between parties as this would give the widest possible expression to the political forces represented in Parliament.

Mr. Fanfani, President of the Senate, and Mr. Pertini, President of the Chamber of Deputies, respectively stated that their institutions would renew the representations to the European Parliament after the summer recess.

Senator Nencioni, endorsing the statements made by the President of the Council, said that the Italian Social Movement (neo-Fascist) was opposed

to the non-proliferation treaty not because of its ultimate objective but because its Article 3 implied an unacceptable control - through an international association, the International Atomic Energy Authority - over all the economic, political and military activities of the countries. This control was unacceptable on legal and constitutional grounds because Article 11 of the Constitution agreed to restrictions on sovereignty where these were necessary to establish an order of peace and justice between nations but only on conditions of equality with the other States; these conditions did not obtain under the control provided for in the non-proliferation treaty.

In reply, Mr. Medici, the Foreign Minister, said the Government was confident that there was no legal inconsistency between this treaty and Article 11 of the Constitution. This point, however, was being carefully examined and the Government would return to it when the law of ratification was discussed in Parliament.

Italy, he said, had stated in the General Assembly of the UN that it was ready to sign the treaty in the conviction that it was consistent with the Euratom Treaty and that nothing in it would impede the unification of Western Europe.

In the statement referred to, note was taken of the assurance given by the delegations involved in drafting the treaty that there would be no obstacle to the freedom of scientific and technological research and that the prohibitions in the treaty would relate solely to explosive nuclear devices which did not differ from nuclear weapons; hence when technological progress made such a distinction possible, explosive nuclear devices used for peaceful purposes would no longer be required. The Italian Government also made known its opinion that the controls should be applied to all exports of nuclear materials whatever their destination, including the 'nuclear' States.

In the Euratom context, the Government had proposed Community consultations about the non-proliferation treaty. Here Italy would like to see the controls applied on the basis of an agreement between Euratom and the International Atomic Energy Authority. As for the Commission, the Minister repeated that it had laid down two conditions to ensure the two treaties were fully compatible: the first was that the member States should make signature dependent on a reservation that the entry into force of Article 3 should be geared to an agreement concluded between Euratom and the IAEA of the United Nations; the second was that the member States should withhold depositing the instruments of ratification until a satisfactory agreement was concluded with the IAEA or until other measures having similar effect were taken.

The Italian representative at the Ministerial Session of the Atlantic Council noted that the non-proliferation treaty did not constitute an obstacle to co-operation between the NATO partners in the field of nuclear planning. The Soviet Union had been informed of this interpretation. Lastly, Mr. Medici recalled that the American Secretary of State had told the US Senate that the treaty was not tied to the problem of European unification and would not prevent the accession of a new and federal State of Europe to nuclear status, nor indeed that of any one of its component States. The new Federal European State would have to have control over all its external security functions including defence and foreign policy matters relating to external security.

Mr. Scelba returned to this argument pointing out that the treaty reduced rather than eliminated the risks of nuclear war; he pointed to the disparity between nuclear and non-nuclear powers which was justifiable in view of the highest aim of peace which was envisioned. This disparity, however, had not to be extended beyond the scope covered by the treaty and it would be inconsistent with the treaty itself if any attempt were made by the nuclear powers to perpetuate this disparity or to give it expression in forms or measures which were not necessarily needed to pursue the ends in view. In this connexion, the power of the non-nuclear nations which grouped 2,000m people should be used to impose disarmament on the nuclear powers within the shortest time possible, in compliance with their own commitment.

Mr. Scelba then pointed out that there had been some criticisms of the treaty. It was argued, for example, that the treaty was illogical: if the two big powers wished to eliminate the risks of a nuclear war they should start on disarmament for this would greatly facilitate non-proliferation in the world. This argument was not without foundation even though the two big powers have announced proposals which could be a decisive step towards nuclear disarmament. A further objection had to do with the negative effect that the non-proliferation treaty could have on the process of political integration in Europe. This was - some argued - because there could be no political unity without a common defence in Europe and this necessarily implied nuclear weapons. In reality, therefore, the treaty would have the effect of preventing European political integration. This argument was not justified firstly because the treaty had originated from a vote of the United Nations Assembly and it was inconceivable that the UN should attempt to impede European unity and secondly because the signatories to the treaty included the United States and the United Kingdom which both had a great interest in this unity. Mr. Scelba went on to say that the process of political unification in Europe had been held up for reasons quite different from the treaty, and for as long as France's present attitude lasted, there would be no immediate prospect of unity. Under these circumstances it would be unreasonable to reject the immediate and definite benefits of the treaty for what still appeared to be a distant prospect.

Mr. Scelba then went on to consider the reasonable concern that the first drafts of the treaty had occasioned with reference to Euratom. The final version took this concern into account and provided for the possibility of negotiations between the IAEA and Euratom concerning controls. The actual form of controls laid down in Article 3 of the treaty raised problems that had still not been solved; there was also the question of what would happen if the negotiations between the two bodies were not successfully concluded on schedule. The speaker concluded by saying that the reservations of the Commission of the Communities were therefore justified and that the Minister for Foreign Affairs endorsed these reservations.

(Senate of the Republic - Summary Minutes, 5, 18 and 25 July 1968; Chamber of Deputies - Summary Minutes, 5 July 1968)

2. Statement in the Senate by Mr. Sedati, Minister for Agriculture, on the common agricultural policy

Speaking in a debate in the Senate, Mr. Sedati pointed out that the financial relationship between Italy and the EAGGF, which had been showing a deficit, had undergone an appreciable improvement so that Italy was now showing a credit balance. Going on to discuss the effects of the common policy on Italian agriculture, he stressed the gradual adjustment to the new European reality. Referring to the difficult conditions surrounding stock-breeding in Italy and the consequent difficulties for integrating them fully within the Community area, Mr. Sedati said that all the regulations in force represented a system in which the market prices tended to approximate to the pre-set levels. With regard to milk, there was the problem of surplus which was affecting the whole Community, but the Italian delegation had striven to restrict the relevant financial burdens stemming from this overproduction to the surplus-producing countries.

Turning to the problems of the structure policy, he observed that in the theory and practice of the common policy, action on the market had to go hand in hand with action affecting structures; he said that a prices policy was also necessary to avoid any deterioration in the position of farmers in relation to other economic operators and to ensure that agriculture, where longer time intervals were needed, developed under stable market conditions. Hence the importance of adequately adjusting the structures to daily realities was laid down as a first principle of the agricultural policy.

The Minister then rejected suggestions made in some quarters that the common agricultural policy had a bias towards self-sufficiency; he stressed that these were disapproved by the appreciable increase in trade between Italy on the one hand and Russia, Poland and Yugoslavia on the other.

He then spoke of the destruction effected by the AIMA (State concern for subsidizing the agricultural market) of substantial quantities of agricultural products. He said that this company had been forced to destroy foodstuffs like cauliflowers and oranges because of their perishable nature and because of the transport difficulties involved in ensuring they could be consumed at once. This was, however, exceptional because normally the produce taken over by the AIMA was used for assistance purposes and in the manufacture of alcohol, in animal foodstuffs or for ordinary foodstuffs purposes.

(Senato della Repubblica, Summary Minutes, 25 July 1968)

Luxembourg

The Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons

The press and information service of the Luxembourg Government has issued the following communiqué:

'On 14 August 1968 the Luxembourg Ambassadors in London, Washington and Moscow signed, on behalf of the Government, the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons (TNP) and the agreement on the rescue and return of astronauts.

As regards the TNP, the Luxembourg Government does not consider that the aims pursued by this treaty and the Euratom treaty clash in any way.

The guarantees afforded by Article 3 of the TNP will be made the subject of agreements to be concluded with the International Atomic Energy Agency (I.A.E.A.).

To ensure that application of the TNP will be compatible with compliance with the provisions of the Euratom Treaty, these guarantees ought to be defined in such a way that the rights and obligations of Community member States are preserved intact, in accordance with the Opinion submitted by the Commission under Article 103.

With this in view, the Commission of the European Communities ought to enter into negotiations with the I.A.E.A.

The Government does not intend to go ahead with the ratification of the TNP before the negotiations between the Commission and the I.A.E.A. have led to an agreement.

(Bulletin de documentation, Ministère d'Etat du Grand-Duché de Luxembourg, No 8, 30 September 1968)

Netherlands

1. <u>Discussions held by parliamentary committees on the Community policy for dairy produce</u>, beef and veal

The Standing Committees for Agriculture, Economic Affairs and Finance held a joint meeting with the Ministers for Agriculture and Economic Affairs on 11 June to discuss the agreements concluded by the EEC Council on the common policies for dairy produce, beef and veal.

Mr. Lardinois, Minister for Agriculture, reported on the Council Session held in Brussels on 29 May. He pointed out that while the agreement reached still did not mean that there was a full-scale market for dairy produce, it was a major step towards a common market for these products and for beef and yeal.

He also pointed out that the Council had agreed about levying a tax on vegetable fats and oils. The tax on vegetable primary products used in making margarine, whether these were imported or produced in the EEC would mean that the Community would be able to enjoy its own resources for the tax would yield an estimated 87.5m a.u. annually. The Council had thus acted on its 1963 resolution to introduce a tax of this nature. Since the European Parliament had no budgetary rights, the resolution had been relegated to the background. The Council noted that implementing this decision would lead to some measure of budgetary competence being extended to the European Parliament. The Minister pointed out that the tax had its basis in Article 201 of the EEC Treaty and not in Article 43; this meant that before these levies could be applied, they had to be passed by the six national parliaments.

Mr. Lardinois pointed out that the Dutch Government had never been very strongly predisposed to the introduction of this tax and had always stated that it would only give its approval if certain budgetary rights were, at the same time, extended to the European Parliament.

The Minister said that no decision had yet been reached by the Council on the longer-term policy to improve the balance between production and markets. This issue was closely bound up with the whole agricultural policy and with the policy for structures.

In reply to a question from the meeting as to whether it was legitimate to speak of 'enhanced' budgetary powers for the European Parliament, the Minister replied in the affirmative; indeed, the Assembly had a nucleus of budgetary responsibilities, albeit limited ones. The Council, however, had not yet ruled on how this budgetary right was to assume practical shape. The Council said it was for the European Commission to draw up proposals for this purpose, which the Council would then examine.

In reply to a further question from a member of the Committee as to whether the budgetary right involved setting the amount of the tax - a reference to the tax on margarine - another member of the Committee recalled that, under the Dutch constitution, the law on budgets included all public expenditure; setting these amounts was a matter for the law, as was the allocation of resources. It was also important in this context to note that taxes could only be charged pursuant to a law, which did not necessarily mean that the law on budgets must incorporate this specific feature anywhere else.

The Minister then pointed out that the income from the tax on margarine would not be particularly earmarked for financing the policy on dairy produce.

A fairly exhaustive discussion followed on the statement by the German delegation on the margarine tax. The Minister again stressed that, from the Dutch point of view, no need was felt to confirm the 1964 resolution. He asked whether the German delegation had the right to state that it was not obliged to refer the charging of this tax to the national parliament. Indeed, it was a question here of the Community's own resources, under Article 201 of the EEC Treaty. The Minister thought that the German Government wished to reserve the right not to let the burden of this tax rest on the consumer.

In reply to a question from a member of the Committee, the Minister then pointed out that, as regards financing, the Community policy as a whole could not be based on the guidance provisions laid down in the EEC Treaty. This, of course, also applied to the more detailed measures still to be taken; these would obviously have to fit in with the common agricultural policy as a whole.

The Minister for Finance pointed out that he thought it would be desirable for the other Finance Ministers to participate in the discussions as soon as possible. The Government should attach special importance to the financial implications of the common agricultural policy.

The Minister for Economic Affairs was asked whether the planned margarine tax was consistent with the resolutions passed by UNCTAD II and he replied that the relevant resolution went back to 1964 and was only now confirmed. He also acknowledged that this resolution was not entirely consistent with the recommendations of that Conference; hence the Dutch had objected to this tax from the beginning but, bearing in mind the need to reach a valid result on the Council, the Dutch delegation had finally assented to the resolution, subject to the reservation referred to.

(Report of an oral debate on the EEC agreement of 29 May 1968 on the common policy for dairy produce, beef and veal - 1967-68 session, Doc. 9668, 2 July 1968)

2. The Standing Committee for Trade Policy makes a statement concerning Britain's accession to the EEC and East-West relations

On 22 August, the Standing Committee for Trade Policy made an oral review of some points of government policy.

The Minister for Economic Affairs began by observing that the French tactics of indefinitely adjourning Britain's accession, without provoking a crisis in the Community, had been perfectly successful. Despite a series of proposals from Italy, Germany and the Benelux countries, the only result of the Council's discussions on the applications to join the EEC had been to provoke disappointment and continually to curtail the basis for discussion. There was disappointment about the unsuccessful German attempts to arrive at a common standpoint of the Six, at the obvious failure to establish a common front for the Five and lastly the fact that the United Kingdom found itself driven back into an increasingly untenable position. With regard to the gradual curtailment of the basis for discussion, the situation following the most recent Council meetings was as follows: the Council was confronted with a kind of trade arrangement about which there was doubt on two points (i) if it were consistent with GATT requirements and (ii) if it were to be considered as a prelude to accession (Article 237).

The Dutch Government would maintain its stand that no trade arrangement should be proposed to the United Kingdom if it did not lead to accession and if it were not in line with Article XXIV of the GATT (abolition of trade restrictions for most commodities to be effected within a reasonable period according to a pre-arranged plan and schedule). For the moment it would seem that any trade regulation consistent with this requirement is out of the question;

consequently the Government would continue to try to obtain fresh support for the Benelux memorandum.

Although the United Kingdom had let it be known that it preferred the Benelux memorandum to the attempts at an arrangement made by the German Government, it had not given up trying to find a solution along these lines. At the EEC Council meeting of 30 May, the German delegation defined more explicitly its ideas for an arrangement. It would consist in a trade agreement based on Article XXIV of the GATT under which there would be an annual two-way cut in customs duties averaging 10 per cent during a first three-year phase; this would apply to the tariffs in force before the Kennedy Round and it would leave open the possibilities of a limited number of exceptions and of a safeguard clause. With regard to agricultural products, regulations were proposed involving a comparable increase in trade. The last phase of customs dismantlement, about which no details were put forward, could coincide with accession.

The French representative at this meeting felt unable to give a clear account of his Government's position concerning the timing of any arrangement or concerning the scale of customs duty reduction to be planned.

On the Dutch side, it was stated at this meeting that any arrangement had to be consistent with Article XXIV of the GATT and should also lead to accession.

The Minister said that the Council would probably continue looking into the possibility of concluding an arrangement.

In reply to a question about the desirability of a common trade policy for the East European countries the Minister of Economic Affairs stressed that here, too, France was in a special position among the member States. France would not think of discussing a common trade policy, at least not before 1970. The Minister agreed that it was regrettable that the EEC did not have a trade policy for this would allow of a joint examination of complaints about imports of agricultural products at dumping prices; it might, where necessary, thus be possible to deal with them.

(Report on an oral review - Economic Affairs, Public Budget for 1968, 1967/68 Session, Doc. 9300)

3. Parliamentary questions

Margarine levy and the strengthening of the budgetary powers of the European Parliament

Mr. Schuijt and Mr. Van der Ploeg (Catholic People's Party) put a question to the Netherlands Government on the bracketing together of the margarine levy and the strengthening of the European Parliament's budgetary powers which it is understood the Dutch representative demanded at the Council meeting of 28 and 29 May 1968.

On 4 July Mr. Lardinois, Minister for Agriculture, said that the Commission had long ago put forward a number of motions for resolutions aimed at laying the basis for market organizations for milk and milk products and for beef and veal. In one of these resolutions the Council was asked to confirm its intention of introducing a tax on fats as agreed in 1964. Another desired the Council to carry out the intention – expressed by it a considerable time ago – to strengthen the budgetary powers of the European Parliament. Although these two resolutions formed part and parcel of a set of decisions to be taken, the Netherlands Government thought this was not enough and that the implementation of each should be made subject to implementation of the other. This was why the Minister had maintained at the Council meeting of 28 and 29 May 1968 that the Netherlands Government could only accept the tax on fats if at the same time the European Parliament's budgetary powers were satisfactorily strengthened.

In the relevant resolution the Council had confirmed that it would introduce a tax on fats derived from vegetables, or extracted from fish and marine mammals, imported or produced in the Community, as specified in the Council Decision No. 64/128/EEC (1).

Asked what had been the practical results of these decisions, the Minister had nothing to say. It appears that much will depend on how the Council carries out its intention of strengthening the European Parliament's budgetary powers.

(Second Chamber, 1967-68 session, Annex, p. 1575)

⁽¹⁾ Official Gazette of the European Communities of 27 February 1964.

Enlargement of the Community

In reply to a question put by Mr. Van der Stoel (Labour Party) on 27 June regarding international discussions on co-operation with countries that had applied to enter the EEC, the Netherlands Government stated on 22 July 1968 that it remained of the opinion that the most should be made of the opportunities for such co-operation on the basis of the Benelux Memorandum.

The Government would continue to keep in close touch with its Benelux partners with a view to seizing every chance of applying the ideas set out in the Memorandum.

(Second Chamber, 1967-68 session, Annex, p. 1613)

Procurement of uranium

On 9 July 1968 Mr. Nederhorst (Labour Party) put a written question to the Netherlands Government on the conjectured large-scale purchases of uranium by France which could secure a monopoly in the European Community in this sector.

On 29 July the Minister for Economic Affairs replied that the Government had been unable to ascertain whether the French Government had concluded with South Africa a secret agreement under which it would buy, over a period of ten years, the bulk of that country's uranium output.

According to available information, the French Nuclear Energy Authority (CEA) had four years ago entered into an agreement with South Africa for a relatively small quantity of uranium. As far as was known France had then called in Euratom's Supply Agency.

Moreover, France was known to be actively pursuing a policy for the procurement of uranium and to have negotiated and concluded agreements with various countries. In the absence of information as to the range of the French military programme or the extent of the purchases and options secured, it could not be said whether the uranium stocks held by the French authorities were too large to be confined to purely military purposes.

The state of the world uranium market did not bear out fears of a French monopoly in the Community making the other member States dependent on France for their nuclear development.

In view of the foregoing, the Government declined to say whether the French Government's action was compatible with the letter and spirit of the Euratom Treaty and, if not, whether it was going to draw the European Commission's attention to the fact.

(Second Chamber, 1967-68 session, Annex, p. 1739)

4. The implementation of Community regulations

On 23 August Mr. Van der Ploeg (Labour Party) asked for an assurance that the Netherlands Government was squarely in favour of EEC regulations being applied in their entirety, that is, without additions, restrictions, or complications of a national character. He felt this important because the principle had been violated in the application of the Council regulation of 27 June 1968 (1) on skimmed-milk powder. In fact, only Dutch skimmed-milk powder could be delivered to the Netherlands Food Buying and Selling Agency, although the EEC regulations contained no such restrictive and discriminatory provision.

On 10 September Mr. Lardinois, Minister for Agriculture, replied to the question - in principle - in the affirmative. He added, however, that the Agency could not establish with adequate certainty, from the provisions of these regulations on the information to be shown on packages of skimmed-milk powder, whether the powder came from member States or from third countries. The Minister said that pending clearer decisions that would clear up this practical difficulty, he thought it necessary to restrict deliveries to the Agency to Dutch skimmed-milk powder.

(Debates of the Second Chamber, 1967-68 session, N° 1895)

⁽¹⁾ Official Gazette of the European Community N° L 148.

5. Visit of the Turkish Foreign Minister

At a press conference given in The Hague, Mr. Ihsan Sabri Caglayangil, Turkish Foreign Minister, who was in the Netherlands from 19 to 21 July, said that Turkey, at present linked with the EEC under an association agreement, hoped that it would one day become a full member of the Community.

He then spoke of the 'Group of Ten', the ten countries of both East and West which were endeavouring by lobbying to secure a better understanding between East and West. Mr. Caglayangil said that his country subscribed to this objective and was prepared to support it without, at the same time, wishing to be a member of the Group.

(Nieuwe Rotterdamse Courant, 19 July 1968)



II. PARTIES AND PROMINENT POLITICIANS

1. Mr. von Wrangel, the Christian Democrat MP, puts forward a European policy programme

Progress could only be made on the policy for Germany and the East if European policy could be revived. This opinion was expressed by Mr. Olaf von Wrangel, in Ratzeburg on 8 July. Speaking at an all-German meeting of the Youth Union in the Duchy of Lauenburg, which borders on the German Democratic Republic, he put forward a European policy programme.

He advocated a summit conference of the EEC and measures to harmonize legislations completely, including capital and fiscal policies. He further advocated a repudiation of particularist thinking in the Federal Republic and asked for it to be demonstrated that a referendum on the implementation of a political union of Europe would be meaningful. New powers for the European Parliament in Strasbourg should, he said, also be prepared.

(Die Welt, 9 July 1968)

2. The FDP (Free Democratic Party) Group of the Bundestag puts forward its own proposals on agricultural policy

The working party on agricultural policy of the FDP Group held a two-day closed session after which, on 25 July it put forward its own proposals for this policy and, at the same time, stated its attitude to the programme of the Federal Government. The most urgent task in reviewing the agricultural policy had to be to arrive at a fair sharing of burdens in the EEC. The costs of the Community policy should leave the national agricultural policies paralyzed: the FDP therefore advocated national production targets for particular products over and above which the common financial responsibility of the Community would no longer apply. The Federal Government was concerned with issues which could only be solved in the long-term; it was neglecting the current problems facing agriculture.

In detail, the Free Democrats proposed that agriculture must participate in a concerted plan so that it shared in the general development of in-

comes. An active price policy had to continue to function as a key component of the agricultural policy. The FDP repeated its price claims for 1969/70: 475DM/T for soft wheat, 450DM/T for fodder. It also proposed 0.30DM/Kg as the production price for milk, 280 DM/Dz as the marginal guidance price for beef and an increase in the basic pig-meat price.

The FDP, as the Federal Government proposed in its programme, called for a review of the apportionment key of the Agricultural Fund in proportion to the national volume of production. It therefore welcomed the Government proposal for a marketing promotion company and broadly agreed with the structure policy proposals in the Government programme.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 26 July 1968)

3. A proposal by Mr. Dichgans, the Christian Democrat MP: the Eurofranc should take the place of the Eurodollar as the seventh currency of the EEC States

Writing in the July edition of the European Review of the Christian Democratic Group in the European Parliament, Mr. Dichgans proposed that a Eurofranc should be issued by a common European bank (to be founded by the six national issuing banks) and should take the place of Eurodollar as an instrument of credit.

This article went back to a speech he made to the Group in Nice on 2 May. Mr. Dichgans had already given a brief outline of this problem at the European Parliament's session in Strasbourg on 13 March.

As the seventh currency in the Community, the Eurofranc should play a similar part in monetary credit as the special drawing rights of the International Monetary Fund. He argued that what the IMF could do, the European Community could do, too. It could not offer anonymous credit within a world-wide organization but could provide specific credits commensurate with the needs of the European economy. The money-creating system of the Eurofranc would go hand in hand with the special drawing rights agreed on in Rio and not stand in opposition to them.

These credits would not disrupt the world monetary system but rather would ease the strain, for then the European issuing banks would only

need to envisage using the special drawing rights when they could not obtain a means of payment in any other way. The European Community bank ought not, he felt, to issue any notes of its own but operate with loan bonds and discount credit to all appearances in the same way as all other currency banks in the world. The scope of this discount credit could be used in a set proportion to the total discount credit of the six national issuing banks, possibly allowing for a margin of fluctuation. The Community bank would issue bonds and some treasury bills to provide a means of payment in world trade. This would be covered by a deficiency guarantee given by the national issuing banks and this would be a genuine Community operation.

Dr. Dichgans emphasized that the only perfect solution would be a European monetary union. For political reasons, however, it was not feasible; nor indeed was it desirable. As long as it remained impossible to prevent the Governments of the member States from pursuing unreasonable economic policies, the safety valve of a possible devaluation by an individual state acting on its own had to remain operative.

As regards the national issuing banks, their liabilities would be expressed in Eurofrancs, including guaranteed and currency liabilities. If, contrary to all expectations, an individual currency had to be devalued then its liability would also be increased in Eurofrancs, as is the case with liabilities expressed in dollars.

The arrangement with national issuing banks would give the Euro-franc the same gold cover as the national currencies now have. The transfer of part of the national gold reserves to the European Community bank might be envisaged in proportion to the share of the national issuing banks in the Community bank. All the banks in the Community would have the right to operate accounts in Eurofrancs as well as in their national currencies.

Dr. Dichgans asked whether the issuing banks of the Community should, under such a system replace the spread on either side of par of 3 per cent with a fixed rate of exchange. The six issuing banks would then, reciprocally, have to provide the necessary credits so that the current absorption of all currencies offered could be borne by the banks concerned. The interest machinery of these credits would then cover the operations at present characterized by fluctuations.

The credit that the issuing banks extended reciprocally would have to be handled with an eye to the possible devaluation of currency credits. In contrast to the normal world currencies, the issuing banks of the Communities would have to work as a united bloc to deal with currency fluctuations in the same way as the national issuing banks have so far done individually.

Mr. Dichgans argued that the position of the EEC countries was needlessly weakened over monetary policy as the American position would if the States of California, Alabama or New York acted independently in currency matters.

A new European currency could assume a significance for the whole area of Europe and Africa, giving it parity with the dollar. The Eurofranc could replace the Eurodollar which was, at present, the seventh currency of the Community and played a major rôle on the capital market of the Community and financed the expansion of American industry in the EEC.

A large proportion of these Eurodollars came from Community investors but they had no influence over them. The Eurodollar is controlled by Washington and was, outside the Community, the preferred currency especially in London and Zurich. If there were any doubt whether the money market would accept a currency for which there were no bank notes, it had to be remembered that the fact that Eurodollars could not be changed into bank notes was immaterial for the Eurodollar market. In practice the conversion was never made. Dr. Dichgans further argued that the dollar attracted a premium in its official valuations which was honoured by its additional usability as a world currency, because anything in the world could be bought with the dollar.

Dr. Dichgans suggested that the issuing of European coin should be coupled with the creation of the Eurofranc as a Central Bank currency, even if there were no bank notes. European policy had to be clear. The objection to the current practices was a technical difficulty: the banks had to create additional currency payment machinery. Such difficulties ought not, however, to stand in the way of the European idea.

(European Review of the Christian Democrat Group of the European Parliament, No. 27, July 1968, pp. 3-11).

4. SPD Bundestag representative proposes the setting up of a WEU Technological Committee

Gerhard Flämig, SPD Bundestag representative and member of the Council of Europe, intends to propose, on behalf of the WEU Committee on Science and Technology at the autumn session of the WEU to be held in Paris from 14 to 18 October 1968, that a Standing Technological Committee be set up in Western European Union. Mr. Flämig stated in Hanau on 4 September that the new committee of the WEU, which is composed of the EEC member States and Great Britain, would be made up of the science ministers of the WEU countries.

He added that the Committee should co-ordinate the scientific and technological efforts of the member countries. At the same time it would ensure the collaboration of Great Britain in a key sector pending settlement of the question of British entry into the European Communities. Only by achieving integration in the scientific and technological spheres would Europe have a chance of safeguarding its economic future.

(VWD-Europa, 4 September 1968)

5. Statement by Mr. George Brown, deputy leader of the Labour Party, on Britain's rôle in Europe

On a campaign tour of his constituency, Mr. George Brown, deputy leader of the Labour Party, made the following statement:

'I am very much against a world in which it is said there are two super powers who divide up between themselves, and the rest of us have to put up with what they decide. That is how you get your Czechoslovakias and your Cubas, and I don't like this at all.

I believe the second thing to becoming economically strong again is to get back our age-old influential rôle in the world. That means us leading Europe and leading it to being a new power grouping that will prevent the world being divided up by two so-called super powers.'

(The Guardian, 16 September 1968)

6. Address by Prince Bernhard of the Netherlands on European cooperation in aviation and space travel

In an address delivered in London on 18 September before the Society of British Aerospace Companies Ltd. (an organization comprising 300 European enterprises) Prince Bernhard of the Netherlands advocated closer European co-operation in aviation and space travel. The need for co-operation at European level was generally recognized and, indeed desired; the question was whether all were really prepared to accept the necessary conditions.

Industrial integration of Europe was impossible without greater political integration. But before this could be achieved, a host of obstacles had to be overcome. What was important now was to grasp the full significance of political integration. The Prince spoke of the fear growing among European politicians, economists and industrialists that the United States would so outdistance Europe in industrial development that it would prove impossible to close the technological gap. The secret of America's success was largely that it continued unflaggingly to support training and research. The United States was in fact spending thirty times as much on spatial research as Europe.

Methods of organization in Europe would have to be radically changed and the relations between industry and government overhauled. Moreover, technical research and training at national level was not enough. Here again closer and closer co-operation at European level was needed. In sectors in which co-operation already existed, precious time should at all costs be saved by avoiding protracted negotiations and political squabbles. Practical results could only be achieved if both government and industry grasped the need for sacrifices and for surrendering a measure of independence.

Prince Bernhard thought that co-operation in outer space would present even thornier problems than aviation. Nevertheless, if the European countries wanted to make progress in the exploration of space such co-operation was essential. Europe had the governmental organizations ELDO and ESRO, the European Conference on satellite communications, and, at industrial level, Eurospace. But it was still without a coherent policy on European space activities. One could not but regret the decision taken a few months ago by the British Government to withdraw from the ELDO project before 1971. With about three-quarters of mankind living in areas served only by primitive means of communication, a dazzling future faced communication satellites. Enormous benefits could be expected in the social, economic and political sectors. How, then - asked Prince Bernhard - could ELDO be regarded merely as a prestige project? Was Europe permanently to depend on the United States' goodwill in launching its satellites?

The Prince quoted the following passage from a publication by Eurospace, an organization of 300 European enterprises employing some two million workers: 'If Europe were to abandon its acitivities in the field of space travel, this would be not only an economic but also a historic event, marking the beginning of its self-imposed decline.'

Prince Bernhard wound up by voicing the conviction that Europe's technical knowledge, its inventive genius and creative powers could still enable it successfully to meet the challenge presented to it.

(Handels Transport Courant, 19 September 1968)

7. The CSU Land Group discusses European defence policy

At a closed meeting held in Bad Berneck on 20 September 1968 the CSU Bundestag Land Group passed a resolution on foreign and defence policy. The main points covered were refusal to sign the nuclear non-proliferation treaty, the creation of the basic conditions for an integrated European defence potential and a far-reaching alignment of the defence and foreign policies of the Federal Republic and France.

The French and Germans ought finally to take their joint responsibility for Europe in earnest. Regional strengthening of the Western Alliance must be sought on the basis of foreign and defence policies binding on both sides. To facilitate the creation of a West European community of peoples to serve as a prop for an overall European order, the completion of the EEC on the economic plane was just as necessary as a trading arrangement with Britain and the other applicant countries.

So long as the nuclear powers continued their arms race and declined to submit to generally supervised disarmament, the balance established by the deterrent would remain precarious. This situation, far from being remedied, would be aggravated by signing the treaty. In invading Czechoslovakia, the Soviet Union had violated the principles of the UN Charter; at the same time it was trying, as Germany's former opponent in the war, to claim the special right to apply force against the Federal Republic. The Federal Republic therefore needed political and institutional guarantees that would afford it nuclear protection against aggression and blackmail until the conditions for building an integrated European deterrent had been created.

America's attempts to encourage its Western partners in the alliance to do more for their own security were basically justified. To strenghten the Atlantic Alliance a West European Armaments Community and a European Defence Community would have to be set up.

Mr. Richard Stücklen, Chairman of the CSU Land Group in the Bundestag, said after the meeting that the Party laid great emphasis on the need for decisions in European and Alliance policies. Unless something was done here and now, Europe would probably suffer severe setbacks. The Party favoured a political and military union between the Federal Republic and France.

Despite a packed agenda, the three-day conference was dominated by the call for progress in European policy. This followed the course traced out by CSU Chairman Franz Josef Strauss in July at the Munich Party Conference when he spoke out for a major European initiative. In the light of the Soviet occupation of Czechoslovakia, the CSU representatives associated their demands more closely than before with security policy considerations.

As explained to 'Die Welt' by Friedrich Zimmermann, Chairman of the Bundestag Defence Committee, the CSU wanted the group of West European countries to work more closely together. For this, a joint policy with France was a prerequisite. If, however, Paris declined to go along with this, closer dependence of the Federal Republic on the United States would soon be unavoidable.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 21 September 1968; Die Welt, 21 and 23 September 1968; Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 23 September 1968)

8. Professor Hallstein, former President of the EEC Commission, calls for the reorganization of European defence policy

Speaking at the Party Conference of Christian Democrats (Westphalia) in Recklinghausen on 22 September 1968, Professor Hallstein painted a gloomy picture of the situation of the Federal Republic and Western Europe.

Western ideas on security had been virtually shattered by the events in Prague. There could be no doubt that Russia's European policy was aimed not only at establishing a hegemony in the Baltic and Mediterranean but also at foisting on the Federal Republic a status akin to Finland's so as to block fur-

ther integration in free Europe. Recent events had shown that in the vital sphere of security Europe was non-existent. There was no responsible voice that spoke for Europe.

Prof. Hallstein pleaded for a reorganization of European defence policy within NATO. This step would have to be taken, if need be, at first without France. Statements by American statemen like Rusk and Katzenbach suggested that the USA was not averse to a new form of European Defence Community with American backing. A bipolar arrangement of this kind within the Atlantic Alliance would not call for any dramatic changes to the Treaty. Reorganization of European defence, if carried out in stages, could at the same time serve to speed up progress towards political union. Free Europe must realize that its security could not be left entirely in the hands of the superpowers. The question of security had now been raised in an acute form; there had been, and there still was, no early warning period.

Prof. Hallstein repeated his proposals at the European Conference of the Schleswig-Holstein CDU Land Union in Kiel on 29 September. NATO should cease to be an alliance between a giant and a number of pigmies. Europe's ability to defend itself must be consolidated and the Americans faced with a resolute body of European opinion.

It was no exaggeration to say that Soviet diplomacy aimed at imposing a Finnish status on the Federal Republic, the idea being that all foreign policy decisions would always have to be taken in the light of what the giant might have to say on the subject.

Mr. Helmut Lemke, Prime Minister of Schleswig-Holstein, observed in his opening address that Europe should reorganize its defence in NATO, if need be without France.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 23 September 1968, Die Welt, 30 September 1968)

9. Conference by Mr. Toncic-Sorinj, former Austrian foreign minister on "The European Community seen from the outside"

At the invitation of the European Movement in Luxembourg, Mr. Lujo Toncic-Sorinj, former Austrian foreign monister, spoke about the EEC

as seen from the outside and about the hopes that the East European countries built on the materialization of the Community.

He began by going back to the origins of European integration: 'The EEC led out of the era of stagnation and resignation to that of integration. In the beginning there were many emotional reservations on the part of those who were "left out". The EEC was criticized for the tough line it took, which was described as a "misconception" and "split" doomed to failure, As I said, there were emotional remonstrances on both sides which have today disappeared because both sides want to talk. Just as the whole dream of a large, united Europe has not been achieved, so too there is no longer such an intolerant attitude on the part of the EEC. An effort is being made to find more flexible transitional arrangements. The discussions held in The Hague twenty years ago were not only concerned with creating a Western Europe. At that time there was no mention of a Europe to the Urals but rather of one going to the frontiers of the Soviet Union, including the present satellite States. That was the point of departure then,'

Mr. Toncic-Sorini then recalled Austria's attitude to European integration: 'Austria has always respected the EEC's views and defended the status of its country vis-à-vis the new entity. Up till now, its attempt to achieve a rapprochement has neither been concluded nor has it failed. At present there is a moratorium which also applies to other European countries. The EEC explains that there are certain frontiers which at present allow of no "openings". Thus there were serious difficulties for the EFTA countries. These did not apply to Africa; the EEC's attitude here is not so doctrinaire. Naturally, the problems of the East have to be sketched in. From the ideological standpoint, the East is completely subject, economically and culturally, to the military power of Russia and regards the EEC as a thrust at the East. In the view of the Soviet Union, the EEC is led by its strongest partner, Germany. In the final analysis the Austrians could as neutrals measure the Kremlin's degree of enmity by reference to the political emphasis recently given to economic and cultural affairs. The reaction of the East is simply the continuation of a policy of several hundred years' standing. Any central formation in Europe is regarded by the Russians as an alliance against their country. And this policy is today being continued unaltered in a new guise.'

Referring to the aggression of the Warsaw Pact countries against Czechoslovakia, he called upon the member States of the EEC to continue their contacts with the East European countries: 'These personal contacts have been very successful. Without them this development in the East would never have occurred, but it would be pure idiocy for the West to break these contracts now. It must not abandon the people in the East for they, too, belong to Europe. For this reason the contacts with their governments must be continued and from the psychological point of view, peoples under domination must not be disappointed by the West. It should pursue its integration efforts but not in too

dogmatic or doctrinaire a manner. There is no mention anywhere of integral institutions. Wherever possible, a change should be made from obligations to co-operation. It would be wrong to expect a miracle but above all the traditional aims (of removing frontiers) have already been achieved and will be of advantage to the others. The people in Eastern Europe have great hopes of European integration. We have given them more than they assume. If these yoked peoples could, they would be the best Europeans. The West must not, therefore, disappoint them.'

(Tageblatt, 23 September 1968)



III. ORGANIZATIONS AND GROUPINGS

1. The French crisis as seen in German economic spheres

Speaking in Munich on 7 June, Mr. Otto Wolff von Amerongen, one of the governors of the German Chamber of Commerce and Industry, said that the French crisis represented a serious test for world trade, which affected the Federal Republic more than many other industrialized States. The occasion was the 125th anniversary of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry for Munich and Upper Bavaria. He said everything should be done to maintain the EEC's position as the strongest and most promising bloc in world trade.

Dr. Johann Baptist Schöllhorn, Secretary of State for Economic Affairs, also argued that they should stand by France: 'It concerns us when our neighbour's house is burning.'

There was at present no definite indication that a devaluation of the franc was to be expected. Professor Ludwig Erhard came to the same conclusion when he addressed on 8 July in Heidelberg a management seminar held by the labour community for economic management. The seminar was studying the effects of the French crisis on the German economy. The French import restrictions, export incentives and retreat to exchange controls were rather a sign that Paris wished to defend the parity of the franc and to restore order in its own house. The question as to chances of success of this attempt was something he would not answer for although he made no secret of his scepticism.

He felt that price supervision, price controls and price ceilings would not subdue the currents at work in France. He expected price increases of 6 to 7 per cent in France for 1968 and 1969.

Dr. Vogel of the German Institute for Industry made a detailed analysis of France's balance of payments and came to the conclusion that it no longer had any reserves with which to contain the recent increase in costs. France's currency reserves had been reduced by 25 per cent to \$5,500 million. No policy could take the place of currency reserves and would not keep a currency strong for long; if this were the case, the German mark would have been a still-born child at the outset. Without a devaluation of the franc, however, it would not be possible to fulfil the two medium-term needs of internal expansion and external balance. A devaluation of the franc would give French

exporters more scope for expansion, which France urgently needed to overcome its unemployment.

Speaking at a joint meeting of the Technical High School and the Chamber of Industry and Commerce in Darmstadt on 10 July, Dr. Albrecht Düren, Chief Executive of the German Chamber of Commerce and Industry deplored the unwillingness of the French Government to apply EEC Treaty rules to overcome its domestic crisis. He found this development exceptionable. Such an attitude was an example of a denial of the European Commission's right to act as an independent Community body. There appeared no obvious sign that this attitude would change.

Dr. Düren felt that the EEC was in a dilemma. Now at the time of its greatest outward success, completing the customs union eighteen months ahead of schedule, the conditions were unfavourable for an effective and rapid furtherance of integration. He pointed out that while world trade had increased by 80 per cent since the EEC was founded, trade within the Community had increased by 200 per cent; trade with third countries had gone up by 90 per cent.

In view of the French Government's attitude in recent years, the question arose as to whether and when France's partners would defend their own interests and position in the Community with equal firmness. Dr. Düren referred here to the harshness with which the French spokesmen had again rejected the idea of Britain's membership of the EEC at a recent WEU meeting.

(Die Welt, 1 and 8 June 1968; Industriekurier, 8 June 1968; Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 29 June 1968; Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 9 July 1968)

2. Hamburg and the Common Market as seen by Senator H. Kern

In a summing up Hamburg's current situation and the prospects for the future, following the entry into force of the customs union on 1 July 1968 - one and a half years earlier than foreseen in the EEC Treaty - Senator Helmuth Kern, chairman of Hamburg's Economic and Transport Authority, stated that over a period of more than ten years that city's economy had been able, by and large, to keep abreast of economic development in the Federal Republic and in the EEC member States.

He was sure that Hamburg's economy had derived a greater momentum from the dynamism generated by the EEC than would have been the case in the absence of this integrative force. The prospects for further expansion of Hamburg's external trade were not unfavourable. If greater emphasis were placed on the EEC market and on the African market, it would be possible, while strengthening the traditional links with Latin America, Asia and the USA, to make the most of the new possibilities.

An enlarged EEC would, however, act as a fresh stimulus for growth from which Hamburg too would benefit. If Hamburg was to reap the benefits held out by the EEC and its possible enlargement, it would have to show greater readiness to adapt itself so as to be able to profit by, and eventually pass on, the stimulus to growth stemming from an ever-changing environment in Europe and overseas.

Senator Kern pointed out that the EEC was only the second best solution. There could be no doubt that the volume of trade could have been stepped up still further in an enlarged EEC. The extent of the progress made by the EEC was shown, however, by the fact that trade between member States had increased from about DM 58,000m. in 1958 to DM 195,000m. in 1967, i.e. by 239 per cent. During the same period trade with non-member countries rose by 85 per cent to DM 250m. The development of the EEC was, however, being slowed down by the inadequacy of the powers of the supranational organizations.

In this connexion, it should be mentioned that Mr. Hans Apel, SPD Bundestag representative, asked the Brussels Commission whether it was ready to co-operate fully, and with the requisite sense of urgency, with the Governments concerned in abolishing distorted competition which was detrimental to German seaports and incompatible with a common transport policy. If necessary, compensatory payments could for the time being be introduced in cross-frontier transport, until the Commission had fully harmonized fuel prices, tax and insurance systems and working conditions.

As a member of the European Parliament, Mr. Apel drew the Commission's attention to the fact that differences in the way the EEC transport markets were organized seriously damaged the interests of German seaports.

(Die Welt, 1 July 1968)

3. The German CEPES Group and European integration

On 15 July, the European Union for Economic and Social Development (CEPES), which was founded in 1952 by industrialists, bankers and business men in various European countries, issued a statement through its German Branch. The statement, which was addressed to the EEC Commission and the Federal Government, suggested practical action plans for setting up an economic union.

The German CEPES Group advocated a standard system of indirect taxes, including harmonized rates of tax, in the EEC. It also urged that obstacles to co-operation and mergers stemming from the laws governing taxation, companies and competition, be removed and European-type companies be created.

France's current economic problems would, in the view of the German Group, only be satisfactorily solved within the Community and not bilaterally. The cyclical and monetary policy of the member States had, above all, to be directed towards achieving monetary stability. The cyclical policy recommendations of the Council of Ministers ought in future to be more immediately applicable, much more detailed and binding on all the Governments of the member States.

Creating the conditions for the accession of Britain and other countries to the Community was not only the EEC's responsibility but also that of the applicant States. These had to evince a more receptive attitude towards the economic and political integration of Europe. As long as Britain did not accept political integration as the logical consequence of its desire for accession, interim trade policy arrangements midway between the present situation and full membership would have to be considered.

Finally the German CEPES Group called for a review of the common agricultural policy to deal with the increasing lack of representation of the consumer and the taxpayer.

(Industriekurier, 16 July 1968)

4. Statement by the German-Swiss Chamber of Commerce on European policy

In an article published in the 19 August edition of the journal of the German-Swiss Chamber of Commerce in Zürich, Dr. Meyer-Marsilius, director of that institution, describes the results of an inquiry made into the progress of integration as 'meagre and anything but encouraging'.

The proposal for a trade agreement between the EEC and Switzer-land had already been made a long time ago by the German-Swiss Chamber of Commerce. The much-quoted 'foot in the door' seemed important enough to warrant a solution which in itself did not amount to a great deal. Dr. Meyer-Marsilius did not think the proposal had at present much chance of being acted upon. The case might be otherwise if the EEC and Switzerland were to sit down together. But a possible, if limited, solution of the integration problem by means of a trade arrangement was hampered by the question of the 'pre-liminary step towards full British membership' of the EEC.

That the EEC was passing through an institutional crisis was no secret. After all, it had not emerged without damage from the earlier crises, which had sapped the vitality of the Community and largely deprived the EEC Commission of its rôle as a driving force. The EEC, however, derived its impetus in the main from the speed of the progress made (customs union and the agricultural market system). It had lost, however, not only its inner drive but also much of the 'pull' it exerted on the world at large. 'How, in the present circumstances can it be made more attractive to a sober, down-to-earth Swiss citizen?'

But EFTA too did not offer Switzerland any answer to the integration problem. This was ruled out by the heterogeneous character of that organization. It had, however, fulfilled its purpose as an interim solution. Events had shown that neither the EEC nor EFTA was capable of overcoming the self-centred attitude of the European States, even though useful initial results and experience had been obtained which it would be wrong to ignore.

The article winds up by considering what might be done to speed up integration. The widening technological gap separating the USA and Europe might one day force the Europeans to come closer together. Perhaps technological co-operation might open the way to a form of collaboration between Switzerland and the EEC freed from emotion and governed only by the force of facts and the inescapable dictates of technological development.

(Industriekurier, 20 August 1968)

5. The Belgian dairy market and the Community's policy

The Belgian farmers' unions have made known their views on the difficulties that arose on the dairy market following the slump in prices of the summer of 1968.

In mid-August the National Federation of Farmers' Unions (UPA) urged that the price of Bfrs. 4.55 per litre of milk with a 3.3 per cent fat content, fixed by the European Economic Community, should be paid to producers and that dairies should be enabled to obtain sufficient receipts from the market to settle up with their suppliers at that price. The UPA considered that transitional measures for safeguarding and supporting the market should at once be taken at national level in order to protect producers and dairies from abnormal competition from various partner countries. These measures should be kept in force until the necessary amendments had been made to Community regulations as regards (i) the intervention price for the main by-products and (ii) the alignment of the conditions of production and the basic review of the general policy on fats.

At the same time the steering committee of the Belgian Boerenbond (farmers' union) held an extraordinary meeting presided over by Professor Boon. This reviewed developments on the dairy market since 29 July 1968, when the European common policy on milk products had come into force and a common milk guide-price had been adopted.

The committee observed that the dairy industry in other partner countries was not paying the guide price and was thus exerting pressure on the milk market. This was aggravated by the fact that some partner countries were granting subsidies to the milk sector. As a result, even efficiently-run Belgian dairies could not pay the recommended guide price.

The Belgian Boerenbond therefore demanded:

- (i) that normal competitive conditions should be established between the EEC member States:
- (ii) that in view of the unsound market situation a state of emergency should be immediately declared for the Belgian cheese market and adequate measures taken;
- (iii) that intervention prices should be so adjusted as to permit the guide price to be attained;
- (iv) that, with a view to ensuring a fair return to the producer, the determination of the butyric fat content by third parties should be immediately made compulsory by law.

The Belgian Boerenbond welcomed the fact that the authorities had followed up its appeal for the establishment of a body to concert the efforts of all the parties concerned in the milk sector so as to ensure market transparency and permit the requisite action to be taken.

The Belgian Boerenbond held fast to the view that, under the existing circumstances, it was wrong that certain dairies should adjust their processing margin to the detriment of the milk price to be paid to the producer.

(De Boer, 24 August 1968; Le Soir, 20 August 1968)

6. The attitude of German industry to the association of African States

The extent to which the eighteen African and Malagasy States (AAMS) associated with the EEC lag behind other development areas is regarded by German industry as a good reason for the European Community to continue giving them special assistance.

In a statement intended for the Federal Government, the key organizations of German industry represented on the 'Working Party on developing countries' (Federal Association of German Industry, German Industrial and Trade Conference, Federal Association of Private Banks, Federal Association of German Wholesalers and Exporters and Union of German Exporters' Associations) emphasized that closer collaboration with the EEC in the Association had helped to make the countries concerned more stable politically and economically. Industry therefore had nothing against prolonging the Association provided that the previous agreement was amended in a number of important points and placed greater emphasis on integrating the African States into the world economy.

As pointed out by the Federal Association of German Industry (BDI), industry was particularly keen to see the Associated States' preference margin on tropical products widened during the coming negotiations. Although it had been found that these preferences were of little material help to the AAMS, they were of great psychological damage to German industry, particularly in Latin America. At the same time the Associated States' demands for firm delivery undertakings were causing considerable concern.

The Working Party on developing countries stated that the Association's entire preference arrangements - including the 'counter-preferences' granted by the AAMS on EEC products - would have to be reviewed again once negotiations on general preferences for finished and semi-finished manufactures of all developing countries and on world-wide primary commodity agreements had yielded tangible results.

The essential element of the Association would continue to be the common financial assistance channelled through a European Development Fund. The Working Party on developing countries approved the setting up of a further Fund for a specific period but was against increasing the volume of financial aid. It regarded it, however, as essential to improve the conditions governing such aid and the methods by which it was made available, so as (i) to abolish the lopsided relationship between the Federal Republic's financial contributions and its participation in contracts and (ii) to increase the efficacy of financial aid. The changes regarded as essential by industry included greater emphasis on revenue-earning projects and the partial replacement of non-repayable grants by loans on special terms and wider resort to the European Investment Bank. At the same time, improvements in methods of allocation and payments were essential.

(VWD-Europa, 26 August 1968)

7. Netherlands Federation of Iron and Steel Unions and European integration

On 30 August 1968 the annual conference of the General Netherlands Federation of Iron and Steel Unions passed a resolution in Amsterdam on European integration. This claimed that numerous political, social and economic problems could no longer be solved within the narrow context of national frontiers; a real European Community had therefore become an absolute necessity and a new European treaty ought to embody the following principles:

- 1. the principle of supranationality:
- 2. democratic supervision by a directly elected parliament;
- 3. financial autonomy and independence of the supreme European institution;
- 4. the Community to be open to all democratic European countries:
- 5. loss of Community membership, or suspension of an association agreement, in the case of any country whose government ceases to be democratic:

6. maintenance and extension of the rights of consultation of workers' organizations on policy decisions, as already provided by the ECSC Treaty.

Considering:

that the trend towards larger economic areas extending beyond the national frontiers presents fresh problems to the European trade union movement in the performance of its main task of defending workers' interests;

the Assembly invites the Executive:

to take all necessary steps to ensure a high degree of integration and the closest possible co-operation between the iron and steel and electronics industries in EEC member States;

to urge the Netherlands Trades Union Federation to keep up its efforts to achieve a high degree of integration and establish the closest possible co-operation between the Trades Union Federations of the EEC countries, in line with the resolution passed by the Netherlands Trades Union Federation at its 24th general meeting.

(Metaalkoerier, 6 September 1968)

8. A majority of Germany's European Union is in favour of a more active integration policy

Meeting in Bonn on 5 September 1968, the European Union of Germany drew the attention of the Federal Government to the fact that there was a broad section of the general public which would welcome new steps in European policy.

'Wriggling will not get the bogged-down integration process off to a new start' stressed Mr. Gerhard Eickhorn, the secretary-general in a statement to the press.

 $267\ \mathrm{members}$ of the Bundestag support a proposed new move to revive Germany's policy on Europe.

The Emnid Institute conducted an opinion poll in which only ten per cent of those asked answered 'yes' to the question: 'Do you think European co-operation has improved over the last year?' This was the lowest point recorded for thirteen years.

(VWD-Europa, 5 September 1968)

9. Mr. Munchmeyer, Chairman of the Federal Association of Private Banks, calls for a European monetary union

On 13 September 1968 Mr. Alwin Münchmeyer, Chairman of the Federal Association of Private Banks, recommended that a European monetary union be set up as a way out of the current monetary policy difficulties. As he had pointed out before industrialists in Dusseldorf, revaluation of the Deutsche Mark was neither necessary nor calculated to help in solving monetary problems. A European monetary union did not have to be the crowning piece of European integration but could perfectly well act as its main driving force. Such a policy would ensure that Germany would not remain alone in the line of fire in the present currency battle. It was highly unsatisfactory that Germany was being pressed on all sides to shoulder the responsibility for a situation brought into being by a lack of monetary discipline on the part of others.

If a European monetary union was set up and the Community developed into an internal market, this would strengthen the bloc's tactical and bargaining powers in its dealings with the other large trading nations. It would also indirectly be put in an exceptionnally strong position in negotiations on monetary policy because discussion of the balances of payments of individual member States would have to give ground to discussion of the Community's overall payments position. Mr. Münchmeyer quoted the following figures: in 1967 the Federal Republic's total trade surplus stood at DM 16,900m., of which DM 12,500m. related to non-member countries. Far more important, however, was that the EEC's total trade surplus with non-member countries now amounted to DM 3,000m. This was the figure on which discussions should centre in the event of differences of opinion regarding any external trade imbalance arising between a European monetary union and non-member countries.

The outlook for a European monetary union was brighter than might at first appear. At all events it was more encouraging than in other sectors calling for harmonization, such as social and taxation policies. The institutional core of a European federal reserve system already existed in the Council of Finance Ministers and in the EEC Monetary Committee, and ought to be built up accordingly and sanctioned by treaty as soon as possible.

Mr. Munchmeyer counted on a monetary union's speeding up the wearisome process of harmonization in the EEC. Divergences in taxation systems and in other legislation affecting competition could probably be ironed out more rapidly if monetary and credit policies throughout the EEC were based on uniform tax measures and if the free flow of money and capital was permitted itself to even out interest rate levels.

A European monetary union - said Mr. Münchmeyer - could spare Germany the dilemma it faced every two years or so, either of altering the exchange rate or of allowing itself to be drawn along in the inflationary stream of the others. It would be essential, however, for a European central monetary institution to have the backing of national governments, and for it to feel as committed to the ideal of price stability just as closely as to the ideals of growth and full employment. Mr. Münchmeyer thought that even in France and Italy the basic conditions for this had improved. Moreover, the Federal Republic could throw its economic weight into the balance more effectively through a European central bank in the event of its being necessary to dam inflationary trends.

The exchange rates of EEC currencies were virtually bonded together by the policy underlying the agricultural market regulations. To alter exchange rates was scarcely possible today since this would immediately hit farmers' incomes and necessitate yet further subsidies. Only a small step would be needed to arrive at a situation where parities were permanently fixed and margins of fluctuation abolished. Fixed rates of exchange were an essential feature of a monetary union.

(Industriekurier and Die Welt, 14 September 1968)

10. The Secretary-General of 'Force Ouvrière': Access by the CGT to European institutions should be barred

In an address delivered at Charleville-Mezières before union delegates of the 'Force Ouvrière' (iron and steel), Mr. Antoine Laval, general secretary of the union, alluded to events in Czechoslovakia which - he said - had once again shown the profound significance of the aims of men of good will like Jean Monnet and Robert Schuman, the founders of the ECSC. It was not enough to denounce the overwhelming power wielded by the two blocs that had come into being at Yalta.

'As always, we believe that the free and democratic United States of Europe would serve as a balancing force and as an outstanding factor for peace – something which the president of the French Republic appears to want to ignore. We are therefore opposed to the admission of the French and Italian Communist unions, the CGT and the CGIL, to bodies of the European Communities. This would be to let in the Trojan horse. If the French Government were to accept responsibility for this it would have serious consequences. The free international trade union movement as a whole would then have to take appropriate steps so as not to surrender what it had struggled for over the past twenty years.'

Previously Mr. Laval had fully approved the statement made by Mr. André Bergeron, confederal secretary of the FO, following General de Gaulle's conference, regarding participation projects, and had also firmly backed a resumption of the building of a Europe enlarged by the admission of Great Britain and all the free and democratic countries of Europe. 'The Communist countries of the East, as well as Greece, Spain and Portugal, have no place here because their activities are those of dictatorships'.

(Combat, 16 September 1968)

11. For the Secretary-General of the French Farmers' Unions the new French agricultural policy can only assume a European form

Mr. Michel Debatisse recently attended the annual congress of the Departmental Association of the Farmers' Unions of the Charente in Angoulême.

The general secretary of the National Federation of Farmers' Unions approved the broad lines of the new policy defined by the French Minister for Agriculture which posed the problem of organizing farming so as to adapt it to the needs of the consumer. He felt, however, that the new trend in French agricultural policy would only serve a useful purpose in so far as it was applied within the framework of the European Community. Any decisions ought to be taken jointly with France's partners. That the French should accept sacrifices while its partners – the Germans or Dutch, for example – continued to act on their own, was out of the question.

(Le Monde, 24 September 1968; Le Figaro, 23 September 1968)

12. Mr. Berg, Chairman of the Federal Association of German Industry (BDI), on European development

At the opening of the Industrial Fair in Berlin the Chairman of the Federal Association of German Industry outlined the situation in the EEC.

Mr. Berg described this as favourable on balance and said that the economic upswing was receiving a powerful impetus from the larger market. Renewed drive and fresh initiatives were, however, now needed. On the road from customs union to economic union, policies and taxation, competition and trade were of major importance. Monetary and short-term economic policies throughout Europe had to be co-ordinated more closely. A number of questions had still to be settled in connexion with the merger of the three treaties. Last but not least, German industry remained in favour of throwing open the doors of the EEC to countries desirous of entering it.

Mr. Berg firmly opposed a revaluation of the Deutsche Mark. Many people clearly clung stubbornly to the view that it was the healthy person who should be operated to cure the sick. But such remedies would heal nobody. Nor did it show much economic insight to blame a country for the success of a policy of stability instead of using it as a model – a country which, incidentally, had done all it could to support other currencies.

'Our view on the subject is quite clear: only fixed exchange rates can keep the wheels of world trade turning. The Federal Republic of Germany, as the second largest world trader, is particularly keen on stepping up cooperation in the field of monetary policy and in helping to steer every country within the framework of the EEC, the OECD and the Group of Ten - towards internal economic stability. Independent monetary policy measures would run directly counter to these aims.'

The same remarks applied to integration, a requirement that could only be met with fixed rates of exchange. Mr. Berg attached particular importance to the question of integration. German industry was working hard to smooth out differences in trade policy in Europe. It could not consent to projects or stand idly by if these brought further discrepancies into being. 'We must see to it that the European Economic Community becomes a stronghold of stability.'

(Industriekurier, 28 September 1968)

		1
		1
		1
		1
		1
,		1
		1
		1
		1
		1
,		

AT THE COMMUNITY AND INTERNATIONAL LEVEL

I. THE COMMUNITY EXECUTIVE

1. Speech by Mr. Jean Rey, President of the Commission of the European Communities, in the Hamburg Overseas Club

The customs union completed on 1 July had to broaden out into an effective economic union as soon as possible, said Mr. Jean Rey, speaking to the Hamburg Overseas Club on 11 July. Above all, this meant removing fiscal frontiers and all customs formalities; it also meant common policies for trade, industry and research and a standard European currency.

The Commission would, in this way, work for the merger of the three existing European Treaties in a new general treaty, endeavouring to ensure it was adapted to the needs of its function as the prime mover of further Community development and as the manager of the day-to-day business of the EEC. He pointed out that the Luxembourg decisions restricting the scope of the majority decision principle on the Council of Ministers had not been recognized by the Commission. It regarded the right of veto as antiquated and inappropriate.

The Commission would do everything to promote a closer involvement of the peoples of Europe in European affairs, particularly through the introduction of direct elections to the European Parliament.

(Die Welt, 13 July 1968)

2. The German members of the EEC Commission criticise the French measures for dealing with the economic crisis

Addressing journalists in Bonn, Messrs. Hellwig, von der Groeben and Haferkamp, the German members of the European Commission, discussed the significance of 1 July and explained the aims that the Community ought, in

the Commission's view, to pursue in its further development. With reference to the most recent French protective measures, the Commission's view was that although it agreed with the French assessment of the economic situation, it could not approve of the scope or term of the measures taken.

The Commission was, in principle, ready to acknowledge that the conditions for applying Article 109 of the EEC Treaty obtained; under this 'when a sudden crisis in the balance of payments occurs... the member State concerned may provisionally take the necessary protective measures'; it has the right to do so directly and independently; but, Mr. von der Groeben pointed out, these measures should be no more than a containment exercise, remaining in force for a few weeks at most and certainly not stretching over a period of six months. The Commission stressed, however, that France had acted by reference to Article 108, being the Community's 'mutual assistance' dispensation.

On the other hand, the members of the Commission stressed that France was ready to implement the customs union on 1 July as planned. This would have a greater impact than the trade and economic policy measures which Paris had taken after the domestic crisis in France. Import restrictions would affect only 20 per cent of French imports; the quotas were furthermore set higher than imports for 1967. The important point was that the French measures were not too far-reaching. They were, however, politically important because the decisions were taken by a Community body and not unilaterally by a member State. The solidarity of the other Five was involved.

Great difficulties might be expected in the near future in monetary policy. The German Commission members welcome the initiative by the German Government of supporting measures in favour of France through the Council of Ministers. The Treaty did not state what action was possible; one possibility in their opinion, however, was that the member States could reduce the rate of the turnover tax to help imports from France.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 2 July 1968)

3. Mr. Victor Bodson, a member of the Commission, looks into the social policy of the Community on 1 July 1968 and the rôle of the younger generation

When the Commission of the Communities was publishing a statement on the implications of 1 July 1968, Mr. Bodson, a member of the

Commission, was speaking in Luxembourg on the social policy of the Community and on the rôle of the younger generation.

Mr. Bodson began by stressing the partial nature of the Community's social policy: 'The achievements of the High Authority and the EEC Commission – in favour of workers in other branches of the economy – still do not rank as "social policy". The social achievements of the Community have had neither the scale nor the comprehensive nature that is characteristic of a social policy; they do not embrace all aspects of living and working conditions and are not the outcome of a firmly-established overall policy; the Communities must be content only to take action when an opportunity appears and not always when technical and economic development creates a need or offers a chance. Many opportunities have been missed, particularly because the European Treaties did not give the Community bodies all the tools they need to achieve the high aims – justifiably high aims – that the Treaties proposed to them.

In this respect there is cause for hope, for it has already been decided that a new common treaty shall come into force to replace the present three.

I hope that, in the new treaty, use will be made of the experience gained, in turn, by the ECSC High Authority, the EEC Commission and the Commission of the European Communities. I hope that it will actually have some "social weight", not only in its statement of aims but also in the means made available. I hope that the new treaty will give the Commission the necessary support from the social standpoint. In any case, it will be subject to the agreement of the governments and the support of the trade unions.'

He called upon the trade unions to readjust their structures at the European level and to create a trade union Community, adding: 'If the Commission can, with the help of this new structure, find a standing partner to talk to and if a balance of power is achieved at the Community level, this will open up the way towards establishing and applying a European social policy.'

Speaking of the rôle of the younger generation, Mr. Bodson stated that recent events had proved the aversion of the young for the consumer society, for rates of economic growth and for the gross national product. The younger generation wanted society to be transformed and was relying on a dialogue which could enable it to participate in this society on its own terms. Hence the Commission had decided to call a colloquy of European youth: 'For we have much to learn from the younger generation. We would particularly like to know what Europe the younger generation wants. The young will live in the building that we are now constructing; it is therefore quite pertinent to ask its

opinion about the building plans. If we do not do this, there is the danger of having worked for nothing. In a few years' time, in that event, the younger generation would try to destroy the work which we should, by then, only just have completed.

The colloquy will not be concerned only with production and distribution but also with the problems of business administration and cultural issues. The universities and methods of instruction as a whole will play an important part in the discussions.

It is the business of the European Commission to see to it that the Community carried through the process of change at the same time as the member States which comprise it and not to lag behind, for the delay would be attributable to the European organizations themselves and they would be completely ruined in the eyes of the workers and the younger generation.'

(Tageblatt, 2 July 1968)

4. Mr. Mansholt discusses the responsibility of the United States and Europe for expanding trade with the Third World

Interviewed by a Belgian newspaper, Mr. Mansholt, Vice-President of the European Commission, said with reference to aid for the developing countries: 'We can only bitterly regret these two successive failures. The Kennedy Round yielded nothing for the developing countries and was simply a ''deal'' made by the ''rich men's club''. Hopes then centred on UNCTAD; this was not because it could solve the problems arising once and for all but it was hoped that progress would be made and provisions enacted to solve the major issue of trade.

It did not work mainly because of a lack of political initiative on the part of the prosperous countries; one may even say that it was because of their political ill-will which is, in my view, mainly due to a considerable lack of foresight about this problem. The "politicians" representing the UN countries showed too little understanding here. This problem is no longer considered from the political angle because it is too small, too limited, and it is looked at from the point of view of trade. It has once again been brought home to us that an international organization is needed because, on their own, men cannot progress quickly enough.'

Mr. Mansholt certainly felt that the solution had to come through an international organization but he thought that this should be so framed that such major countries as the United States and the European Community took a hand in directing the work. In the interests of efficiency, the European Community ought, perhaps, to assume the quality of a political community. So far the European Community had fared no better than other countries; neither had it exhibited a very wide view of this issue.

The United States and the European Community had to give an example and clearly state what initiatives they were ready to take; these would have to be far-reaching.

They could then try to reach an agreement with the less-developed regions which, for their part, had to recognize that a series of guarantees must be forthcoming to assure the prosperous countries that what they would like to achieve would, in fact, be realized.

'I do not see that there would be any point in calling a further conference of 80 countries. Certain countries should first of all prepare and then try to put down on paper the broad outlines of an agreement. This could then be submitted to others. Perhaps a comparison may be made here with the Treaty on the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons. Two great powers, the United States and the USSR, have reached an agreement. The broad outlines of the agreement are laid down and other countries are now free to subscribe to it or not.'

As for the food shortage in the Third World, Mr. Mansholt thought that this could be approached in different ways: 'I think that we ought to be able to increase the food level of these countries appreciably in the short term by ensuring a surplus production equal to their needs and by making a gift to them of this. Yet any final increase in the food level of these countries must be based on their own production, which means improving the technical level of their agriculture. A whole programme has been finalized for this purpose but this, too, is moving forward too slowly, mainly for lack of funds because it is very expensive.

(De Standaard, 15 July 1968)

5. Professor Levi Sandri's views on the Franco-German meeting held in Bonn on 27 and 28 September 1968

Interviewed by the magazine 'Avanti' on the meeting in Bonn on 27 and 28 September 1968 between General de Gaulle and Chancellor Kiesinger, Professor Levi Sandri, Vice-President of the Commission of the European Communities, made the following comments:

- Q. 'What importance do you think should be attached to the General's statements, which appear to imply a distinct threat that France may leave the Common Market?
- A. I do not know which is the correct version of the statements made in Bonn. If, as I have read in the press, it is true that it was said that "France lived for a long time without the Common Market and could still do so", then one could not contradict those who argue that France wishes to live in the age of Louis XIV and not in the year of grace 1968.

All the European countries, furthermore, lived up till the second world war shunning any form of co-operation or integration. We saw the results of this in two world wars and it was here in Europe that they began. The truth is that no European State, that wishes to be really independent and does not want to become a vassal of the United States or the Soviet Union, is in a position to "go it alone" by refusing to integrate its economy in a wider market and rejecting any co-operation with other European countries which have the same interests to defend and the same traditions to safeguard. Whether we like it or not, we are in the same boat and if we "go it alone" or act in an unco-ordinated manner, the boat will not go one metre forward. France is less in a position than others to opt out of co-operating and integrating if it wishes to find a solution to its own agricultural problems - with its surplus production - and its own industry, which is weak enough, to the point when the four weeks of strikes in May called for safeguard measures to be taken by the Community.

Q. How do you explain Chancellor Kiesinger's satisfaction at the close of the talks with General de Gaulle, considering the fact that the latter dismissed in a couple of words the proposals which Mr. Brandt made to the Council of EEC Foreign Ministers on behalf of his own government, and which the "Five" had accepted?

- A. I would repeat that I do not have any precise version of the statements made and the conclusions drawn in Bonn. It is true that one cannot but be depressed by the apparent uncertainty and passive attitude of our German friends; in particular, I am thinking of Mr. Brandt, who proposed what was undoubtedly a modest plan of approach in Brussels the day before; but this solution had the merit of leaving open the door to an enlargement of the Community including Britain. I am also thinking of the statements made a few days before by Mr. Schmidt for the Socialist Group and by Mr. Barzel for the Christian Democrats. I am thinking also of the statements made by Mr. Kiesinger in reply to two speakers. And I ask how we could have accepted if it is true that they accepted them the conclusions apparently reached at the Bonn talks. It is obvious that the French must have made use of let us call them considerations which were both weighty and grave.
- Q. Is it possible at this stage to go on talking of "European co-operation"?
- A. It is difficult to say but it is certain that we must find a new approach. The uniting of Europe cannot come to a halt and, above all, it cannot be changed into a Community of States submitted to France. What is most striking and the cause of most concern in the present situation is this sovereign contempt exhibited by France for the "Five" even though they have made every effort to satisfy the demands of the sixth partner. Yet this sixth partner has not even taken the slightest step forward. How is it possible to talk in a situation like this of "European co-operation"?
- Q. Does it still seem possible to you to talk of getting Europe off to a new start? And if so, with what means and resources? And Italian socialism and the trade unions, which in our country are already virtually European, is it possible that they should have nothing to say?
- A. To get Europe going again, if it is to be done successfully, we need not only to work through the agency of governments and summit meetings but also to rely for support on the specific wishes of our people, the parties and the trade unions, which should interpret the people's aspirations. It is possible that the parties and trade unions still do not understand that the future of our country is at stake in Europe and that it is at the European level that we must take up the decisive challenge? As regards those of us who are socialists, a clearer and more definite stand, consisting not only in statements of principle but in definite acts and government programmes, is now absolutely indispensable. We should discuss this in the Congress.'

(Avanti, 2 October 1968)



II. MOVEMENTS, ORGANIZATIONS AND PROMINENT FIGURES

1. The Executive Committee of the Free Unions of the Six in favour of reviving the Community by consolidating its democratic structure

The Executive Committee of the Confederations of Free Trade Unions in the member States met in Düsseldorf from 10 to 11 July 1968, under the chairmanship of Mr. Rosenberg and took a number of decisions.

After hearing a report of Mr. Bergeron, Secretary-General of the 'Force Ouvrière' union, on its attitude to the events of last May, the Executive Committee congratulated Force Ouvrière on the results achieved at the trade union level during this difficult period.

The Executive Committee stressed that the present difficulties facing the French economy had jointly to be solved by the Six and, acting by reference to the Treaty of Rome, the Community bodies had to keep a close watch on the nature, scale and duration of the safeguard measures taken by France.

As from autumn 1968, the Executive Committee would initiate a campaign to revive the European idea at the level of the general public and particularly among workers. This would stress the need to strengthen the democratic structure of the Community and enlarge it to embrace all the other democratic countries of Europe.

The Executive Committee also wanted to see less rigid formalities at the frontiers, a harmonization of taxation systems and a watch on prices on behalf of the consumers. At the same time, it demanded the immediate introduction of a common policy for employment and occupational training.

The Executive Committee said that the creation of the future European-type company, which would lead to economic concentration, should not be detrimental to the workers.

The Executive Committee welcomed the agreement between workers and management in agriculture to harmonize the length of the working week.

The Trade Union Confederations of the Six considered that the 45-hour week was a valid basis for harmonizing the working conditions of wage-earners in agriculture and the Executive Committee saw this agreement as a first step towards the conclusion of collective agreements at European level.

(Press release from the Secretariat of the International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, 11 July 1968)

2. COPA discusses European milk problems

At a meeting held on 12 September the Committee of the Common Market's farmers' unions (COPA) noted that in every country of the European Community the milk prices paid to producers were distinctly lower than the guide price of 39 Pfennig - i.e. Bfrs. 4.55 per litre - for milk with a 3.3 per cent fat content.

The Committee attributed this situation to the inadequacy of the measures for the organization of markets adopted by the EEC Council of Ministers on 29 May 1968. COPA urged the Commission to introduce, in agreement with the farmers' trade unions, emergency measures and short and long-term facilities so as to redress the situation which had long been a source of serious concern to the farming population.

COPA wanted to discuss with the European authorities the different points which President Mansholt intended to raise before the Council of Ministers on the subject of structure policy. It hoped that the entire agricultural policy would be reviewed from the angle not only of structures but also of pricing policy, social policy, commercial policy etc.

The farmers' unions stated that the guarantees offered to producers lay between the intervention price for butter and that for skimmed milk powder but were insufficient to assure them the guide price. This had led primary dairies to reduce by Bfrs. 0.25 per litre the price paid to the producer for milk with a 3.3 per cent fat content. The price of Bfrs. 4.55 per litre had been applied since 1 April 1965. Between then and April 1968 production costs on farms had risen by 10.4 per cent. It was impossible, therefore, to permit a reduction in the milk price which would automatically entail a fall in farm revenue of Bfrs. 100,000. The bulk of the revenue affected was that of most of the small and medium-sized farms. The problem was therefore a crucial one, particularly in areas handicapped by the climate and the quality of the soil.

The free movement of goods had severely hit Belgian cheese dairies. Between August 1967 and August 1968 cheese manufacture had decreased by 48 per cent. Milk normally intended for cheese-making was being marketed in its liquid form, thus leading to fierce competition and pressure on the price to the consumer.

At the annual general meeting of the Gildes Wallones of the Boerenbond (farmers' union) held at Louvain on 17 September 1966 Mr. Héger, Belgian Minister for Agriculture, expressed disappointment at the attitude of the farmers of the other member States. Rules would have to be laid down to put an end to a chaotic situation which threatened to become even more dangerous. Price undercutting must cease. All concerned must wake up to the solidarity binding them to their partners and comply with the regulations adopted and the prices fixed by common consent.

(Le Soir, 15 and 16 September 1968; De Standaard, 18 September 1968)

3. Problems of European agricultural policy discussed at the International Grain Conference in Hamburg

At the International Grain Conference held in Hamburg on 19 September 1968, Mr. Toepfer, chairman of the Association of Grain Dealers of the Hamburg exchange, called for a drastic restriction on grain cultivation in the EEC.

On the subject of farm surpluses, on which the discussions centred, Mr. Toepfer, like Vice-President Mansholt of the Commission of the European Communities, held that the balance of the market could no longer be restored by means of the pricing policy. He proposed that 5 million hectares should be taken out of cultivation so as to cut grain production by some 15 million tons. This would entail a mortgage of about DM 600 million to be financed by the State. In addition, farmers could also be paid certain compensatory premiums.

Mr. Mansholt agreed with Mr. Toepfer in principle that surpluses could only be abolished and farmers assured of a suitable level of income if rationalization were continued, after overhauling the agricultural structure and restricting production, in bigger farming units. This would give rise to an immense social problem for whose solution the entire population of the European Community would have to raise a sum of several thousand million units of account a year. But this expenditure would then be used to bring about

a really effective solution, unlike that incurred in pursuing the present aimless agricultural policy. No ready-made solution was however available. At the end of October, however, the Commission would lay before the Council of Ministers a document containing proposals outlining how restrictions on production should be carried out.

(Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung, 20 September 1968)

4. The 18th Congress of the European Christian Democrat Union (ECDU) stresses the Christian Democrat support of a united Europe.

The European Christian Democrat Parties held their 18th Congress in Venice from 12 to 15 September 1968.

In his opening address the President of the ECDU, Mr. Rumor, deplored Europe's absence from the world's political stage. Recent events, he said, had demonstrated the lameness of France's ambition to be the guardian of European security, by running its own nuclear race in isolation.

It was the long-established, firm conviction of the more realistic and enlightened observers that the integrity and independence of Europe, its capacity for initiative and its international weight could only be based on the political integration of the continent and its transition to the status of a federal State which would have parity with the United States.

There was, he said, another reason for Europe's weakness and the hoped-for progress in détente was liable to aggravate it if Europe were not unified. While it was true that the Russian intervention in Czechoslovakia had completely stripped the East European countries of their independence, it was obvious that the whole network of cultural, economic and trade relations between the European countries in both political areas would be increasingly subject to the Moscow line. There was thus a danger that Moscow would be presented with an easy opportunity to bring pressure in the contentions between the various European countries and in the context of their divergent economic and trade interests, to increase and aggravate the disparities.

Mr. Colombo expressed similar views. There were two types of détente: the détente between the Russians and the Americans, which precluded an all-out nuclear war but which did not underwrite the autonomy, freedom and sovereignty of the smaller nations and which did not preclude local conflicts;

the other type of détente was that between the Warsaw Pact countries and those of Western Europe. This brought in some of the fresh air of freedom; it attenuated the effects of the policy of blocs; it could, in the long run, lead to a wider Europe in which first co-operation and then integration could give the whole continent its own independent character. It was clear, however, that this course could only be pursued if there were a minimum of homogeneity between the various countries, that is, a minimum of freedom and democracy.

Mr. Colombo went on to say that the Russian intervention in Czechoslovakia had put a brake on the policy for by-passing the blocs; it had blotted out the wider vision of Europe. The Soviet Union had shown it did not want a détente between Europeans because it eluded the logic of the blocs; on the other hand, it could accept the policy pursued by individual Western States vis-à-vis the East European countries, as was the case with France insofar as these represented an obstacle to supranational integration and to the political construction of Europe.

What Russians feared most was the process of political unification in Europe, not least because of the attraction that it would exercise on the East European countries. When, therefore, European integration was held in check politically, this inevitably favoured the policy of the blocs. This indeed was the meaning of the mistaken answer given in Gaullist policy to the problems of Europe: to believe that the Europe of nation States was up to meeting the American challenge and that it could have real influence in world affairs.

Mr. Colombo went on to point out that there were problems affecting the growth of Europe in areas not covered by the European treaties. Here, he said, one could perhaps be guided by the principle that to make Europe with France meant having the courage to do something even without France. Some initiative on the part of the Five, guided by their supranational convictions, was therefore needed, and they should call upon each European country, particularly France and Britain, to pronounce on various proposals. These could be: (a) a monetary community; (b) a technological community; (c) a European form of Atlantic Pact and an answer to common defence problems.

The Congress concluded by passing the following resolution:

١٦

(A) In view of the tragic events in Czechoslovakia - the most recent Soviet violation of the independence of nations - the Christian Democrat parties

express their solidarity with the Czechoslovakian people and condemn the Soviet aggression against a nation whose only sin was the wish to remain master of its own destiny.

Once again Communism has shown its totalitarian character, not hesitating to use armed force to suppress the desire to progress and the yearning for freedom which so deeply reflect the aspirations of the people.

- (B) It is becoming increasingly clear that the unity of Europe is a prerequisite for its independence, its development and its security. The Christian Democrat parties have worked effectively for this ideal and have gone some of the way towards establishing new structures but they make it clear that a tremendous effort is needed to consolidate the work of uniting Europe so as to ensure that future generations may have a real chance to progress for it is they who will enliven Europe with their dynamism and their generosity.
- (C) In a world too familiar with war, the Christian Democrat parties are ready to co-operate fully to create the conditions for real peace.

They consider that the creation of a united Europe is fundamental to easing tension.

They would point out that force has proved incapable of overcoming the present conflicts, which can only be ended by negotiation.

They suggest that new moves should be made to give the United Nations greater authority and greater effectiveness.

On this twentieth anniversary of the Declaration of Human Rights, they strongly deplore the continuous violation of the provisions of this universal charter.

They strongly condemn all the totalitarian régimes which trample on freedom while, at the same time, expressing their wholehearted solidarity with the oppressed peoples.

They reaffirm that a lasting peace must be based on justice and that the solution to the problems of the developing countries is an inseparable adjunct to peace.

They repeat that it is increasingly urgent to organize co-operation with the Latin American countries.

European unity would have a decisive effect on the introduction of a policy of international co-operation, which alone could solve the problems of under-development. This co-operation would be based on loyal co-operation with the United States of America.

TT

- (A) The progress of Europe calls, particularly at the Community level, for:
 - The Communities to operate under conditions which safeguard and consolidate the independence of the Commission;
 - Maintaining the principle of majority decisions within the Council of Ministers;
 - Elections by direct universal suffrage to the European Parliament and an increase in its powers;
 - 4. The enlargement of the Community to include the democratic countries of Europe and specifically the United Kingdom.
- (B) The progress of Europe also calls for greater co-ordination in the action of the European Christian Democrat parties, in regard to which it is particularly necessary to look into forms of association between the EEC and Latin America.
- (C) To be able to play a really valid part in world affairs, the countries of Europe must first and foremost adjust their own political structures to bring them into line with the prospect of a modern and integrated Europe.
- (D) The administrative structures also need overhauling, bearing in mind the cultural and economic evolution of local communities, which in turn calls for an increased participation by the citizens in the democratic life of their country. The first aim of this new approach should be to de-centralize and multiply the centres of power; the examination of this point should be pursued actively and even more thoroughly.

- (E) All these reforms to renew the national societies can only be carried through with the support of an adequate cultural policy. With this in mind, there could be a whole series of new moves towards cultural co-operation and participation on a European scale. It is here that Europe's ability to take up the challenge of our time will be tested, particularly the challenge latent in the aspirations of the younger generation, which expresses its concern through disputes.
- (F) True to their own aspirations, the Christian Democrat parties must make a substantial contribution in creating new economic structures, both operationally and in terms of scale, using planning to establish a real economic democracy and satisfy man's reasonable needs. It would also seem essential to associate workers with the decision-taking functions in enterprises.

Ш

These observations are liable, however, to pass unheeded in Europe's present state of stagnation.

The completion of the customs union simply makes it even more urgent to stimulate a strong and coherent political will, which the Europeans have for too long been lacking.

It is for this reason that the Christian Democrats are making this earnest appeal to all democratic forces in Western Europe and primarily to the young, so that they may take up the challenge of building an enlarged, politically integrated Europe and working out together the lines of their political strategy.'

(Il Popolo, 15 and 16 September 1968)

5. The political congress of the European Movement in the Netherlands

During the political congress of the European Movement, which was held in Rotterdam from 21 to 23 September, Mr. Mansholt, Vice-President of the European Commission, stated that the economic integration of Europe would not automatically lead to its political unification. Would it be taking a risk, he went on to argue, that a political Community was neither bound to nor necessarily limited to, the countries which had already integrated their economies?

It was fatal to give birth to illusions which could not become realities. The search for a way of getting Europe out of its present deadlock should never lead to the adoption of fallacious solutions or compromises which called into question the principles of a supranational Community. 'I do think, however, that we are not violating any of these principles if we try to bring together, in a political community, all the democratic countries which now wish to belong to it.'

Referring to the events in Czechoslovakia, Mr. Mansholt said that what was claimed to be a policy for easing tension - as pursued by our national capitals to date - had led to disasters of the kind experienced by Hungary and more recently by Czechoslovakia. The usual way of explaining these events was to say there were only two alternatives: either to pursue a policy for easing tension or to return to the cold war. This political view was wrong. 'If, not wanting a cold war, the only possibility open to us were to pursue a policy for easing tension this would be tantamount to capitulating to Moscow. We must avoid pursuing a purely bilateral policy. What we need is a Community platform for our foreign policy. It is only on this condition that we shall have a basis for negotiating with the Eastern European countries. As time goes by and as we show that we can make ourselves felt at the supranational level as a democratic Community whose organization involves no submission to a hegemony, the East European countries will be able to begin gradually to introduce democracy and a more liberal dispensation. The experience we have gained from our contacts with the COMECON countries has taught us how much these countries are interested in institutions which offer an alternative to dictatorship. The decision to normalize relations between the countries of Europe is not for others to take. It is we, ourselves, who must take it.'

Professor Brugmans, principal of the European College at Bruges said that the European Movement had to return to the idea it started from twenty years ago when it put the case for a Europe which would also include the smaller countries of the Eastern bloc and recognize the security needs of the Soviet Union on its Western frontiers. Twenty years ago, the Soviet Union chose a policy of making the East European countries into satellites. The many revolts that had taken place in Eastern Europe showed, however, that this policy had been a complete failure when seen from the standpoint of history. What on the other hand had not failed had been the concept of a socialism that was based on freedom. Hence Western Europe had fully to accept the socialist regime of the East European countries, i.e. a system based on the production of goods and on the collective ownership of the means of production. It was from this point that these countries had to try and achieve integration: they had to bring into being a socialist common market which would form a confederation with the common market of Western Europe. Mr. Brugmans felt that the Council of Europe in Strasbourg could be a valid vehicle in this context.

In its final communiqué, the political congress of the European Movement stated that a politically united Europe had to have the necessary military power to be able to secure its defences. This power had to be integrated and come under governmental institutions which were subject to democratic control. The communiqué furthermore explicitly stressed that the defence policy of a united Europe could not take as its aim the creation of a new military superpower. It had on the contrary to be subject to efforts designed to control and reduce conventional and nuclear armaments throughout the world. It was in order to contribute to this that Europe ought to agree not to become an independent nuclear power. Finally the communiqué stated that the security of Europe could not be lastingly based on anything except a world defence system.

(Nieuw Europa, September 1968; Nieuwe Rotterdamse Courant, 21 and 23 September 1968)

6. The 21st Congress of the Liberal International launches an appeal in favour of a united Europe

The Liberal International, which held its 21st Congress in The Hague from 20 to 24 September, concluded the proceedings by unanimously passing a resolution on the international situation in which, interalia, problems relating to European unification were also discussed.

In this connexion, the resolution stated: 'Consolidating the defence capability of the free nations... calls for a better balance within NATO concerning influence and the powers of decision; it also requires major progress towards the unification of the democratic part of Europe and, lastly, a radical improvement in the Charter and effectiveness of the United Nations.

To achieve these ends, the unification of Europe is of fundamental importance. The Liberal International notes with satisfaction that the Christian Democrat International and the Social Democrat International share this view and are ready to co-operate with regard to this vital issue. The Liberal International considers that a meeting of the three Internationals could serve a very useful purpose in this context.

At present the unification and the actual defence of Europe are confronted with serious obstacles in the form of General de Gaulle's policy and in the lack of political courage, imagination and initiative on the part of the

other governments. Pursuant to the decision taken at the meeting of Liberal leaders in London in March 1968, the Liberal International is proposing to the member States, the United Kingdom, Denmark, Ireland and Norway that a start be made at once to creating common policies and common institutions; this would include direct elections to a European Parliament. The common policies should include external relations, digarmament, developing scientific research and technology, education and cultural relations and those aspects of aid, investments and trade with the developing countries and economic and monetary affairs not covered by the Treaties of Rome. In the long run, the participation of France is essential but a start could and must be made even if France were temporarily and deplorably absent: it would in no way be directed against that State but would in reality be serving its interests.

A democratically united Europe would be comparable to the USA and the USSR and would increase its moral, political and material resources. It would make a decisive contribution to world prosperity, to its balance and to its security. Gradually but inevitably, it would exercise a liberal influence on conditions in countries living under the authoritarian or totalitarian oppression in Central and Eastern Europe, in the Baltic States, in Greece, Spain and Portugal. It would facilitate solutions to certain specific problems which today threaten peace and freedom.'

(La Nuova Tribuna, October 1968)



METHODICAL BIBLIOGRAPHY

This bibliography gives a selection of titles of books acquired and periodicals examined by the Library of the European Parliament during the period covered by this edition of the Digest.

1. General Matters

1.- BALL, George W.: The Discipline of power. Essentials of a modern world structure. London (etc.), Bodley Head, (1968), 363 p. (20.570) (bibliographie) 2. - BARZEL, Rainer: Gesichtspunkte eines Deutschen. Düsseldorf, Wien, Econ-Verl., (1968). 291 p. 8 (20.529)3.- HALLETT, Graham: Britain and the future of Germany. (The Political Quarterly, no 3, July-September 1968, p. 283-300). 4.- BROMBERGER, Merry, BROMBERGER, Serge: Les Coulisses de l'Europe. Paris, Presses de la Cité, (1968). 418 p. 80 (20.672)5.- CAMPS, Miriam: Die Diskussionen über die politische Union. (Die Internationale Politik. 1962. München, Wien, 1968. p. 111-167). (8255)6.- CAMPS, Miriam: Is "Europe" obsolete? (International Affairs, no 3, July 1968, p. 434-445). 7.- CAMPS, Miriam: Hat die europäische Idee noch eine Zukunft? (Europa-Archiv, n° 14, 25. Juli 1968, p. 495-507).

8. - CLUB DEMOCRATIE DIRECTE. Boulogne-sur-Seine: La Politique internationale de la France. Conférence-débat avec la participation de David Rousset. (Paris, le 25 mai 1966). Boulogne-sur-Seine, Club Démocratie Directe, (1966), 54 p. (multigr.) 4 (20.195)9. - CONGRES 1968 Europese Beweging in Nederland (Rotterdam). Congresverklaring. (Nieuw Europa, n^o 9, september 1968, p. 194-197, 200). 10. - DROUIN, Pierre: L'Europe du marché commun. Nouv. éd. remise à jour au 1er janvier 1968. (Paris), Julliard, 1968. 416 p. . tabl. 80 (14.899/1)11.- DUNK, H.W. von; Tien jaar de Gaulle.
(Nieuw Europa, n^o 9, september 1968, p. 203-206). 12. - EUROPAEISCHE politische Einigung ...: Europäische politische Einigung, 1949-1968. Dokumentation von Vorschlägen u. Stellungnahmen. Zsgest. von Heinrich Siegler. Bonn (etc.), Siegler, (1968). XXV, 435 p. 80 (Dokumentationen der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Auswärtige Politik). (20.420) Ex. 1-3 (R. 20,420) Ex. 4 13. - FERRAT, André: L'Europe et le socialisme. (La Revue Socialiste, no 216, août-octobre 1968, p. 785-807). 14. - GRAZIANO, Luigi: La Politica estera italiana nel dopoguerra. Padova, Marsilio, (1968), 189 p., fig. 8 (Collana di Attualità politica, 2). (20.314) (notes bibliogr.) 15. - KULSKI, W.W.: De Gaulle and the world. The foreign policy of the Fifth French Republic. (Syracuse, N.Y.), Syracuse U.P., (1966). XVI, 428 p. (20, 245) (bibliographie) 16. - LEGRAND-LANE, Raymond: Oû en sont les Communautés Européennes? (Projet, n^o 26, juin 1968, p. 653-665). (20.283)

17.- LUNEN, Matthieu van: Politique et économie dans l'intégration européenne. (Res Publica, n^o 2, 1968, p. 279-313). 18.- MARCHAL-VAN BELLE, G.: Les Socialistes belges et l'intégration européenne. Bruxelles, Ed. de l'Institut de Sociologie de l'Université Libre de Bruxelles, 1968, 190 p. 8 (Collection du Centre National d'Etude des Problèmes de Sociologie et d'Economie Européennes). (20.118) (notes bibliogr.) 19. - MELLAERTS, Gaetan: La Génèse du marché commun. Lausanne, Centre de Recherches Européennes, 1968. 97 p. 80 (20.373)20. - NORD, H.R.: Bezinning over Europa en mogelijkheden van een nieuw (Nieuw Europa, n^o 6, juni 1968, p. 143-144; 146). 21.- RELAUNCHING (A) of Benelux? (Common Market, n 4, April 1968, p. 74-80). 22.- REVOLUTION (La) fédéraliste. (Par) Alexandre Marc (e.a.). Paris, Presse d'Europe, 1968. 61 p. 4 (L'Europe en Formation, no 100, juillet 1968). 23.- ROCHEFORT, Robert: Robert Schuman. Postf. du P.A.-M. Carré. Paris, Ed. du Cerf, (1968). 381 p. 80 (20.600)24. - SATTLER, Andreas: Das Prinzip der "Funktionellen Integration" und die Einigung Europas. Die Uebertragung von Hoheitsrechten u. ihre Konsequenzen, untersucht am Beispiel der Europäischen Gemeinschaf-Göttingen, Schwartz, 1967. XIII, 234 p. (Göttinger rechtswissenschaftliche Studien, 68). (20,524) (bibliographie) 25.- SCHOLL-LATOUR, Peter: Das Europa des Generals de Gaulle. (Aussenpolitik, no 4, April 1968, p. 197-205).

- 26.- TRUGBILD Nationalstaat. Mit Beitr. von: Hans von der Groeben (e.a.).
 Köln, Europa Union Verl., (1968). 87 p. 8⁰
 (Europäische Schriften d. Bildungswerks Europäische Politik, 16). (20.282)
- 27.- UNION EUROPEENNE DES DEMOCRATES-CHRETIENS. Nederlandse Equipe. La Haye: Mini- of kosmopolitiek? (Verslag van de studiedag.. op 3 mei 1968 over mogelijkheden en grenzen van Nederlands buitenlands beleid).
 Den Haag, Katholieke Volkspartij, 1968. pp. 171-225. 8⁰ (Politiek, n⁰ 6, juni 1968).
- VANDENBOSCH, Amry: Dutch foreign policy since 1815. A study in small power politics.
 The Hague, Nijhoff, 1959. X, 318 p. 80 (20.564) (bibliographie)
- 29. VISINE, François: ABC de l'Europe. T. 1-2. Paris, Libr. Générale de Droit et de Jurisprudence, 1967-68. 2 vol. 8°
 2. L'Europe juridique. 1968. II, 283 p., tabl. (Economie et législation européennes, 3, 4). (R. 19.708).
- 30.- WESTERN European perspectives on international affairs.
 Public opinion studies and evaluations. Ed. by Richard L. Merritt a.
 Donald J. Puchala. With the ass. of New York (etc.), Praeger, (1968). XX, 552 p., tabl., fig. 8 (Praeger special studies in international politics a. public affairs). (20.328).
- 31.- ZAGARI, Mario: La Sfida europea.
 (Milano), ETAS Kompass, (1968). VIII, 144 p. 80
 (Nuova collana di saggi, 6).
 (20.307).

2. Institutional Matters

32	(Annuaire Français de Droit International. T. 13, 1967. Paris, 1968. p. 587-606). (R. 7887)
33	BELLANGER, François: Contribution à l'étude de la nature juridique des "Accords de Luxembourg" du 29 janvier 1966. (Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Internationaal Recht, n ^o 2, 1968, p. 179-196, 234-235).
34	BERKHOUWER, C.: Dialoog tussen Commissie en Parlement stokt. (Nieuw Europa, n 7-8, juli-augustus 1968, p. 165-166).
35 . –	BRAUN, Nicole-Céline: Les Débats sur l'Europe au Parlement français. (Revue du Marché Commun, n ⁰ 111, avril 1968, p. 645-652).
36	DAUSSIN, Armand: Réflexions sur le statut-type de la fonction publique européenne. (Mélanges offerts à Polys Modinos. Paris, 1968. p. 11-27). (20.755)
37	DEBRE, Michel, REY, Jean, MANSHOLT, Sicco: Le Rôle politique des commissaires. (Agenor, n° 8, 1968, p. 65-68).
38	FEIDT, Jean: L'Activité du Parlement Européen en 1967. (Revue du Marché Commun, n° 111, avril 1968, p. 677-684).
39	GOJAT, Georges: De la nécessité d'une instance arbitrale pour les fonctionnaires européens. (Revue du Marché Commun, n ^o 116, octobre 1968, p. 919-923).
40	KAMPF an zwei Fronten: die Arbeit des Europäischen Parlaments. (Par) Hans Furler, Alain Poher (e.a.) (Europäische Gemeinschaft, n° 5, Mai 1968, p. 22-27).

C.E.E. (Cahiers de Droit Européen, nº 4, 1968, p. 395-419). 42. - LEGRAND-LANE, Raymond: Aspects du parlementarisme européen. (Etudes, avril 1968, p. 511-523). (20.189)43.- MAYNE, Richard: The Institutions of the European Community. London, Chatham House; P.E.P., 1968, 82 p. (European series, 8) (20.252) (bibliographie) 44. - PESCATORE, Pierre: La Répartition des compétences et des pouvoirs entre les Etats membres et les Communautés Européennes. Etude des rapports entre les Communautés et les Etats membres (S.l.n.d., après octobre 1967). II, 107 p. (multigr.) 4 (20,096) (bibliographie) 45.- VALS, Francis: Le Parlement européen: dix ans de lutte pour la démocratie. (La Revue Socialiste, n^o 216, août-octobre 1968, p. 780-784). 46. - WEBER, Jürgen: Die Bemühungen der Beratenden Versammlung des Europarats um Effektivität. (Europa-Archiv, n 19, 10. Oktober 1968, p. 717-724). 47.- WEYDERT, Jean: Une Europe instrumentale. (Projet, n 26, juin 1968, p. 647-652). (20.283)48. - WINTER, J.A.: Parlementaire vragen over aanvulling van het EEGverdrag. (Ars Aequi, n^o 3, maart 1968, p. 76-82).

41. - LASSALLE, Claude: Les Comités et l'évolution institutionnelle de la

3. Economic Matters

49.- ANDRIESSEN, J.E., MIEDEMA, S., OORT, C.J.: De Sociaal-economi-

- sche besturing van Nederland. 4de druk. Groningen, Noordhoff, 1967. 270 p., tabl. fig. 8 (20.115) (bibl.p.chap.) 50. - ARANDA, Gabriel: Ce que représentent vraiment les sociétés américaines en Europe. (Entreprise, no 645, 20 janvier 1968, p. 45-53). 51.- BELIN, Bertrand: La Ficellerie-corderie en Europe. (Revue du Marché Commun, n° 113, juin 1968, p. 765-773). 52.- BERAUD, René Christian: Les Mesures d'effet équivalent au sens des articles 30 et suivants du Traité de Rome. (Revue Trimestrielle de Droit Européen, n° 2, mars-avril 1968, p. 265-292). 53. - BERGEDORFER GESPRAECHSKREIS ZU FRAGEN DER FREIEN INDUSTRIELLEN GESELLSCHAFT. Hambourg: Haben wir im entstehenden Europa noch eine Chance für die freie Marktwirtschaft? (Referent: Hans von der Groeben. 30. Tagung am 6. Mai 1968). (Hamburg, Körber u. Blanck), 1968, 62 p. 8 (Bergedorfer Protokolle, 30). (20.436)
- 54.- BRENNER, Rolf O.: Le Marché commun est-il également possible pour le secteur de la construction? (Revue de la Société d'Etudes et d'Expansion, n^o 230, mars-avril 1968, p. 279-289).
- 55.- BRIGIDA, Franco: La Programmazione in Italia. Padova, Marsilio, (1968). 120 p., tabl. 8⁰ (Collana di Attualità politica, 5). (20.308)
- 56.- BROES, Ernest: L'Approvisionnement en minerai de fer des pays de la C.E.C.A.
 (Revue du Marché Commun, n^o 112, mai 1968, p. 692-702).

57. - CAPERDONI, Enrico: Lo Sviluppo italiano del dopoguerra. Padova, Marsilio, (1968). 191 p., tabl. (Collana di Attualità politica, 8). (20.309) (notes bibliogr.) 58.- COCCO, Jacopo di: The Economic objectives of the Treaty of Rome. (Lo Spettatore Internazionale. English ed., no 3, July/September 1968, p. 286-326). 59. - COMMUNAUTES EUROPEENNES. Presse et Information (Service). Bruxelles: Les Consommateurs dans le marché commun. Bruxelles, Paris, (s.d.) 2 fasc. 4° (Com. 20.438)60. - CONSTANT, S.C., RITTER, Jean, LAIGROZ, Jacques: L'Europe du charbon et de l'acier. Paris, P.U.F., 1968. 199 p., tabl., fig., ill., ct. 80 (Europe de demain, 2). (20.610).61. - DEFI (Le) de la "business school". (Par) Jacques Poujol (e.a.). Paris, Sté. d'Information Commerciale, 1968. 203 p. 8' (Horizons et Conjoncture, no 101-103, mars-juillet 1968). 62. - DEGAND, Cl.: Le Marché commun du cinéma. De la liberté du droit d'établissement dans la distribution au problème du financement et des aides. (Revue du Marché Commun. n° 111. avril 1968. p. 659-667). 63. - DENIAU, Jean-François: La Communauté Economique Européenne en tant qu'ensemble commercial. (Projet, juin 1968). (Problèmes Economiques, no 1.076, 15 août 1968, p. 6-11). 64. - DENTON, Geoffrey, FORSYTH, Murray, MACLENNAN, Malcolm: Economic planning and policies in Britain, France and Germany. London, Allen a. Unwin, (1968). 424 p. (Political and Economic Planning). (20,465) (bibl.p. chap.) 65.- DITGES, Harald: Die EWG-Zollwertanmeldung. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n° 11,

November 1968, p. 427-429).

66. - DOSSIER de la politique régionale européenne. (Communes d'Europe, décembre 1967, p. 3-19). 67.- DUBOIS, Alex: Ce qui a été accompli et ce qui reste à faire pour le fonctionnement harmonieux de l'union douanière. (Revue du Marché Commun, no 118, décembre 1968, p. 1017-1025). 68. - ECONOMIE (L') de la Communauté Européenne. (Par) Pierre Maillet (e.a.). Paris, Sirey, (1968). 642 p., tabl., fig. (L'Economique, 2). (20.361) (bibliographie) 69. - EHLE, Dietrich: Massnahmen mit gleicher Wirkung wie mengenmässige Beschränkungen und ihre Abschaffung im gemeinsamen Markt. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n° 12, Dezember 1967, p. 453-457). 70. - ENTREPRISES (Les) dans le marché commun. Les opérations d'interpénétration. Répertoire des mouvements analysés du 1er janvier au 31 juillet 1968. Paris, Opera Mundi Europe, 1968, 208 p. (Opera Mundi Europe. Série semestrielle, n⁰ 9, 1968). 71. - FERRY, Jacques, REST, Baron van der: Dialogue sur la situation actuelle de la sidérurgie. (Revue de la Société d' Etudes et d'Expansion, nº 230, mars-avril 1968. p. 187-206). 72. - FOURASTIE, Jean, COURTHEOUX, Jean-Paul: La Planification économique en France. 2e êd., ref. Paris, P.U.F., 1968. 314 p., tabl. 80 (L'Economiste, 3). (15.259/1) (notes bibliogr.) 73. - FRANCESCHELLI, Remo: L'Entreprise communautaire. (Revue Trimestrielle de Droit Européen, n° 3, juillet-septembre 1968, p. 538-547). 74. - HEMMER, Carlo: L' Economie du Grand-Duché de Luxembourg. (Revue de la Société d'Etudes et d'Expansion, n° 231, mai-juin 1968, p. 441-460).

(20.497)76.- JAQUELIN, Pierre: Le Rush industriel italien. (Direction, no 149, avril 1968, p. 374-381). 77.- KAPTEYN, P.J.G.: The French exceptional measures: a dangerous precedent. (Common Market, n^o 8-9, August-September 1968, p. 194-196). 78. - KEES, Andreas: Die Dynamik europäischer Koordinierungspolitik. (Zeitschrift für die Gesamte Staatswissenschaft, n° 3, (August 1968, p. 586-605). 79. - KOCH, K.: Die Europäischen Zollvorschriften. (Internationale Wirtschafts-Briefe, Fach 5, Europäische Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft, Gruppe 2, p. 103-110). 80. - KOCH, K.: Der Zollwert im Gemeinschaftsrecht und nationalen Zollrecht. (Internationale Wirtschaftsbriefe, Fach 3, Deutschland, Gruppe 11, p. 391-394). 81.- LA PALOMBARA, Joseph: Clientela e parentela. Studio sui gruppi d'interesse in Italia. (Interest groups in Italian politics. Princeton. N.J., 1964). (Trad. dall'inglese di Cesare Mannucci). (Milano), Ed. di Comunità, 1967. 403 p. 80 (16,648/1) (bibliographie) 82.- LAVENIR, Hervé: Les Perspectives régionales de l'Europe. (Res Publica, n^o 2, 1968, p. 133-149). 83. - LOVEJOY, Robert: Policy making without reference to growth limitations: the Italian case 1960-1964. (Economia Internazionale, n^o 3, agosto 1968, p. 501-514). 84.- MARCHE (Le) commun et les consommateurs français. (Union Agriculture, no 289, octobre 1968, p. 38-42).

75. - ITALIE. Istituto Centrale di Statistica. Rome: I Conti degli italiani.

Compendio della vita economica nazionale.

Roma, (A.B.E.T.E.), 1968. 88 p. tabl. fig. 80

(Real. par Giuseppe Carbonaro).

- 85.- MAYRZEDT, Hans: Einige allgemeine tatsächliche Bestimmungsgründe für den Grad der Harmonisierung der Wirtschaftspolitik. (Aussenwirtschaft, n 4, Dezember 1968, p. 381-415). 86. - NAISSANCE de l'Europe des régions. (Par) Hervé Lavenir (e.a.) Genève, Centre Européen de la Culture, 1968, 78 p. 8 (Bulletin du Centre Européen de la Culture, n 2, hiver 1967-1968). 87.- NOUVELLE (La) organisation de la coopération économique francoallemande. (Le Droit et les Affaires, n^0 130, 13 mai 1968. Les Documents de la Quinzaine, no 12, p. 1-4). 88. - PETRILLI, Giuseppe: Partecipazioni statali, politica di piano e integrazione europea. (Civitas, n^o 4, aprile 1968, p. 27-38). 89. - POLA, Giancarlo: Il Programma economico italiano 1966/70. In app. il testo integrale del Piano. (Milano), ETAS Kompass, (1967). 266 p., tabl., fig. 80 (20.293)90. - PONTIE, Philippe: Les Petites et moyennes unités artisanales, industrielles et commerciales face au marché commun. (L'Européen, n 84, 1968). (Problèmes Economiques, no 1.076, 15 août 1968, p. 19-23). 91.- PROGRAMME d'action économique pour la France. Paris, Société d'Edition de Technique et Démocratie, (1968). 361 p., tabl., fig., 1 dpl. 4 (Technique et Démocratie, no spécial, avril 1968).
- 92.- RESTA, Nicola: la C.E.E. et la dimension des entreprises: rôle essentiel des P.M.E.
 (S. 1.), 1968. (diff. pag.), tabl., fig. 4°
 (Union Internationale de l'Artisanat et des Petites et Moyennes Entreprises: Bulletin avril 1968).
 (20.442)
- 93.- ROM COLTHOFF, A.: Wat betekent de E.E.G.-douane-unie voor de Nederlandse economie?
 (Nieuw Europa, n^o 6, juni 1968, p. 133; 136).

94. - ROUSSELLIER, Hubert: L'Exportation dans la vie économique française. (Revue de la Société d'Etudes et d'Expansion, n° 231, mai-juin 1968, p. 431-438). 95. - SPORMANN, Kurt: Kommission der Europäischen Gemeinschaften erleichtert Kooperation. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n° 8, August 1968. p. 285-288). 96. - STRATEGIE (La) américaine en Europe. (Entreprise, n. 663-664-665, 15 juin 1968, p. 133-147). 97.- TERPSTRA, Vern: American marketing in the common market. New York (etc.), Praeger, (1967). XII, 168 p., tabl. 8 (Praeger special studies in international economics and development). (20,317) (bibl.p.chap.) 98. - TILLING, Johann, NISSEN, Olaf: Federal Corporations als Vorbild für die europäische Aktiengesellschaft? Ein Gegenvorschlag zu Sanders (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n° 9, September 1968, p. 330-331). 99. - TUROT, Paul: Confrontations constructives au Centre européen des entreprises publiques. (Revue du Marché Commun, n° 114, juillet-août 1968, p. 823-828). 100.- UNIVERSITE. Paris. Institut d'Administration des Entreprises: Les Investissements étrangers en Europe. Séminaire org. par l'Institut d'Administration ... et l'Association pour le Développement des Etudes de Gestion des Entreprises. Avec la collab. de P(ierre) Uri (e.a.). Av.-Pr. de P. Lassègue. Paris, Dunod, 1968. IX, 267 p., tabl., 80 (Collection de l'Institut d'Administration des Entreprises de l'Université de Paris). (20.391)VINCENT, H.R.: Laagontwikkelde gebieden in Europa. Underdeveloped areas in Europe (S.1.n.d.) 308 p., tabl., 1 ct. 8 (20.677)

- 102.- VITO, Francesco: Problems of the underdeveloped regions of Italy. (Rivista Internazionale di Scienze Sociali, n^o 4, luglio-agosto 1968, p. 333-350).
- 103. WATERSCHOOT, Paul: L'Industrie des ordinateurs électroniques dans la C.E.E.
 (Reflets et Perspectives de la Vie Economique, n° 3, mai 1968, p. 279-288).

4. Financial and Monetary Matters

104	ADOLFSE, J. Th.: Tien jaar Europese Investeringsbank. (Nieuw Europa, no 11, november 1968, p. 235-237)
105	ALBRECHT, Karl: Die Reservewährungen, das Währungssystem und die Politik der EWG. (Europa-Archiv, no 15, 10. August 1968, p. 543-556).
106	ASZKENAZY, H.: Les Bourses du Marché commun en 1968. (Les Problèmes de l'Europe, nº 41, 1968, p. 84-91).
107	BACHMANN, Hans: Europäische Verhaltensmöglichkeiten gegenüber dem Trend zu einem Welt-Dollar-Standard. (Aussenwirtschaft, no 2-3, Juni-September 1968, p. 77-116)
108	BACHMANN, Hans: A European monetary union as a next step in the process of European unification. (Aussenwirtschaft, no 1, März 1968, p. 47-54).
109	BAFFI, Paolo: L'inflazione in Europa occidentale e le monete di riserva. (Moneta e Credito, n ^o 81, 1º trimestre 1968, p. 3-23).
110	BAUMANN, Wolfgang: Währungspolitische Integration in der EWG. (Die Industrie, n ^o 39, 27. September 1968, p. 11-15).
111	BURGIO, Mario: Le Nouveau régime fiscal des dividendes en Italie et dans ses relations avec les pays de la C.E.E. (Le Droit et les Affaires, nº 118, 6 novembre 1967. Les Documents de la Quinzaine, nº XLVII).
112	CAMPOLONGO, Alberto: Dinamica dell'investimento in Italia, 1951-1967. (Moneta e Credito, nº 82, giugno 1968, p. 123-147).
113	COIS, Daniel: La Banque française à l'heure de l'Europe. (L'Usine Nouvelle. Ed. suppl., septembre 1968, p. 12-24).

114. - COLOMBO, Vittorino: La Situazione tributaria nell'Italia e nella C.E.E. (Quaderni di Azione Sociale, nº 3-4, marzo-aprile 1968, p. 353-372). 115. - CROMER, Earl of: A European monetary board. (The Atlantic Community Quarterly, no 2, summer 1968, p. 199-208). ______ 116. - DEPOORTERE, G.: De Belasting over de toegevoegde waarde. (Tijdschrift voor Bestuurswetenschappen en Publiekrecht, no 3. mei-juni 1968, p. 153-158, no 4, juli-augustus 1968, p. 237-242). _____ 117. - DICHGANS, Hans: Problèmes du système monétaire européen. (Cahiers Européens, nº 27, juillet 1968, p. 3-11). 118. - DISPARITE (La) des taux de profit des entreprises en Europe et aux Etats-Unis. (Bruxelles, Weissenbruch, s.d.). 23 p., tabl., fig. 40 (Compagnie Lambert pour l'Industrie et la Finance: Rapport de l'exercice 1967, Annexe). (20, 437) (notes bibliogr.) 119. - EMMINGER, Otmar, HANKEL, Wilhelm, MUENCHMEYER, Alwin: Unbehagen am Weltwährungssystem. (Wirtschaftsdienst, no 8, August 1968, p. 419-432). 120. - EURO-DOLLAR (L') et ses deux marchés. (Banque Nationale de Paris, no 7, juillet 1968, p. 16-28). 121. - FEDERATION DES INDUSTRIELS LUXEMBOURGEOIS. Luxembourg: Les Entreprises luxembourgeoises devant la TVA. Luxembourg, Impr. Beffort, 1968, 49 p. 8 (20.479) _____ 122. - FLICK, Hans: Mehrwertsteuer, Import-Export. (Bonn), D.I.H.T., (1967). 200 p., tabl. 80 (Schriftenreihe, 106). (20.085).123. - GLESKE, Leonhard: E' possibile una integrazione monetaria europea? (Lo Spettatore Internazionale, nº 4-5, luglio-ottobre 1968, p. 666-677). 124. - GOBBATO, Onorio: Relazioni tra euroemissioni e mercato dell'euro-

(Rassegna Economica, no 1, gennaio-febbraio 1968, p. 29-68).

dollaro.

- 125. HOLTROP, Marius W.: Central banking in a common market. (The Atlantic Community Quarterly, no 2, summer 1968, p. 209-215). _____ 126. - JANSEN, J.C.: De Harmonisatie van de belastingen in de Euromarkt? (Nieuw Europa, nº 4, april 1968, p. 92-95). 127. - KREMP, Heinz: Reform der französischen Mehrwertsteuer. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, nº 6, Juni 1968, p. 236-237). 128. - MEYER, Fritz W.: Die Internationale Währungsordnung an Scheidewegen. (Institut für Wirtschaftspolitik an der Universität zu Köln: Wirtschaftspolitische Chronik, no 1-2, 1968, p. 7-25). 129. - MOUSSIS-GRAMMATICOPOULOU, S. El.: L'Opinion américaine sur les investissements directs en Europe. (Revue du Marché Commun, nº 114, juillet-août 1968, p. 804-814). 130. - RAMPINO, Donato: Il "Gap" nei tassi di profitto delle imprese in Europa e negli U.S.A. (Banco di Napoli: Rassegna Economica, nº 4, luglio-agosto 1968, p. 907-921). _____ 131. - REGUL, Rudolf: Oeffentliche Finanzen im Rahmen der europäischen Integration. (Wirtschaftsdienst, no 6, Juni 1968, p. 315-319). 132. - SALVI, Agostino: L'Oro e i suoi problemi di produzione e di prezzo. (Stato Sociale, no 4, aprile 1968, p. 271-283) 133. - SAUWENS, André: Quelques aspects des politiques économiques sectorielles et monétaires des Communautés Européennes. (Chronique de Politique Etrangère, nº 2, mars 1968, p. 205-255). 134, - WALLIS, Kenneth F., SCAPERLANDA, Anthony: The E.E.C. and United States foreign investment: some empirical evidence re-examined. (The Economic Journal, no 311, September 1968, p. 717-723).
- 135. WERTHEIMER, Robert G.: Die These von der amerikanischen Herausforderung aus amerikanischer Sicht. (Wirtschaftsdienst, nº 8, August 1968, p. 433-438).

136. - ZANDANO, Gianni: Riflessioni sul sistema monetario internazionale: Il problema della liquidità internazionale e le disfunzioni del "Gold Exchange Standard". - La Politica tariffaria della C.E.E. e degli altri paesi industrializzati ed il "Terzo Mondo". Lezioni tenute in Milano, 27-28 maggio, 3-4 giugno 1968.
(Varese, "La Tipografica Varese", 1968). 63 p., tabl. 80 (Centro Internazionale di Studi e Documentazione sulle Comunità Europee: VII Corso di diritto e di economia delle Comunità Europee). (20.536) (notes bibliogr.)

5. Competition

137. - DERINGER, Arved: Gewerbliche Schutzrechte und EWG-Vertrag. Einige Folgerungen aus neuen Entscheidungen. Weinheim/Bergstr., Verl. Chemie, 1968, pp. 105-109. 40 (Extr. de: Gewerblicher Rechtsschutz u. Urheberrecht. Internat. Teil, no 4, April 1968). (20, 443) (notes bibliogr.) 138. - EG-KARTELLRECHT, Kooperationsfibel der Kommission. Bekanntmachung über Vereinbarungen, Beschlüsse und aufeinander abgestimmte Verhaltensweisen, die eine zwischenbetriebliche Zusammenarbeit betreffen. (Internationale Wirtschaftsbriefe, Fach 5, Europäische Gemeinschaften, Gruppe 4, Gesetze, p. 1-6). 139. - EHLE, Dietrich: Grundsatzfragen der gemeinschaftsrechtlichen Antidumping-Regelung. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n^o 8, August 1968, p. 288-293). 140. - EHLE, Dietrich: Kartellrechtliche Schranken einer grenzüberschreitenden Kooperation im gemeinsamen Markt. (Internationale Wirtschafts-Briefe, Fach 5, Europäische Gemeinschaften, Gruppe 4, p. 1-8). 141. - FOCK, Dieter: Die Oligopole der Stahlindustrie in der Montanunion. Ihre Struktur u. ihr Einfluss auf die Wettbewerbsintensität. Köln (etc.), Heymann, 1967, 144 p., tabl., fig. 80 (FIW-Schriftenreihe, 43. Forschungsinstitut für Wirtschaftsverfassung und Wettbewerb). (20, 333) (bibliographie) 142. - FRANCESCHELLI, Remo: Les Monopoles nationaux de caractère commercial visés dans l'article 37 du Traité C.E.E. et leur aménagement. (Revue du Marché Commun, nº 115, septembre 1968, p. 855-876). 143. - GLEISS, Alfred: Das Parke, Davis & Co-Urteil des Gerichtshofs der Europäischen Gemeinschaft vom 29.2.1968. (Extr. de: Wettbewerb in Recht und Praxis, no 4, 1968, p. 143-144). (D. 20, 247)

- 144. GLEISS, Alfred, HELM, Horst: Berücksichtigung von Parallelverträgen bei Ausschliesslichkeitsverträgen im gemeinsamen Markt.

 (Neue Juristische Wochenschrift, n° 34,22. August 1968, p. 1553-1556).
- 145. JOHANNES, Harmut: Zum Begriff der Wettbewerbseinschränkung in Artikel 85, Abs. 1 des EWG-Vertrages.
 (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n^o 11, November 1968, p. 409-415).
- 146. MEERHAEGHE, M. A. G. van: Gli scopi della politica comune in materia di concorrenza: saggio critico sugli indirizzi della C. E. E. (Economia Internazionale, n^o 3, agosto 1968, p. 463-479).
- 147. NERRETER, W.: Schutz gegen Praktiken von Dumping, Prämien oder Subventionen aus Nicht-EWG-Ländern. (Internationale Wirtschafts-Briefe, Fach 5, Gruppe 4 p. 51-58)
- 148. NIEDERLEITHINGER, Ernst: Deutsches Kartellrecht und das Gemeinschaftsrecht. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, no 10, Oktober 1968, p. 371-376).
- 149. PATENTRECHT und EWG-Kartellrecht.
 (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n° 5, Mai 1968, p. 184-189).
- 150. POECHE, Jürgen: Konkretisierung der Kartellrechtlichen Möglichkeiten für Kooperationsvorhaben in der EWG.
 (Die Industrie, no 38, 20. September 1968, p. 12-15).
- 151. SCHEUFELE, Helmut: Bemerkungen zur "Verbraucherbeteiligung" im Sinne des Artikels 85 Abs. 3 des EWG-Vertrages. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, nº 5, Mai 1968, p. 173-178).
- 152. SCHUMACHER, Hermann: Gedanken zur Entscheidung Parke Davis des Europäischen Gerichtshofes vom 29.2.1968 und zur Entscheidung "Voran" des Bundesgerichtshofes vom gleichen Tage. (Wirtschaft und Wettbewerb, no 7-8, Juli-August 1968, p. 487-498).
- 153. TESSIN, Claus; Neue Entwicklungen im EWG-Kartellrecht. (Neue Juristische Wochenschrift, nº 47, 21. November 1968, p. 2173-2176).

- 154. TESSIN, Claus, SEDEMUND, Jochim: Verhältnis des EWG-Kartellrechts zu den nationalen Patentrechten.
 (Der Betriebs-Berater, no 15, 30. Mai 1968, p. 604-606).
- 155. UNIVERSITE. Paris. Centre Universitaire d'Etudes des Communautés Européennes: Coopérations, concentrations, fusions d'entreprises dans la C.E.E. Colloque org. par le Centre... 26-28 octobre 1967.
 Paris, 1968. XXXVI, 552 p. 40
 (Revue du Marché Commun, nº 109, janvier-février 1968).
 (20,416)
- 156. WETTBEWERB als Aufgabe nach zehn Jahren Gesetz gegen Wettbewerbsbeschränkungen.
 Bad Homburg v.d. H. (etc.), Gehlen, (1968). 612 p. 80
 (Wirtschaftsrecht und Wirtschaftspolitik, 7).

(20, 575) (notes bibliogr.)

- 20/B -

6. Social Matters

- 157. ALFONSO, Vincenzo Roberto: La Sicurezza sociale del lavoratore italiano all'estero (e dello straniero in Italia). Tutela giuridica e previdenziale, convenzioni internazionali. Manuale teorico-pratico...
 Milano, Pirola, 1967. 447 p. tabl. 80
 (20.267) (bibliographie)
- 158. ALLIANCE COOPERATIVE INTERNATIONAL. Londres: Cooperation in the European market economies. (Par) International Cooperative Alliance (et) International Federation of Agriculture Producers. New York, Asia Publ. House, (1967). 185 p., ann.en poch. 16 p. 80. (20. 256) (bibliographie)
- 159. BERNARDINI, Aldo: La Carta europea dell'acqua. (La comunità Internazionale, nº 3, luglio 1968, p. 478-484).
- 160. BOEDLER, Hermann: Freizügigkeit der Arbeitnehmer in der Europäischen Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft. (Internationale Wirtschafts-Briefe, Fach 5, Europäische Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft, Gruppe 6, p. 49-54).
- 161. BRUNDER, Maria: Aide du Fonds Social de la C.E.E. aux travailleurs agricoles en difficultés. (Revue Agricole de l'O.C.D.E., n^o 2, 1968, p. 56-57).
- 162. CLEENEWERCK DE CRAEYENCOURT, Jean-Pierre: La Libre circulation des personnes dans la Communauté. (Lettre de l'O.C.I.P.E., nº 4, janvier 1968, p. 82-88).
- 163. COMMUNAUTE EUROPEENNE DU CHARBON ET DE L'ACIER. Haute Autorité: Les Facteurs humains et la sécurité dans les mines et la sidérurgie. (Résultat des recherches sur la sécurité encouragées par la Haute Autorité de 1961 à 1964).

 Luxembourg, (S.P.C.E.), 1967. 184 p., tabl. 80
 (Etudes de physiologie et de psychologie du travail, 2). (Com. 20.242).

- 164. COMMUNAUTES EUROPEENNES. Commission. Bruxelles: La Libre circulation de la main-d'oeuvre et les marchés du travail dans la C.E.E.... Rapport et annexes statistiques. (S.1., S.P.C.E.), 1968- . 4 1968. (1968). 2 vol. (Anc. titre voir: COMMUNAUTE ECONOMIQUE EUROPEENNE. Commission. Main-d'oeuvre (Direction). Libre Circulation (Division). Bruxelles: La Libre circulation de la main-d'oeuvre et les marchés du travail dans la C.E.E.... 1966-1967). (Com. 18.252).
- 165. COMMUNAUTES EUROPEENNES. Office Statistique: Die Arbeitskosten in den Industrien der Gemeinschaft. Vorläufige Ergebnisse 1966. Les Coûts de la main-d'oeuvre dans les industries de la Communauté. Résultats préliminaires 1966. (S.1., S.P.C.E.), 1968. 45 p., tabl. 4 (Statistische Studien und Erhebungen. Etudes et Enquêtes Statistiques. Supplément, 1968). (Stat. Com. 23).
- 166. CONFEDERATION INTERNATIONALE DES SYNDICATS CHRETIENS. Organisation Européenne. Groupe de Travail Agriculture-Alimentation. Bruxelles: Social beleid: Europese landbouw. Politique sociale: agricole européenne. Sozialpolitik: europäische Landwirtschaft. Politica sociale: agricola europea. (Bruxelles. 1968). 100 p. 8 (20.485)
- 167.- CRAYENCOUR, Jean-Pierre de: Propos sur le droit d'établissement dans le traité de Rome.
 (Cahiers de Droit Européen, n^o 4, 1968, p. 420-435).
- 168.- CRIJNS, L.H.L.: De Loonvorming in de EEG-landen. (Politiek, n^o 7-8, juli-augustus 1968, p. 237-244).
- 169.- CRIJNS, L.H.J.: De Werkgelegenheid in de Europese Gemeenschap. (Nieuw Europa, n° 10, october 1968, p. 218-219, 226).
- 170.- FELDSTEIN, Helen S.: A Study of transaction and political integration: transnational labour flow within the European Economic Community.
 (Journal of Common Market Studies, note 1, September 1967, p. 24-55).

- 171.- FINANCEMENT (Le) de la protection sociale en agriculture dans les six pays de la C.E.E.

 (Bulletin d'Information de la Mutualité Agricole, n^O 185, novembre 1968, p. 26-30).
- 172. FONROGET, Joseph: La Communauté Européenne et les professions médicales.
 (Revue Française des Affaires Sociales, nº 4, octobre-décembre 1967, p. 1-6).
- 173.- GARCIN, William: Cogestion et participation dans les entreprises des pays du marché commun. Législations et études comparatives. Paris, Ed. Jupiter, (1968). 837 p. 80 (20.728).
- 174. GRAVE, Michel-J. de: Dimension européenne du syndicalisme ouvrier. T 1-2.
 Louvain, Univ. Catholique de Louvain, Institut des Sciences Politiques et Sociales, 1968. 2 vol. (multigr.) 4 (20.360) (bibliographie)
- 175. HEISE, Bernt: Le Fonds Social Européen.
 (Monde du Travail Libre, n° 217-218, juillet-août 1968, p. 13-15).
- 176.- HEISE, Bernt: Neue Initiative für eine europäische Sozialpolitik. (Soziale Sicherheit, n^o 7, Juli 1968, p. 204-206).
- 177.- HERBERGER, L.: Einige Bemerkungen zur Bevölkerungsentwicklung in Europa.
 (Wirtschaftsdienst, n^o 11, November 1968, p. 650-655).
- 178.- HEYNIG, Ernst: Europäische Tarifverträge?
 (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n^o 6, Juni 1968, p. 212-216).
- 179.- HEYNIG, E.: Freizügigkeit der Arbeitnehmer in der Europäischen Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft endgültig hergestellt. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n 9, September 1968, p. 337-339).
- 180.- HEYNIG, E.: La Réforme du Fonds Social. 1-2.
 (Revue du Marché Commun, n° 112, mai 1968, p. 703-718;
 n° 113, juin 1968, p. 756-764).

- 181.- KULAKOWSKI, Jean: La Place et le rôle des syndicats au sein du marché commun.
 (Reflets et Perspectives de la Vie Economique, nº 3, mai 1968, p. 265-278).
- 182.- LAEG E, Friedrich-Karl: Zum Vergleich des Lebensstandards in den EWG-Ländern.
 Bergisch-Gladbach, Gustav-Stresemann-Institut, 1968. pp.47-54. 8° (Europa-Informationen, n° 6, 1968).
 (Mj 19.534).
- 183. LARCIER, R.L., WYNGAERT, R. van den: Perspectives en matière de pensions au sein du marché commun. (Revue de la Société d'Etudes et d'Expansion, n° 230, mars-avril 1968, p. 318-328).
- 184.- LEVI-SANDRI, Lionello: La Libre circulation des travailleurs dans la Communauté européenne.
 (Bulletin des Communautés Européennes, n^o 11, novembre 1968, p. 5-9).
- 185.- LOY, Odette: L'Application de la liberté d'établissement dans les Etats membres de la Communauté Economique Européenne. (Journal du Droit International, n° 3, juillet-août-septembre 1968, p. 673-694).
- 186. MAJOR, Louis: Cinquante-cinq millions de travailleurs en Europe. (Centre d'Informations Internationales. Paris: Bulletin, n 55, 10 novembre 1967, p. 1-7).
- 187.- MILLER, Rudolf: Völlige Freizügigkeit der Arbeitskräfte in den Europäischen Gemeinschaften. (Bundesarbeitsblatt, n° 21, 22. November 1968, p. 590-594).
- 188. NEIRINCK, J.D.: The E.E.C. on the eve of the customs union. A general survey with an introd. to those topics of the conference, which concern the European Communities, as a suppl. and up-dating of the author's advance paper "Social policy of the E.E.C. Commission". Preliminary draft. (S.I.), 1968. 98 p. (multigr.) 4 (20.535)

- 189. PERSPECTIVES (les) du marché commun et du Royaume-Uni dans l'évolution démographique mondiale. Perspectives 1980 et 2000. (Etudes et Conjoncture, n° 4, avril 1968, p. 3-47).
- 190. RAMPINO, Donato: La Dinamica dell'occupazione. (Rassegna Economica, n^o 1, gennaio-febbraio 1968, p. 137-154).
- 191. RECLASSEMENT (Le) des mineurs de fer en Meurthe-et-Moselle et Moselle.
 (Revue Française des Affaires Sociales, n^o 1, janvier-mars 1968, p. 145-203).
- 192. REYNAUD, Jean-Daniel: Les Syndicats en France. Paris, Colin, 1966. 291 p., tabl. 8 (Collection U. Série Société politique). (20.603) (bibl.p.chap.)
- 193. RIBAS, Jean: L'Expérience de la Communauté Economique Européenne en matière de sécurité sociale des travailleurs migrants (1958-1967).
 (Revue Internationale de Sécurité Sociale, n^o 3, 1968, p. 447-454).
- 194. SALOWSKY, Heinz: Die EFTA-Länder. Beschäftigung, Arbeitsmarkt, Sozialpartner, Löhne, Arbeitszeit, Soziale Sicherheit, Betriebliche Sozialpolitik.
 Köln, Deutsches Industrieinstitut, (1967). 420 p., tabl. 80 (20.386) (bibliographie)
- 195. SECHE, Jean-Claude: Bilan de la jurisprudence de la Cour de Justice des Communautés européennes relative aux règlements nos. 3 et 4 concernant la sécurité sociale des travailleurs migrants. (Revue Trimestrielle de Droit Européen, n° 3, juillet-septembre 1968, p. 475-512).
- 196. TEGELAAR, P.J.C.: De Gelijke beloning binnen de E.E.G. (Nieuw Europa, n 7-8, juli-augustus 1968, p. 172-173; 178).

7. Agriculture

197.	- AGRICULTURE (L') est-elle une industrie? Paris, Jeune Patron, 1968. 75 p., fig. 40 (Jeune Patron, no 214-215, avril-mai 1968).
198.	- BANDINI, Mario: Integrazioni agricole internazionali. (Rivista di Studi Europei, n ^o 2-4, aprile-dicembre 1966, 139-149).
199.	- BARRAL, Pierre: Les Agrariens français de Méline à Pisani. Paris, Colin, 1968, 385 p., tabl., fig. 8 ⁰ (Cahiers de la Fondation Nationale des Sciences Politiques, 164). (20.602) (bibliographie)
200.	- BOVINS (Les) d'Europe: Les Bovins d'Europe. Par M.H. French avec le concours de T. 1-2. Rome, F.A.O., 1967. 2 vol. 8° (Etudes agricoles de la F.A.O., 67). (20.218) (bibliographie)
201.	- BREART, Georges: Le Développement régional de l'agriculture en Europe. Paris, Assemblée Permanente des Chambres d'Agriculture, 1968. 36 p., tabl., 40 (Chambres d'Agriculture, nº 397, 1er octobre 1968. Suppl.)
202.	- DIDON, Albert: La Planification et l'agriculture en France. (Revue Agricole de l'O.C.D.E., n ^o 2, 1968, p. 46-55).
203.	- EHKIRCH, P.Y., MORSINK, G.H., PIEL, J.C.: Structures et action concertées de la coopération agricole en Europe. (Union-Agriculture, nº 287, août 1968, p. 9-18).
204.	- EUROPE (L') agricole entre-t-elle dans l'impasse? (Revue du Marché commun, nº 111, avril 1968, p. 617-624).
205.	- F.E O.G.A. (Le) (Union-Agriculture, no 280, décembre 1967, p. 25-32).

206. - FEDERATION NATIONALE DES SYNDICATS D'EXPLOITANTS AGRI-COLES. Paris: La Politique agricole de la F. N. S. E. A. à travers les résolutions du 22e Congrès. Paris, F.N.S.E.A., 1968, 36 p. 80 (3800)207. - GOETZ, Volkmar: Zum Recht der gemeinsamen Agrarpolitik der Europäischen Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft. (Neue Juristische Wochenschrift, no 34, 22, August 1968, p. 1545-1548) 208. - HETMAN. François: Présent et avenir de l'agriculture. (Les Problèmes de l'Europe, nº 41, 1968, p. 23-31). 209. - HOUTEN, G.A. van: Agrarische beroepsbevolking en arbeid. Den Haag, Centraal Planbureau, 1968, 17 p., tabl., fig. 80 Overdrukken, 114, Extr. de: Economisch-Statistische Berichten, nº 2646, 29 mei 1968 et nº 2643, 8 mei 1968). (20.427)210. - HIJLKEMA, J.K.: Het Dilemma van het E.E.G.-landbouwprijsbeleid. (Economie, n^o 1, oktober 1968, p. 5-27). 211. - LIEBLING, Günter: Die für Unternehmen des Agrarsektors geltenden Wettbewerbsregelungen innerhalb der EWG. Inaugural-Dissertation . . . (Köln, Kleikamp, s.d.) XXVIII, 204 p. 80 (Thèse, Univ. Köln. 1965). (14.169) (bibliographie) 212. - LIERDE, Jacques van: Europese landbouwproblemen en Europese landbouwpolitiek. Oorzaken van landhouwmoeilijkheden, mogelijkheden voor een beleid en gemeenschappelijke landbouwpolitiek. Met een voorw. van S.L. Mansholt. Antwerpen (etc.), Standaard Wetenschappelijke Uitg., 1967. 373 p., tabl. 80 (20.711) (notes bibliogr.) 213. - MARCHE (Le) commun des produits laitiers. (Revue du Marché Commun, nº 116, octobre 1968, p. 910-918). ______ 214. - MURA, Giancarlo: L'Agricoltura italiana dallo Schema Vanoni alla programmaziane. (Civitas, no 5-6, maggio-giugno 1968, p. 51-79).

215. - NEW DEAL (Un) en politique agricole? Le Plan Mansholt de réforme de l'agriculture dans la C.E.E. (Revue du Marché Commun, nº 118, décembre 1968, p. 995-999). 216. - NOUYRIT. Henri: L'Agriculteur français dans le Marché commun. (L'Economie, nº 1050, 3 août 1967, p. 3-19). _____ 217. - OLMI, Giancarlo: Common organisation of agricultural markets at the stage of the single market. (Common Market Law Review, no 4, March 1968, p. 359-408). 218. - ORGANISATION DE COOPERATION ET DE DEVELOPPEMENT ECO-NOMIQUES. Paris: Perspectives du marché des produits laitiers. Problèmes et esquisses de solutions. (Paris), O.C.D.E., (1968). 120 p., tabl. 40. 219. - ORGANISATION DES NATIONS UNIES POUR L'ALIMENTATION ET L'AGRICULTURE, Rome: La Situation mondiale de l'alimentation et de l'agriculture ... Rome, F.A.O., 1954-1968. (1968). VIII, 221 p., tabl., fig. 220. - PICCHI, Antonio: A che punto è la politica agraria comune. (Quaderni di Azione Sociale, nº 3-4, marzo-aprile 1968, p. 395-402). _____ 221. - PLANIFICATION (La) dans la Communauté Européenne. (Union-Agriculture, no 286, juillet 1968, p. 13-29). 222. - POINT (Le) des industries agricoles et alimentaires. (Moniteur du Commerce International, nº 785, 26 septembre 1968, p. 3442-3446). 223. - RAINAUT, Pierre: Politique des structures et aménagement rural, (Méditerranea, nº 26, octobre 1968, p. 607-621). 224. - RICKARD, R.C.: Regional planning and horticulture in France. London, Political and Economic Planning, 1968. pp. 145-200. 80 (Political and Economic Planning, no 501, June 1968). _____

- 225. RODEMER, H.: Zur Milchmarktpolitik der EWG. (Agrarwirtschaft, nº 7, Juli 1968, p. 201-207).
- 226. ROYAUME-UNI. Select Committee on Agriculture. Londres.: British agriculture, fisheries, and food, and the European Economic Community, T. 1-2.

London, H.M.S.O., 1967, 2 vol. 80

- 1. Report. XLVIII p.
- 2. app. to the report, minutes of evidence, ann.a.ind. LVIII. (Session, 1966-67).

(20.382)

227. - SCHOLZ, H., GOCHT, H.: Agrarpolitik und mittelfristige Wirtschaftspolitik in der EWG.

(Agrarwirtschaft, no 8, August 1968, p. 237-247).

8. Transport

228. - ARPEA, Mario: Possibilità e i limiti di una industria aeronautica europea. (Comuni d'Europa, n^o 9, settembre 1968, p. 5-8). 229. - BLONK, W.A.G.: De Douane-unie en de gemeenschappelijke vervoerpolitiek. (Tijdschrift voor Vervoerswetenschap, n^o 3, 1968, p. 202-227). 230. - BODSON, Victor: Hundert Jahre Mannheimer Akte. (Verkehrsbrief, n° 51-53, 22. November 1968, p. 20-30). 231. - BODSON, Victor: La Politique commune des transports se réalise. (Communautés Européennes: Bulletin, n^o 9-10, septembre-octobre 1968, p. 5-9). ._____ 232. BROUWER, F.J.: De Financiële positie van Westeuropese spoorwegen. (Nieuw Europa, n^o 4, april 1968, p. 79-81). 233.- BRUNHES, Julien: La Politique commune des transports et le Parlement Européen (Transports, no 134, août-septembre 1968, p. 203-216). 234. - CARBONE, Ferdinando: Navires nucléaires, lois nationales et droit européen. (Revue Trimestrielle de Droit Européen, nº 2, mars-avril 1968. p. 332-349). 235. - COLLET, Pierre: La politique des transports de la C. E. E. devient peu à peu une réalité. (Economie Agricole, n^o 9, septembre 1968, p. 21-29). 236. - DESPICHT, Nigel S.: Die Entwicklung der Verkehrspolitik in Grossbritannien im Lichte des neuen Gesetzentwurfes (Barbara Castle-Plan) und im Hinblick auf die Entwicklung der EWG-Verkehrspolitik. (Verkehrsbrief, n 26-27, 1. Juni 1968, p. 2-12).

- 237. DEUTSCHER INDUSTRIE- UND HANDELSTAG. Bonn: Verkehrspolitik für eine wachsende Wirtschaft.
 (Bonn), D.I.H.T., (1968). 100 p. 8°
 Schriftenreihe, 108).
 (20,087)
- 238.- DOUSSET, Jacques: Politique commune des transports et union économique.

 (Revue du Marché commun, n° 118, décembre 1968, p. 1003-1006).
- 239.- GERBERS, Olga D.: Tien jaar "gemeenschappelijk vervoerbeleid"
 een beknopte analyse.
 (Tijdschrift voor Vervoerswetenschap, n^o 2, 1968, p. 118-132).
- 240. GRUNDFRAGEN der Seeverkehrswirtschaft. Mit Beitr. von Hugo Heeckt (e. a.).
 Hamburg, Verl. Weltarchiv, 1967. 297 p., tabl. 8^o (Handbuch der europäischen Seehäfen, 1).
 (20, 335) (bibliographie)
- 241. HAAN, J.D. de: Europees vervoerbeleid eindelijk op weg. (Economisch-Statistische Berichten, n⁰ 2655, 31 juli 1968, p. 719-721).
- 242. HAMER, Pierre: La Navigation aérienne au Grand-Duché de Luxembourg. 4e éd.
 (Luxembourg, Impr. Bourg-Bourger), 1968. 215 p., tabl., fig., ill., ct., 5 dpl. 8 (Grand-Duché de Luxembourg. Ministère des Transports). (13.152/2) (bibliographie)
- 243.- HAMM, Walter: Schwächen einer unkoordinierten Branchenpolitik.
 Dargestellt am Beispiel des Verkehrspolitischen Programms der Bundesregierung.
 (Ordo. T. 19. 1968. Düsseldorf, München, 1968. p. 63-97).
 (R. 694)
- 244. HORSTING, H.H., GERBERS, Olga D.: De E.E.G.-mededingings-regels en het vervoer. (Tijdschrift voor Vervoerswetenschap, n^o 3, 1968, p. 228-248).

245	JUERGENSEN, Harald, ALDRUP, Dieter: Verkehrspolitik im europäischen Integrationsraum. Baden-Baden, Nomos Verlagsges., (1968). 189 p. 8 ⁰ (Schriftenreihe zum Handbuch für europäische Wirtschaft, 10) (20.323) (bibliographie)
246	KATZ, Casimir: L'Impasse des transports européens. (Les problèmes de l'Europe, n° 41, 1968, p. 32-38).
247	KOLATH, Hans-Hermann: Gemeinsame Verkehrspolitik in der EWG dringlicher denn je. Verkehrs-Brief, n 51-53, 22. November 1968, p.9-11).
248	MOL VAN OTTERLOO, H.A. de: Niederländische Konzeptionen zur europäischen Verkehrspolitik. (Tijdschrift voor Vervoerswetenschap, n ^o 3, 1968, p. 189-201).
249	MUNBY, D. L.: La Politique britannique des transports et le Marché commun. (Transports, n ^o 133, juin-juillet, 1968, p. 171-181).
250	ORGANISATION DE COOPERATION ET DE DEVELOPPEMENT ECONOMIQUES. Comité des Transports maritimes. Paris: Les Transports maritimes
	Paris, O. C. D. E., (1962-). 8 ^o 1967. (1968). 114 p., tabl., fig. (La Situation dans les secteurs économiques). (5801)
251	POSTHUMUS, S.A.: Wat wil Leber eigenlijk? (Nieuw Europa, n ^o 5, mei 1968, p. 105-108).
	ROMME, J.H.J.M.: Aspekten van het EEG-vervoersbeleid. (Economie, n 7, april 1968, p. 325-336).
252	ROUSSELOT, Michel: Répercussion de la politique des transports sur le marché industriel. (Economies et Sociétés, n° 10, octobre 1968, p. 2007-2041).
253	STANDORTGRUNDLAGE (Die) der: Die Standortgrundlage der saarländischen Montanindustrie in höchster Gefahr. (Verkehrsbrief, n 21-22, 3. Mai 1968, p. 2-14).

- 254. STUKENBERG, Helmut: EWG-Politik und DB eine Bestands-aufnahme.
 (Die Bundesbahn, n^o 16, August 1968, p. 567-574).
- 255. TORLEY DUWEL, I.G.: Verordening n^o 1017/E.E.G. van de Raad van 19 juli 1968, houdende de toepassing van de mededingingsregels op het vervoer per spoor, over de weg en over de binnenwateren. (Nederlands Juristenblad, n^o 38, p. 985-996).
- 256.- WAEGENBAUR, Rolf: Die EWG-Kartellregelung für den Verkehr vor der Verabschiedung. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n^o 7, Juli 1968, p. 256-258).
- 257.- WAEGENBAUR, Rolf: Die Verkehrspolitik der EWG kommt voran. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n^o 9, September 1968, p. 325-330).
- 258. WAEGENBAUR, Rolf: Wettbewerbsregeln für den Verkehr in der EWG.
 Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n^C 11, November 1968, p. 415-424).
- 259.- WATERMANN, Heinz-Richard: Kartellregelung und gemeinsame Verkehrspolitik. (Zeitschrift für Verkehrswissenschaft, n^o 3, 1968, p. 131-150).

- 9. Energy
- 260.- BRIX, Johannes: Der Aussenhandel der Bundesrepublik Deutschland mit Energieträgern im Jahre 1967. (Glückauf, n° 17, 15. August 1968, p. 776-786).
- 261.- CARPENTIER, M.: En commencer avec une politique européenne de l'énergie nucléaire? (Revue du Marché Commun, n° 118, décembre 1968, p. 1000-1002).
- 262. CASSUTO, Aldo: L'Atomo nelle prospettive 1969-2000. (Comunità, nº 154, ottobre 1968, p. 1-11).
- 263.- CENTRE EUROPEEN DE L'ENTREPRISE PUBLIQUE. Bruxelles: Avis.. sur les lignes directrices d'une politique énergétique commune. (Revue Française de l'Energie, n° 205, novembre 1968, p. 81-91).
- 264.- COCKCROFT, John: Vers l'utilisation de l'énergie nucléaire à des fins pacifiques. (Revue Française de l'Energie, n^o 201, mai 1968, p. 439-443).
- 265. COLLOQUE DE DROIT NUCLEAIRE EUROPEEN. 1966. Paris: Droit nucléaire européen. Colloque ... (Paris, 5-6 mai 1966). Préf. de Claude-Albert Colliard. (Par) A. Albonetti (e.a.) Paris, P.U.F., 1968. XX, 268 p., tabl. 8 (Travaux et recherches de la Faculté de Droit et des Sciences Economiques de Paris. Série Europe, 6). (20.355) (bibl.p.chap.)
- 266. COMMUNAUTES EUROPEENNES. Commission. Bruxelles: Rapport sur la politique nucléaire de la Communauté. (Prés.p.l. Commission au Conseil le 9 octobre 1968).
 (Bruxelles, C.E.E.), 1968. 69 p., tabl. 8°
 (Communautés Européennes: Bulletin, n° 9/10, 1968. Suppl.).
- DESPRAIRIES, Pierre: L'Europe et son pétrole quotidien: hier, aujourd'hui et demain.
 (Revue Française de l'Energie, n° 202, juin-juillet 1968, p. 483-500).

- 268. DOLINSKI, Urs: Erdgas ein neuer Energieträger auf dem Energiemarkt der Bundesrepublik. Versuch einer Marktanalyse. (Vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, n^o 3, 1968, p. 377-396).
- 269.- EITZ, A.W.: Kann die Kernenergie tatsächlich die drohende Energielücke künftiger Jahrzehnte schliessen? (Atomwirtschaft, Atomtechnik, n

 4, April 1968, p. 187-189).
- 270.- FAIBLESSE (La) des structures financières des compagnies pétrolières européennes. (Par) M. Albert (e.a.) (Direction, n° 149, avril 1968, p. 388-397 et 435-437).
- 271. GUBELT, Manfred: Das Gesetz zur Sicherung des Steinkohleneinsatzes in der Elektrizitätswirtschaft vom 5. September 1966, BGBl. I S. 545.
 Düsseldorf, Verl. Handelsblatt, (1968). 155 p. 8°
 (Veröffentlichungen des Instituts für Energierecht an der Universität zu Köln, 20/21).
 (20.209) (bibliographie)
- 272. INDUSTRIE (L') italienne des hydrocarbures. (Les Cahiers Français, n° 126, avril-mai 1968. Documents d'Actualité, n° 213, p. I-IV).
- 273. JAHRBUCH für Bergbau, Energie, Mineralöl und Chemie. Hrsg. von Heinz Reintges, Paul Schorn (eoa.). Essen, Verl. Glückauf, (1967-). 8 1968. 61. Jg. (1968). (diff.pag.), tabl., fig., ill., ct., dpl. (R. 2950)
- 274.- LAIGROZ, J.: L'Energie en France dans cinquante ans: conséquences pour l'aménagement du territoire.
 (Revue Française de l'Energie, n° 201, mai 1968, p. 444-449).
- 275. LIEBRUCKS, Manfred: Zur Frage der Wettbewerbsstellung deutscher minderalölverarbeitender Unternehmen. (Vierteljahrshefte zur Wirtschaftsforschung, n^o 3, 1968, p. 358-376).

- 276.- MATHIJSEN, Pierre: Aspects juridiques des problèmes énergétiques dans les trois Communautés européennes. (Annales de la Faculté de Droit de Liège, n° 3-4, 1967, p. 374-413).
- 277.- RED energy for Western Europe. (Common Market, no 3, March 1968, p. 55-60).
- 278. SAUWENS, André: Esquisse d'une politique pétrolière de la Communauté.
 (Revue du Marché Commun, n° 111, avril 1968, p. 653-658).
- 279.- SCHNEIDER, Ernst, MANDEL, Heinrich, SEETZEN, Juergen: Energie von morgen. Die wirtschaftliche Nutzung der Atomenergie. (Bonn), D.I.H.T., (1967). 59 p., fig. 8 (Schriftenreihe, 105). (20.084)
- 280. SCHNEIDER, Hans K., BALS, Hansjürgen: Energiepolitik statt Kohlenpolitik.
 (Hamburger Jahrbuch für Wirtschafts- u. Gesellschaftspolitik. 13. 1968. Tübingen, 1968. p. 118-142).
 (8944)
- 281.- STEINKOHLENAUSTAUSCH (Der) innerhalb....: Der Steinkohlenaustausch innerhalb der Europäischen Gemeinschaft. (Glückauf, n

 13, 20. Juni 1968, p. 585).
- 282. STROBEL, Arnaldo de: Il Fabbisogno italiano di gas naturale e le disponibilità energetiche della Comunità Europea. (Stato Sociale, n^o 8, agosto 1968, p. 711-726).

10. Research and Cultural Matters

283	ACTIVITES futures d'Euratom en matière de recherches. (Communautés Européennes: Bulletin, n° 6, juin 1968, p. 14-36).
284	BENEDETTI, Pier Paolo: I Circoli culturali in Italia. (Quaderni di Azione Sociale, nº 2, febbraio 1968, p. 280-292).
285	COLLARD, Raymond: Migration des personnes de haute qualification et politique scientifique. Reflets et Perspectives de la Vie Economique, n ^o 4, juillet 1968, p. 307-315).
286	DAUDE, Bernard: La Recherche, cette inconnue aux révolutions prévisibles. (Cahiers de l'I.S.E.A., Economies et Sociétés, n ^o 7, juillet 1968, p. 1321-1410).
287	DIEBOLD, John: Is the gap technological? (Foreign Affairs, no 2, January 1968, p. 276-291).
288	FALCO, Antonio de: Ricerca e tecnologia in Italia. Padova, Marsilio, (1968). 124 p. 8 (Collana di Attualità politica, 4). (20.315) (bibliographie)
289	GREGOIRE, Pierre: La Recherche scientifique en Benelux. (Nouvelles Benelux, n ^o 3, mai-juin 1968, p. 7-11).
290	LEMOINE, Claude: Contribution des programmes nucléaires militaires au développement technologique français. (Etudes, avril 1968, p. 490-510). (20.189).
291	OBOUSSIER, Felix: Euratom und der Kernwaffensperrvertrag. (Europa Archiv, n ^o 16, 25. August 1968, p. 571-580).

- 292. PFALTZGRAFF, Robert L., DEGHAND, James L.: European technological collaboration: the experience of the European Launcher Development Organization (ELDO).
 (Journal of Common Market Studies, n^o 1, September 1968, p. 22-34)
- 293. QUINN, James: The Film and television as an aspect of European culture. Forew. by Jennie Lee.
 Leyden, Sijthoff, 1968. 168 p., ill. 8⁰
 (European aspects. Series A: Culture, 10).
 (20.495)
- 294. RICERCA (LA) scientifica in Italia nel 1968.
 Roma, La Documentazione Italiana, 1968. fasc. 8°
 (La Documentazione Italiana, n° 88, 21 ottobre 1968, n° 89, 24 ottobre 1968, n° 90, 28 ottobre 1968, n° 91, 31 ottobre 1968.
- 295. SILVESTRI, Mario: Il Costo della menzogna: Italia nucleare 1945-1968.
 Torino, Einaudi, 1968. XIII, 406 p. 8
 (Saggi, 429).
 (20.582).
- 296. VAROUXAKIS, Sotirios G.: L'Ecole européenne: étude juridique. Préf. de Paul Reuter.
 Paris, Libr. Générale de Droit et de Jurisprudence, 1968.
 III, 78 p. 8°
 (20.411) (bibliographie)
- VEDOVATO, Giuseppe: Una Grande scuola al servizio di una grande idea.
 (Rivista di Studi Politici Internazionali, n^o 3, luglio-settembre 1968, p. 380-390).
- 298. VEDOVATO, Giuseppe: L'Università Europea a Firenze. Gli scritti di G. Martino e A. Piettre.
 Firenze, (Poligr. Toscana), 1968. XV, 258 p. 8°
 (Biblioteca della Rivista di Studi Politici Internazionali. Serie 2, 14). (20.287)

11. Associated Countries and Territories

299. - ADOLFSE, J. Th.: Het Nederlandse bedrijfsleven en het Europees

- 300. BISKUP, Reinhold, CLAPHAM, Ronald, STARBATTY, Joachim: Das Bananen-Protokoll im EWG-Vertrag, seine Bedeutung und die Prüfung von Aenderungsabsichten. Vorw. von Alfred Müller-Armack. (Köln, Institut f. Wirtschaftspolitik a.d. Univ. zu Köln), 1966.
 109 p., tabl., fig. 4° (Untersuchungen, 18).
 (20.250) (notes bibliogr.)
- 301.- BRENDL, Oskar: Die EWG und die assoziierten afrikanischen und überseeischen Länder und Gebiete. (Europa Forum, n⁰ 3, Oktober 1968, p. 244-252).
- 302.- BEUCHELT, Eno: Niger.
 Bonn, Schroeder, 1968. 143 p., tabl., fig., 1 ct.h.-t. 8 (Deutsche Afrika-Gesellschaft. Bonn: Die Länder Afrikas, 38). (9094).
- 303. BUNDESSTELLE FUER AUSSENHANDELSINFORMATION. Cologne: Kongo (Brazzaville) als Wirtschaftspartner.
 Köln, Bundesstelle f. Aussenhandelsinformation, 1968.
 82 p., tabl., 1 ct., ill. 8
 (Wirtschaftlicher Aufbau in Afrika).
 (20.198).
- 304. CALCHI NOVATI, Giampaolo: Una Politica europea per lo sviluppo. (Comunità, n° 153, luglio-agosto 1968, p. 42-50).
- 305. COMMON (The- market and the developing world.) (Common Market, no 6, June 1968, p. 122-126).
- 306. COMTE, Gilbert: Association Europe-Afrique: la bonne conscience européenne à l'épreuve.
 (Revue Française d'Etudes Politiques Africaines, n° 35, novembre 1968, p. 32-35).

307	ENGWIRDA, M.B.: Het Ontwikkelingsvraagstuk: nieuwe groeidoelstelling voor 1975. I-II. (Economisch-Statistische Berichten, n ^o 2652, 10 juli 1968, p. 653-656, n ^o 2653, 17 juli 1968, p. 677-680).
308	OBERMAIER, Heinrich: Die Elfenbeinküste als Wirtschaftspartner. 2. erw. Aufl., Köln, Bundesstelle f. Aussenhandelsinformation, 1968. 106 p., tabl., ill., 1 ct. 8 (Wirtschaftlicher Aufbau in Afrika) (20.422).
309	OBERMAIER, Heinrich: Mauretanien als Wirtschaftspartner. Köln, Bundesstelle für Aussenhandelsinformation, 1968. 88 p., tabl., ill., 1 ct. 8 (Wirtschaftlicher Aufbau in Afrika). (20.179).
310	PEDINI, Mario: La Conferenza di Nuova Delhi e la strategia dello sviluppo. (Civitas, n ^o 8-9, agosto-settembre 1968, p. 3-14).
311	PENNISI, Giuseppe: L'Italie et la Convention de Yaoundé. (Les Problèmes de l'Europe, n° 41, 1968, p. 15-18).
312	RINGELESTEIN, J.J. van: De Associatie-overeenkomst tussen de E.E.G. en Oost-Afrika. (Nieuw Europa, n 7-8, juli-augustus 1968, p. 175-176).
313	SOPER, Tom: A Note on European trade with Africa. (African Affairs, no 267, April 1968, p. 144-151).
314	TEN years European development fund. (Common Market, n 6, June 1968, p. 162-168).
315	TIMMLER, Markus: Mahnung und Warnung aus Neu-Delhi. (Aussenpolitik, n ^o 5, Mai 1968, p. 290-297).
316	TOGO (Le). Paris, La Documentation Française, 1968. 26 p., tabl., ct. 4 ^o (Note et Etudes Documentaires, n ^o 3.531, 31 octobre 1968).
317	VISTOSI, Gianfranco: L'Associazione Euro-Africana: bilancio di un decennio. (Aggiornamenti Sociali, n ^o 11, novembre 1968, p. 675-684).

12. External Relations

- 318.- ALBA, Jaime: Evolution de l'économie et des relations économiques extérieures de l'Espagne depuis 1960. (Revue de la Société d'Etudes et d'Expansion, n° 231, mai-juin 1968, p. 417-424).
- 319. ASSOCIATION POUR LE DEVELOPPEMENT DE LA SCIENCE POLITIQUE EUROPEENNE. Paris: La Grande Bretagne et le marché
 commun. Colloque org. par l'Association à Caen les 9 et 10
 décembre 1966.
 Caen, Centre d'Etudes Européennes d.l. Faculté de Droit et des
 Sciences Economiques de l'Univ., 1967. 152 p. 8
 (Université de Caen. Faculté de Droit et des Sciences Economiques.
 Faculté des Lettres et Sciences Humaines).
 (20.367)
- 320. BILAN des négociations tarifaires de la Communauté Economique Européenne, (Revue du Marché Commun, n^o 114, juillet-août 1968, p. 793-803).
- 321.- BINSWANGER, Hans Christoph, BRODMANN, Walter: Die Auswirkungen eines schweizerischen EWG-Beitritts auf Produzenten, Konsumenten und Staatshaushalt im Agrarsektor der schweizerischen Volkswirtschaft.
 (Aussenwirtschaft, n^o 1, März 1968, p. 87-112).
- 322.- BRITAIN and Europe: the future. A British and German view of the political and economic prospects. First pub. in "The Times" in England and in "Die Welt" in Germany on October 28th 1966. (Derby a. London, Bemrose, 1966). 95 p., tabl., ill. 4 (20, 153)
- 323.- DUGIMONT, Jacques: Les Négociations du Kennedy Round. 1-2. (Etudes Economiques, n° 127-128, avril 1966, p. 85-104; n° 137, 1er trimestre 1968, p. 5-22).
- 324.- DUTOIT, Bernard: Les Relations entre la C.E.E. et le Conseil d'Assistance Economique Mutuelle ou la lente émergence de la coexistence.
 (Tiers-Monde, n° 35-36, juillet-décembre 1968, p. 719-742).

325.- EUROPAEISCHE (Die) Gemeinschaft und der Beitritt Grossbritanniens. (Internationale Spectator, no 17, 8 oktober 1968, p. 1471-1511). 326. - FAESLER, Julio: Mexico's trade with the European Economic Community countries. (Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, no 1, 1968, p. 124-135). 327.- FELD, Werner: The European common market and the world. Englewood Cliffs, N.J., Prentice-Hall, (1967). VIII, 184 p., tabl. (20.573) (notes bibliogr.) 328. - FONTAINE, André: La Communauté Européenne entre l'est et l'ouest. (Projet, n^o 26, juin 1968, p. 693-700). (20.283)FRANCK, Vincent C., SIEBER, Hans: Wirkungen eines Präferenzraumes auf Drittländer. (Aussenwirtschaft, no 1, März 1968, p. 25-46). 330. - GLADWYN, Lord: Europe unie et Amérique du Nord: rapports possibles. (Revue de la Société d'Etudes et d'Expansion, n° 230, mars-avril 1968, p. 306-317). HACHMEIER, Werner: Bedeutung der Kennedy-Runde für die Wirtschaftsbeziehungen zwischen den U.S.A. und der E.W.G. (Hamburger Jahrbuch für Wirtschafts- und Gesellschaftspolitik. 13.1968. Tübingen, 1968, p. 61-81). (8944)HELANDER, Sven: Schweden hofft auf ein gemeinsames Europa. (Wirtschaftsdienst, no 8, August 1968, p. 450-455). 333.- ISTITUTO AFFARI INTERNAZIONALI. Rome: Evoluzione delle economie orientali e prospettive degli scambi est-ovest. Atti del Convegno Internazionale I.A.I., Milano, 21 e 22 giugno 1968.
Roma I.A.I. 1968. XI. 188 p., tabl. 4 Roma, I.A.I., 1968. XI, 188 p., tabl. (Documentazioni, 15). (20.421)

- 334.- JAEGER, Max: Schätzungen über einen schweizerischen Beitrag an den EWG-Agrarfonds im Falle eines Beitritts der Schweiz zur EWG. (Aussenwirtschaft, n° 1, März 1968, p. 113-122).
- JAY, Douglas: After the common market. A better alternative for Britain.
 (Harmondsworth), Penguin books, (1968). 126 p. 8⁰
 (Penguin special, S. 258).
 (20.326)
- 336.- JAY, Douglas: The High price of Europeanism. (The Atlantic Community Quarterly, n 1, spring 1968, p. 69-75).
- 337.- KITZINGER, U.W.: Grossbritannien und Europa 1968.
 (Hamburger Jahrbuch für Wirtschafts- und Gesellschaftspolitik.
 13. 1968. Tühingen, 1968. p. 45-60).
 (8944)
- 338.- KNECHT, Tijmen: Spanje op weg naar Europa. (Internationale Spectator, n 13, 8 juli 1968, p. 1122-1141)
- 339.- KREININ, Mordechai E.: Israel and the European Economic Community.

 (The Quarterly Journal of Economics, no 2, May 1968, p. 297-312).
- 340.- KOMMUNISTEN (Die) und der gemeinsame Markt. (Radio Free Europe Research: The Communists and the common market, 1957-1967. Deutsche Uebers.: Irmgard Kutscher).
 Köln, Europa Union Verl., (1968). 85 p. 80
 (Europäische Schriften des Bildungswerks Europäische Politik, 18). (20.464) (notes bibliogr.)
- 341.- KOVAR, Robert: Etat du problème des relations des Communautés avec la Grande-Bretagne et les autres candidats. (Revue Trimestrielle de Droit Européen, n° 2, mars-avril 1968, p. 356-372).
- 342.- LA MALENE, Christian de: L'Europe? ... Pour quoi faire? (Revue de la Société d'Etudes et d'Expansion, n° 230, mars-avril 1968, p. 295-304).

343. - LEMAITRE, Philippe: Le Problème anglais et la poursuite des travaux communautaires. (Revue du Marché Commun, n^o 116, octobre 1968, p. 895-898). 344.- LUKASZEWSKI, Jerzy: La Consolidation de la C. E. E. obstacle au rapprochement de l'Europe de l'Est? (Les Problèmes de l'Europe, n° 40, 1968, p. 33-49). 345. - LUKASZEWSKI, Jerzy: Europea Orientale: balcanizzazione o integrazione? (Lo Spettatore Internazionale, n^o 3, maggio-giugno 1968, p. 377-387). 346. - LUKASZEWSKI, Jerzy: Western integration and the people's democracies. (Foreign Affairs, no 2, January 1968, p. 377-387). MANDEL, Ernest: Die E.W.G. und die Konkurrenz Europa-Amerika. (Frankfurt a. M.), Europäische Verlagsanst., (1968). 111 p. 8 (Res novae, 64) (20,515) (notes bibliogr.) 348.-MARTIN, Andrew: L'Accession du Royaume-Uni à la Communautê Européenne. (Journal du Droit International, no 2, avril-mai-juin 1968, p. 282-326). 349.- MASCINI, Massimo: CEE-Spagna; il punto della situazione. (Rivista di Politica Economica, n^o 10, ottobre 1968, p. 1386-1404). 350.- PATIJN, S.: British entry and the EEC agricultural fund. (Common Market, no 3, March 1968, p. 67-69). 351. - ROSTOW, Eugene V.: Europa und USA - Partner aus Notwendigkeit. (Aussenpolitik, no 7, Juli 1968, p. 389-399). SALTIEL, J.-P.: La Coexistence pacifique et le développement des

(Tiers-Monde, no 35-36, juillet-décembre 1968, p. 767-778).

relations économiques entre l'Est et l'Ouest.

353.- SANDSTROEM, Anders: Nordic co-operation - no alternative. (Common Market, n^o 7, July 1968, p. 177-183). 354. - SCHMITT, Matthias: Tendenzen der Ost-West-Integration. (Aussenpolitik, n^o 5, Mai 1968, p. 261-270). 355.-SCHNEIDER, Herbert: Grossbritanniens Weg nach Europa. Eine Untersuchung über das Verhalten u. die Rolle der britischen Handels- u. Industrieverbände, Gewerkschaften u. Farmerorganisationen zwischen 1955-56 (Spaak-Komitee) u. 1961 (EWG-Beitrittsverhandlungen). Freiburg, Rombach, (1968), 253 p. (Sammlung Rombach). (20,330) (bibliographie) 356.-SCHULZE, H.: Agrarpolitische, ernährungswirtschaftliche und lebensmittelrechtliche Aspekte eines britischen EWG-Beitritts. (Agrarwirtschaft, no 5, Mai 1968, p. 142-145). 357.- SONNEMANN, Theodor: EWG-Erweiterung als agrarwirtschaftliches Problem. (Aussenpolitik, n^o 10, Oktober 1968, p. 594-598). 358. - SOZIALWISSENSCHAFTLICHE ARBEITSGEMEINSCHAFT. Vienne: Neue Wege der österreichischen Integrationspolitik? 12.12.1961 -12.12.1967. Wien, S.W.A., (1968). 39 p. 80 (20.271)359.- STRAUSS, Franz Josef: Grossbritannien und Europa - Einheit. (Europa Forum, n° 1, April 1968, p. 74-79). 360.- TABLE RONDE DES PROBLEMES DE L'EUROPE. 20. 1968. Chicago: Une Nouvelle base pour la coopération Europe-Amérique. (Documents et Rapports). 1-2. (Les Problèmes de l'Europe; n° 39, 1968, p. 50-137, n 40, 1968, p. 55-83).

361.- VERNANT, Jacques: Les Etats-Unis et l'intégration européenne. (Tiers-Monde, n° 35-36, juillet-décembre 1968, p. 909-927).

- 362.- WATERMAN, J.: Czechoslovakia and the European integration. (Common Market, n 10, October 1968, p. 214-219).
- 363.- WEITNAUER, Albert: Die Grundprinzipien der schweizerischen Handelspolitik.
 (Aussenwirtschaft, n^o 4, Dezember 1968, p. 349-366).
- 364.- WESTERTERP, Th. E.: Vers une politique commerciale commune de la Communauté Economique Européenne. (Cahiers Européens, n° 27, juillet 1968, p. 13-29).
- 365.- WINDER, George: La Nouvelle-Zélande et le Traité de Rome. (Contemporary Review, Londres, avril 1968). (Articles et Documents, n° 0.1927, 25 octobre 1968, p. 34-37).

366. - BAUDISSIN, Wolf von: NATO-Strategie im Zeichen der Friedenserhaltung. (Europa-Archiv, n^o 17, 10, September 1968, p. 627-638). 367.- BOERNER, Bodo: Rechtsfolgen des Atomsperrvertrags für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Düsseldorf, Verl. Handelsblatt, (1968). 62 p. 80 (Veröffentlichungen des Instituts für Energierecht an der Universität zu Köln, 22). (20.336) (bibliographie) 368. - BRANDT, Willy: Friedenspolitik in Europa. (Frankfurt a.M.), S. Fischer, (1968). 223 p. 80 (20.510)369. - BROSIO, Manlio: Past and future tasks of the Alliance: an analysis of the Harmel report. (The Atlantic Community Quarterly, n^o 2, summer 1968, p. 231-237). 370. - CONFERENCE DE CATHOLIQUES DES ETATS EUROPEENS. 2. 1966. Berlin: Le Problème allemand et la sécurité européenne vus par des catholiques de pays de l'Est et de l'Ouest. Compte rendu d.1. 2e Conférence de Berlin pour l'application de "Pacem in Terris". Paris, Ed. du Pavillon, (1967). X, 128 p., ill. 8 (20.606).371.- DOKUMENTATION zur Abrüstung und Sicherheit. Zsgest. von Heinrich Siegler. T. (1-). Bonn (etc.), Siegler, (1960-). 8^o 5. 1967. (1968). XXIV, 379 p. (Dokumentationen der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Auswärtige Politik, 5) (R. 11.629). 372.- EHRHARDT, Carl A.: Moskau als Katalysator im Umwandlungsprozess der N.A.T.O. (Aussenpolitik, , no 10, Oktober 1968, p. 581-593). 373.- GOLDSCHMIDT, Bertrand: Le Problème du contrôle international de l'utilisation de l'énergie atomique. (Revue de Défense Nationale, août-septembre 1968, p. 1167-1189).

374. - HASSNER, Pierre: The Changing context of European security. (Journal of Common Market Studies, no 1, September 1968, p. 1-22). 375.- KERNWAPENS voor alle landen? Onder red. van F.A.M. Alting von Geusau met medewerking van Leonard Beaton (e.a.). Baarn, Wereldvester, (1967). 216 p. 80 (Publikaties van het John F. Kennedy Instituut, 1) (20.376) (notes bibliogr.) PATTO (II) Atlantico. (Par) Enrico Berlinguer (e.a.) (Roma), Ed. Riuniti, 1968. 255 p. 8 (Critica Marxista, n 2, marzo-aprile 1968). (20, 302) (notes bibliogr.) 377. - POLITICA. Florence: Che fare della N.A.T.O.? Atti del Convegno di Politica, Firenze, 16/17 settembre 1967. - Le Forze politiche italiane e l'adesione al Patto Atlantico. Di Giovanni di Capua. (Firenze), Ed. Politica, (1967). 288 p. 8 378. - SCHNIPPENKOETTER, Swidbert: Sicherheitsgarantien für die Nichtnuklearen? (Aussenpolitik, n^o 11, November 1968, p. 645-653). SECURITE européenne et relations entre les Etats des deux systèmes. 379.-(Conférence scientifique internationale, Moscou, 23-25 avril 1968). (La Vie Internationale, n 6, juin 1968, p. 83-86). STEIN, Eric, CARREAU, Dominique: Law and peaceful change in 380. a subsystem: "withdrawal" of France from the North Atlantic Treaty Organization. (The American Journal of International Law, no 3, july 1968. p. 577-640). 381. - WILLOT, Albert: Essai sur le désarmement nucléaire. (Chronique de Politique Etrangère, no 5, septembre 1968,

p. 577-627).

14. Legal Matters

382. - ALEXANDER, Willy: L'Etablissement du marché commun et le problème des brevets parallèles. (Revue Trimestrielle de Droit Européen, n^o 3, juillet-septembre 1968, p. 513-537). 383. - AUSLEGUNG (Die) von Art. 215 Abs. 2 EWGV durch den Gerichtshof der Europäischen Gemeinschaften. (Zeitschrift für Ausländisches Oeffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht, n 2, Juni 1968, p. 365-387). BEGHE LORETTI, Adriana: Rapporti fra le Comunità Europee e le tipiche unioni di diritto internazionale. (Rivista di Studi Europei, n° 2-4, aprile-dicembre 1966, p. 180-206). 385.- DAIG, Hans-Wolfram: Aktuelle Fragen der Vorabentscheidungen nach Art. 177 EWG-Vertrag, unter besonderer Berücksichtigung von Rechtsprechung und Praxis des Gerichtshofes der Europäischen Gemeinschaften. (Europarecht, n^o 3, 1968, p. 259-294). 386. - DIEU, Jean: La Reconnaissance mutuelle des sociétés et personnes morales dans les Communautés européennes. (Cahiers de Droit Européen, n° 5, 1968, p. 532-549). 387.- HEINEMANN, Gustav: Die Europäische Gemeinschaft und das deutsche (Mitteilungen des B.D.I., no 11, November 1968, p. 1-6). 388.- HOLCH, Georg: Entscheidungen im Rahmen auf Art. 100 EWGV gestützter Richtlinien. (Neue Juristische Wochenschrift, n° 34, 22. August 1968, p. 1548-1552). 389. - IGLESIAS BUIGUES, Jose Luis: La Nature juridique du droit communautaire. (Cahiers de Droit Européen, n^o 5, 1968, p. 501-531).

390	JUILLARD, Patrick: Procédure des questions préjudicielles et ren- forcement du lien communautaire. (Revue Trimestrielle de Droit Européen, n° 2, mars-avril 1968, p. 293-331).
391	LAUWAARS, R.H.: De Bevoegdheden van het Hof van Justitie krachtens een toekomstig verdrag tot oprichting van een Europese Gemeenschap. (Sociaal Economische Wetgeving, n° 7-8, juli-augustus 1968, p. 350-406).
392	LESGUILLONS, Henry: Les Juges français et l'article 177. (Cahiers de Droit Européen, n° 3, 1968, p. 253-275).
393	MASQUELIN, Jean, RIGAUX, François: Force obligatoire et application dans le temps des conventions internationales modifiant un des traités ayant institué les Communautés Européennes. (Cahiers de Droit Européen, n° 3, 1968, p. 276-288).
394	MELBOM, Hanspeter von: Lückenfüllung bei den Europäischen Gemeinschaftsverträgen. (Neue Juristische Wochenschrift, n ^o 47, 21. November 1968, p. 2165-2170).
395	MEIER, Gert: Zur Geltung von Gemeinschaftsnormen im staatlichen Bereich. (Aussenwirtschaftsdienst des Betriebs-Beraters, n° 6, Juni 1968, p. 205-212).
396	NIESSEN, Hermann: Internationales Privatrecht für unerlaubte Handlungen im Widerspruch zum Diskriminierungsverbot des EWG-Vertrages? (Neue Juristische Wochenschrift, n ^o 47, 21. November 1968, p. 2170-2172).
397	PESCATORE, Pierre: Mécanismes juridiques assurant la mise en oeuvre de la législation communautaire par les autorités législatives ou exécutives nationales. (S.1.n.d.) 22 p. 8° (Extr. de: Pasicrisie Luxembourgeoise. T. 20. Luxembourg, 1968. p. 69-88). (20.095)

- 398. PETERS, J.: De Niet-contractuele aansprakelijkheid van de Europese Gemeenschappen. (Sociaal-Economische Wetgeving, n^o 9, september 1968, p. 462-481).
- 399. RIBOLZI, Cesare: Diritto amministrativo comunitario. Lezioni tenute... in Milano, 25 marzo, 1-2 e 9 aprile 1968.

 (Varese, "La Tipografica Varese", 1968). 78 p. 8°

 (Centro Internazionale di Studi e Documentazione sulle Comunità Europee: VII Corso di diritto e di economia della Comunità Europee) (20.395) (notes bibliogr.)
- 400.- SALMON, Jean J.A., TORRELLI, Maurice: La Représentation juridique des Communautés Européennes. (Revue du Marché Commun, n° 114, juillet-août 1968, p. 815-822).
- 401.- SEIDEL, Martin: Das Verhältnis des Gemeinschaftsrechts zum nationalen Recht.
 Bergisch-Gladbach, Gustav-Stresemann-Institut, 1968, 20 p. 8°
 (Europa-Informationen, n° 2, 1968).
- 402. TORRELLI, Maurice: La Cour constitutionnelle fédérale allemande et le droit communautaire.

 (Revue du Marché Commun, n° 112, mai 1968, p. 719-723).